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ANNUAL REPORT 2016 - 2017 
 
Our approach to this report 
 

This report is produced in response to the NHS England requirements as published in the 
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016-17. The structure closely follows that 
outlined in the guidance, using the prescribed headings. It is in three sections: 

1. The Performance Report, including an overview and performance analysis 
2. The Accountability Report, including a corporate governance report, members’ 

report, statement of the Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, governance 
statement and remuneration and staff report 

3. The Financial Statements 
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Our strategic aims 
 

1. To improve the health of the whole population and reduce inequalities in 
our communities 

2. To secure continuous improvement in the quality and safety of all 
services commissioned for our population  

3. To ensure that public, patient and carer voices are at the centre of our 
healthcare services, from planning to delivery 

4. To deliver continuous improvement in health and social care systems 
within available resources 

5. To develop and maintain a healthy organisation to underpin the effective 
delivery of our strategy 
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1. OVERVIEW 
 

1.1 Summary 
 
The overview section of this report highlights 
the approach and achievements of the CCG 
during the year ended March 31 2017. It gives 
a snapshot of who we are, what we do, the 
challenges we have faced and what we have 
done as a result.  

 

1.2 Statement from the 
Accountable Officer 
and Chair 

 

The past year has presented the NHS and our 
partner organisations with major challenges in 
terms of meeting growing demands for health 
and social care and the increasing costs of 
commissioning those services. 

These challenges are not unique to Leeds 
South and East, and we have worked together 
locally and regionally to achieve the best 
outcomes for local people. 

It is a testament to the commitment of our 
staff and colleagues in member practices and 
partner organisations including the local 
authority, providers and third sector, that 
they have worked together to find solutions 
to those heavy pressures and meet much of 
the demand.  

Here in Leeds South and East we face 
particular challenged. Our population has 
significant morbidity and premature mortality 
compared with the rest of Leeds and reducing 
those inequalities is one of our main strategic 
aims. We are proud that we have achieved 
positive results. These are detailed in this 
report, where we highlight our achievements 
in: 

• Tackling health inequalities through 
partnership with public health 

• Sustained and successful partnership 
working 

• Commissioning decisions made on 
needs and evidence 

• Quality improvement 
 

Specific details on how we have done this are 
in the body of this report. 

One Voice  

Along with our fellow CCGs in Leeds North 
and Leeds West, we have been quick to 
respond to the changing commissioner and 
provider environment and have been looking 
at how we can work together better to 
achieve this.  
 
As a result, we end the year with an 
agreement to work even closer together as 
CCGs and in the wider health and social care 
economy. From April 1 2017 we have one 
Accountable Officer for the three CCGs. 

1.3 Purpose and activities 
of the CCG 

 

We are responsible for commissioning 
(buying) local health services from the point 
of establishing need, to designing and 
procuring services, through to evaluating and 
improving services. We put quality at the 
heart of our organisation, and some of the 
services we commission include: 

• Children’s and Maternity services 
• Mental Health services 
• Learning Disability services 
• Rehabilitation services 
• Urgent and Emergency care  
• Community Health services 
• Continuing Health Care services for 

people with complex needs 
• Planned hospital services 
• Local health and wellbeing services to 

meet specific local population needs 

We commission local services within our 
annual budget, allocated by NHS England and 
are required to invest this money with the 
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expectation to deliver the NHS Constitution 
standards. 

 

1.4 The key issues that 
could affect us 
delivering our 
objectives 

 

We are an ambitious CCG that strives to 
improve the health and wellbeing of our 
population. Our two-year Operational Plan 
2016/17-2017/18 reflects our objectives and 
level of ambition, and demonstrates our 
commitment to improving health and 
reducing inequalities.  Although we are 
planning to meet all national planning 
standards and commitments without any 
exceptions, there are risks in delivery in a 
number of areas.  

Performance against the number of patients 
seen, treated and discharged within four 
hours of arrival at A&E steadily declined 
throughout 2016/17.   Driven by the 
unprecedented numbers of very sick patients 
attending A&E departments and delays in 
discharge processes out of hospital, there is a 
continued risk that the standard will not be 
achieved without system change.  Plans are 
well underway to deliver improvements for 
next year. 

Transferring a patient from an ambulance to 
an emergency department is expected to take 
no longer than 15 minutes after the 
ambulance arrives at the hospital. Once the 
patient has been handed over there is also an 
expectation that the ambulance will be ready 
for another call within 15 minutes. 
Nonetheless, blockages within A&E 
departments make this target difficult to 
reach.  Delivery of these standards has been 
challenging across the Yorkshire region with 
66.5% of patients being handed over within 
15 minutes and 76.8% of ambulances ready 
for another call within 15 minutes (Apr-16 to 

Feb-17). However the 8 minute ambulance 
response time is likely to be achieved for 
patients living within south and east Leeds. 

Our cancer referral to treatment times are 
generally performing above expected levels 
despite increases in the total number of 
patients referred as a result of health 
promotion and pathway changes to improve 
access to earlier treatment. This winter our 
hospitals were forced to cancel some surgical 
treatments as a result of the unprecedented 
pressure on hospital beds, which we are 
working hard as a system to ensure does not 
happen again. Continued monitoring of 
performance during 2017/18 will be required 
as well as working towards improving 
performance, particularly with regards to 31-
day wait for surgery and 62-day wait from 
urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment 
for cancer. These standards are currently not 
being met due to the increased demands on 
diagnostic, outpatient and surgical 
investigation services as well as the pressure 
on hospital beds. 

Throughout 2016/17 an additional risk has 
emerged in relation to the health workforce. 
Given competing pressures from other job 
and career markets, and rising demand for 
services, our providers have in some cases 
struggled to recruit sufficient numbers of staff 
to deliver services – particularly in those cases 
where we have wanted to enhance existing 
services (such as psychological therapy) and 
do things differently (such as integrated 
teams designed around patients and carers). 

These are very challenging times for general 
practice nationally and locally. For example 
the quality of buildings, increasing workload 
and a currently reducing GP workforce such as 
the retirement of single handed GPs unable to 
recruit, practices struggling to cope with 
demand, within building that are not fit for 
purpose. 

1.5 Performance summary 
 
Clinical commissioning groups are 
accountable for how they spend public money 
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and achieve good value for money for their 
patients.  

Reflecting upon the first year of the delivery 
of our two-year plan, a significant challenge to 
the successful delivery of our objectives 
during 2016/17 has been the increase in 
demand for NHS services. Consequently, 
although we had planned to meet all national 
planning standards and commitments in 
2016/17, our commissioned services are not 
expected to meet some of the NHS 
Constitution Standards.  

We will continue to closely monitor our 
performance in relation to A&E, Ambulance 
and 111 calls, Cancer, planned hospital 
treatments and psychological therapy 
services, whilst working with partners to 
improve delivery next year. 

Highlighting some of the achievements 
throughout this year shows the commitment 
to improving integration, bring care closer to 
people’s homes, reducing inequalities across 
the CCG footprint and driving up quality.  

While performance has declined in some 
areas, we continue to successfully deliver 
against the majority of the National 
Standards and exceed the performance of 
peer CCG averages for many measures also. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Phil Corrigan 
Chief Executive / Accountable Officer 
25 May 2017  

(Dr Andy Harris was Clinical Chief 
Officer/Accountable Officer until his 
retirement from this position on 31 March 
2017.  

Phil Corrigan was appointed Chief 
Executive/Accountable Officer from 1 April 
2017). 

 

 

Philip Lewer 
Lay Chair 
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2. PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 
 

2.1 Our most important 
performance 
measures 

  
Our Two-Year Operational Plan 2016/17-
2017/18 reflects our objectives and level of 
ambition, and demonstrates our commitment 
to improving health and reducing inequalities.  
 
A significant challenge to the successful 
delivery of our objectives during 2016/17 has 
been the increase in demand for NHS services 
including urgent and emergency care. 
 
Consequently, although we had planned to 
meet all national planning standards and 
commitments in 2016/17, our commissioned 
services are not expected to meet some of the 
NHS Constitution Standards based on 
performance year-to-date. 
 
With this in mind, Standards we are not 
expecting to meet in 2016/17 include: 
 

• 95% of patients seen and treated 
within 4 hours of arriving at A&E; 

• 92% of patients starting treatment 
within 18 weeks from referral; 

• 94% of patients receiving surgical 
treatment within 31 days 

• 85% of patients receiving treatment 
within 62 days of urgent referral 

• 95% of patients are handed over from 
ambulance to A&E within 15 minutes;  

• 95% of ambulance crews should be 
ready to accept new calls within a 
further 15 minutes 

• 111 calls answered within 60 seconds 
 
However, against the backdrop of increased 
pressure to the local health and social care 
system in Leeds, we can be proud of the 

achievements we expect to accomplish in 
2016/17 including: 
 

• Reducing the number of delayed 
transfers of care compared to 
2015/16; 

• Improving upon the completion rate 
of Psychological Therapies (IAPT); and 

• Increasing the diagnosis rate for 
people with dementia. 

 

As part of 2017/18 – 2018/19 NHS 
Operational Planning and Contracting process 
we have agreed realistic and deliverable 
plans for the next two years, ensuring that 
the necessary capacity to be able to deliver 
the care required is in-line with population 
need, key national requirements, and 
performance Standards. 

Emergency Care Standard 

Performance against the number of patients 
seen, treated and discharged within four 
hours of arrival at A&E steadily declined 
throughout 2016/17, and Leeds Teaching 
Hospital NHS Trust (LTHT) have not achieved 
the standard since October 2015.  
 
A&E performance and system impacts and 
solutions are a focus of the citywide System 
Resilience Group, made up of representatives 
from different health and care organisations 
across Leeds, including Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals Trust. At these meetings we played 
a key role throughout 2016/17, in addition to 
other citywide and local forums, in trying to 
improve A&E performance. 

We have supported our providers across 
hospital, community and social care to work 
together in different ways to improve services 
provided to hospital patients, using a ‘trusted 
assessor’ model to support patients home 
sooner than had been the norm. We have also 
invested in residential care homes to offer 
services to patients previously not accepted 
by social care; for example those with high 
immobility and mild confusion. We are also 
developing a longer term plan to increase 
community inpatient capacity by 20%, 
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involving patients and our colleagues in social 
work, hospital care, community health and 
primary care. This plan will enable us to offer 
support to patients with a far greater range of 
needs, closer to home. 

The Emergency Care Standard and levels of 
Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC) are both 
areas that we will continue to closely 
monitor throughout 2017/18, through the 
work of the System Resilience Group; as 
part of the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP) for West 
Yorkshire; and the Urgent and Emergency 
Care Vanguard.  
 
Ambulance performance 

From 21 April 2016, the Yorkshire 
Ambulance Service has participated in the 
Ambulance Response Programme (ARP) 
Clinical Coding Trial which aims to improve 
response times to critically ill patients. 
 
We expect ambulance response times to 
exceed the expected standard for patients 
from South and East Leeds in 2016/17, 
with performance remaining above the 
75% target (as of Jan-17). Across Yorkshire, 
we are currently the only CCG to have 
achieved this level of performance. 
 
However, we won’t meet the ambulance 
handover to A&E targets in 2016/17. As 
part of our work to improve performance, 
the Urgent Care Lead Commissioner for 
Leeds continues to have regular meetings 
with the Yorkshire Ambulance Service 
(YAS) to discuss operational issues, 
performance and transformation.   
 
Cancer Performance and Bowel 
Cancer Screening 

Between April and December 2016, 
performance for the two week wait 
(2WW) standard for first outpatient 
appointment for patients referred 
urgently with suspected cancer by a GP 
remained above the expected standard at 

94.1%, and we expect to continue to meet 
it for 2016/17. 
 
Additionally, performance for first 
outpatient appointment for patients 
referred urgently with suspected cancer 
by a GP where referral was for breast 
symptoms is also currently above the 
expected standard at 95.8%. 
 
The performance against the 31 day cancer 
standard for first definitive treatment for all 
cancers remains above target at 97.8%. 
However, for patients who require surgery as 
part of their cancer treatment, a smaller 
proportion start within 31 days of referral 
(92.7% against the target of 94%). 
 
Similarly, the performance of the 62-day wait 
from urgent GP referral to first definitive 
treatment for cancer standard is not expected 
to be met for patients from south and east 
Leeds (79.4% YTD) however overall LTHT 
performance against this standard remains 
below the expected standard at 81.5%. 
 
As part of our continued focus on increasing 
the uptake of the bowel cancer screening 
programme, we commissioned a community 
health education work programme to assist in 
targeting local hard-to-reach groups within 
the population of males and females aged 60–
74 including a key role to support GP practices 
engage with its patients. 
 
Feel Good Factor, a Leeds-based registered 
charity, were appointed in July to deliver the 
programme with particular attention and 
activity focusing on the hardest to reach 
groups, including males and individuals from 
Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) backgrounds. 
They have also supported 12 GP practices to 
deliver the key messages of the campaign to 
their own practice population, reaching over 
1300 individuals. 
 
Uptake of the home screening test has 
continued to perform at around 55%, an 
improvement of 2% since June 2014.  
Continued investment is still required as 
inequalities in screening coverage still remain 
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with significant differences in uptake by 
deprivation.   
 
Maternity and Children’s Services  

Our CCG has continued to lead on the 
implementation of the Leeds maternity 
strategy. Working groups have established a 
new pathway to improve the identification 
and support of emotional and mental health 
needs of pregnant women and women who 
have just had a baby. The groups are now 
meeting to ensure pathways are 
communicated and embedded.  
 
Targeted work has taken place to understand 
the specific experiences and needs of women 
with learning difficulties and disabilities in 
relation to maternity services, and as a result 
of this, various changes have been made, 
including the introduction of new protocols 
and accessible information. 
 
Work has continued to move towards more 
personalised maternity care in Leeds; as part 
of this, community midwifery teams have 
been reorganised to better align with 
Children’s Centres, and a Leeds definition of 
personalised care has been co-produced with 
women, families, and clinical staff. 
Furthermore, the CCGs have jointly funded, 
alongside the Department of Health and 
Leeds City Council, the embedding of the 
award winning Best Beginnings “Baby Buddy”, 
and commissioned the digital development of 
our Leeds 'Understanding your Baby’ resource 
within this national app, which featured local 
women and babies. This interactive digital app 
provides useful support and key health 
promotion information, as well as local 
service details throughout the woman’s 
pregnancy. 
 
The CCG leads on commissioning services for 
children and young people. In December 2016 
Ofsted and CQC Inspected Leeds partners on 
their delivery of responsibilities for children 
and young people with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) as referred to in 
the Children and Families Act (2014). The 
Inspectors noted a number of key strengths in 

Leeds including how children and young 
people who have SEND are proud to be 
citizens of Leeds and have a voice in 
improving services in the city. Also the 
strength of the partnership was noted. Areas 
requiring some development were also 
identified. These included the need to ensure 
Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) were 
child centred and outcome focussed and an 
improvement of the educational outcomes 
achieved by this cohort of young people.  
 
In addition we continue to lead the 
development and delivery of the Local 
Transformation Plan for children and young 
people’s mental health and wellbeing. This 
year the Future in Mind: Leeds strategy was 
launched. There have been some significant 
achievements including the embedding of the 
Single Point of Access, the reduction in 
CAMHS waiting times, and the establishment 
of a distinct Community Eating Disorder 
Service for children and young people. There 
has been the launch of the MindMate 
champions programme for schools and the 
development of MindMate Lessons (PHSE 
curriculum for emotional and mental health). 
 
Third Sector Grants Scheme 
 
This innovative programme encourages local 
communities to design local solutions that 
support communities to improve their health 
and wellbeing across the South and East of 
the city. We have invested a total of £1.18m 
in to the local economy by supporting 43 
projects and the grants are helping the CCG to 
deliver ambitious plans to improve health and 
wellbeing, prevent ill health and ultimately 
aim to enable local people to lead healthier 
lives. Their aim is to address some of the 
significant health challenges in the South and 
East of Leeds, including mental health, long-
term conditions, social isolation and obesity, 
as well as helping to reduce pressures for GPs 
and A&E services. 
 
All funds are managed and assessed by, Leeds 
Community Foundation, the city’s largest 
independent grant-maker who in partnership 
with us are now focussing on the evaluation 
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of these Third Sector Health Grants to ensure 
a robust process is completed and decisions 
about any future funding can be made on an 
informed basis. 
 

2.2 Key performance 
measures 

As an organisation, we monitor and report 
against a range of performance measures 
through a series of reports that help us keep 
track of how we are doing against our Two-
Year Operational Plan. 

We recognise the importance for all of our 
members of staff to understand how we are 
doing and how our progress is impacting 
health outcomes for local people. Therefore 
much work has been done to improve how we 
share information with staff to understand 
what we do and how well we perform; how 
what we do contributes to positive patient 
outcomes; and how their role contributes to 
our plans and objectives. As part of the Leeds 
Institute of Quality Healthcare programme, 
our CCG delivered a series of learning lunches 
for staff on Statistical Process Control Charts 
and how to interpret them as a tool to 
improve service performance.  

An area of the staff breakout area was used to 
display performance using the Statistical 
Process Control Charts and a summary 
narrative to share and convey performance 
information on both local and citywide 
measures. The selection of measures on 
display changes to reflect the range of 
strategic aims, priorities and progress being 
made, and staff have the opportunity to 
comment and ask questions about 
performance during the team brief sessions.  

We feel that this approach has helped our 
staff feel empowered to ask questions about 
who we are and what we do, and importantly, 
how well we are doing. 

The Integrated Performance Report 
summarises our performance against the 
Two-Year Operational Plan and includes our 
strategic priorities dashboard and 
performance highlights and exceptions 

against the NHS Constitution Standards. This 
report goes to the Governing Body via the 
Finance, Activity and Performance Committee 
for discussion, and provides an overview of 
performance against commissioned services 
year to date. It includes detail from the 
following reports; 

• Outcomes framework performance 
dashboard. This is our main summary 
which demonstrates our performance as 
assurance to NHS England and focuses on 
key national objectives and measures of 
us as a CCG; 
 

• Commissioning update. This is a narrative 
around current commissioning activities, 
contract performance and primary care; 

 
• Financial Performance report. This report 

provides details of performance against 
statutory financial duties and key financial 
indicators. This information is provided 
regularly to the Governing Body, 
Executive Management Team, Finance, 
Activity and Performance Committee, 
Audit and Governance Committee and 
Senior Management Team; 
 

• Quality report. This is compiled 
specifically for the Quality Committee but 
also feeds into the Integrated 
Performance Report. It shows 
performance against a range of patient 
outcomes; 
 

• Workforce report - This shows our 
performance against staff measures. The 
report is presented to the Finance, 
Activity and Performance Committee and 
the Senior Management Team; and 
 

• Citywide dashboard – We monitor 
achievement against the citywide health 
and well-being strategy on a monthly 
basis and those aspects which impact on 
our plan and objectives. A new citywide 
Health and Well-Being Strategy was 
published in March 2016 by the Leeds 
Health and Well-Being Board. The new 
strategy aims to reflect the changing 
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landscape within which the healthcare is 
required to operate since the first 
strategy was published in 2013. Whilst the 
problems that we are all trying to solve 
may remain the same, the environment in 
which this work gets done is different.  

 
• My NHS is a website where organisations, 

professionals and the public can compare 
the performance of services across health 
and care, over a range of measures, and 
on local and national levels.      

 

2.3 CCG Improvement and 
Assessment 
Framework 

 

NHS England has a statutory duty (under the 
Health and Social Care Act (2012)) to conduct 
an annual assessment of every CCG. The 
assurance process aims to ensure that CCGs 
are commissioning safe, high quality and cost 
effective services, to achieve the best possible 
outcomes for patients. 

In 2016/17 NHS England introduced a new 
CCG Improvement and Assessment 
Framework to replace both the existing CCG 
assurance framework and CCG performance 
dashboard. This new framework provided a 
greater focus on ensuring that CCGs were 
focussing on improvement alongside meeting 
their statutory requirements.  

The new framework draws together the NHS 
Constitution, performance and finance 
metrics and transformational challenges and 
underpins the delivery of the Five Year 
Forward View. 

The CCG Improvement and Assessment 
Framework for 201617 set out four domains 
that reflected the key elements of well-led 
and effective clinical commissioning groups as 
listed below. 

  

• Better Health: this section looks at 
how the CCG is contributing towards 
improving the health and wellbeing of 
its population 
 

• Better Care: Focus on how CCGs are 
supporting redesign of care, 
performance of constitutional 
standards, and improving health 
outcomes with a specific focus on 6 
clinical areas: mental health, 
dementia, learning disabilities, cancer, 
maternity and diabetes. 

 
• Sustainability: how the CCG is 

remaining in financial balance, and is 
securing good value for patients and 
the public from the money it spends; 

 
• Leadership: Assessment of the quality 

of the CCG’s leadership and strength 
of its governance, including the 
quality of its plans, how the CCG 
works with its partners,  

 

At the time of writing we had not formally 
received our score for 2016/17. Our Annual 
Assurance meeting was held with NHS 
England in April and we are awaiting 
confirmation of our final rating.  

2.4 Financial performance 
 

The financial performance of the CCG has 
been strong in 2016/17, with all financial 
performance indicators and statutory duties 
having been met. 

The financial duties of the CCG as set out by 
NHS England are listed below. 

 
● Expenditure not to exceed the 

revenue resource limit in any one year 
● Expenditure not to exceed its capital 

resource limit in any one year 
● To remain within its cash limit in any 

one year 
● To remain within the running costs 

target 
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● To deliver (at least) a 1% surplus 
  

In addition the CCG should comply with the 
Better Payment Practice Code, which requires 
the payment of all invoices within 30 days or 
agreed contract terms. The CCG’s allocations 
and performance against key financial 
indicators are summarised below:  
 

 

Investment and resource plans have been 
targeted at delivering our Strategic Aims 
focused on having the greatest impact on the 
health and wellbeing of our population. 
Accordingly, in a range of national and local 
priorities agreed with our partners, we set 
aside funds to invest in a number of key areas 
already highlighted in this annual report. 
In order to fund this significant investment a 
number of ambitious quality, innovation, 
productivity and prevention (QIPP) savings or 
cost avoidance schemes were identified to 
deliver a target of £9.5m. £8.4m was 
achieved, with the balance been met through 
the release of reserves 

The graph shows how our resource was spent 
during the year.  

 

 

Further details of our financial performance 
are shown in the annual accounts for the 
financial year ending 31 March 2017. 

The Governing Body is responsible for 
maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of our 
policies, aims and objectives. This is detailed 
further within the Annual Governance 
Statement. 
 
System risk reserve 
 
As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning 
Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a one 
percent reserve uncommitted from the start 
of the year, created by setting aside the 
monies that CCGs were otherwise required to 
spend non-recurrently. This was intended to 
be released for investment in Five Year 
Forward View transformation priorities to the 
extent that evidence emerged of risks not 
arising or being effectively mitigated through 
other means. 
 
In the event, the national position across the 
provider sector has been such that NHS 
England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% 
non-recurrent monies to be spent.  Therefore, 
to comply with this requirement, the CCG has 
released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, 
resulting in an additional surplus for the year 
of £4.1m.  This additional surplus will be 
carried forward for drawdown in future years. 
 
 

  

Target Performance Achieved
£000 £000 (y/n)

CCG Expenditure does not exceed planned level   417,733         404,220 Y
Programme expenditure does not exceed programme 
allocation (inc. delegated allocation)   402,814         399,081 Y

Running costs expenditure does not exceed running costs 
allocation      5,480            5,140 Y

Planned Surplus      9,439           13,513 Y

Better Payment Practice Code (Number) 95% 98.6% Y

Better Payment Practice Code (Value) 95% 99.8% Y

CCG cash drawdown does not exceed cash limit   401,444         401,444 Y

Financial Performance Report 2016/17

Financial indicators
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2.5 Better Care Fund 
As part of the initial development of the Better Care Fund (BCF) in Leeds, a Partnership Agreement 
with Leeds City Council and the other two Leeds CCGs (Leeds North CCG and Leeds West CCG) has 
been put in place that describes the commissioning arrangements for a range of health and social 
care services.   

The two funds are hosted by either Leeds City Council or one of the Leeds CCGs. The BCF Partnership 
Agreement is based on the national template developed by NHS England and Bevan Brittan.  All 
funds are all overseen by a joint BCF Partnership Board. A summary is tabled below

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
Contributions   

   

Leeds 
South & 
East CCG 
(£'000s) 

Leeds 
West CCG 
(£'000s) 

Leeds 
North CCG 

(£'000s) 

Leeds City 
Council 
(£'000s) 

Total 

        Fund 1 CCG Hosted s75 Agreements 
 

7,586 8,383 5,011 0 20,980 
Fund 2 Council Hosted s75 Agreements 

 
7,309 8,822 5,717 8,775 30,623 

  Contingency 
 

2,475 3,194 1,831  0 7,500 

        
 

Total 
 

17,370 20,399 12,559 8,775 59,103 
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2.6 Sustainable 
development  

 
We have a role to play in improving the 
environmental, social and financial 
performance of the NHS, working towards the 
achievement of the NHS carbon footprint 
reduction targets in 2020 and beyond. The 
sustainable development project is led by the 
Corporate Business and Improvement Team’s 
Business Manager with executive level 
sponsorship from our Director of Nursing, 
Quality and Corporate Affairs.  
 
Our Sustainable Development Management 
Plan (SDMP) was developed as part of our 
authorisation and assurance process and is 
reviewed annually. Progress is reviewed by 
the Finance, Activity and Performance 
committee via the assurance process for 
strategic aim 5.  
 
Progress during 2016/17 

Commissioning for Social Value 

We continue to be involved in a programme 
that examines health and social value within a 
city-wide context, where we are in the 
process of developing a common approach to 
commissioning for social value across Leeds. 
This partnership approach has resulted in a 
commitment to a social value charter from 
partners including the three Leeds CCGs, 
health commissioners from Leeds City 
Council, and a range of third sector 
organisations in the city. 
 
The CCGs have worked together during 2016 
to develop a framework of metrics that can 
contribute to the measurement of social 
value. 
 
Marginal Abatement Curve (MAC) 
assessment 

We have commissioned our sustainability 
partners Walker Resource Management to 
work with Leeds Community Healthcare Trust 

to utilise the recently published MAC 
assessment.  Its purpose is to show where the 
most cost efficient and largest CO2 savings 
can be made, highlighting the win-wins where 
cutting carbon saves money.   
 
SDMP review for 2017/18 

We recognise the importance of working 
together and sharing a commitment to 
sustainable development, with this ambition 
in mind we are working with both Leeds North 
and Leeds West CCGs to develop a long term 
approach with common objectives within our 
SDMP. This plan will focus on: 
 

• A joint travel reduction programme 
• Implementing the framework for the 

evaluation of Social Value 
• Understanding the social and 

environmental impacts of care 
pathways 

• Implementation of Marginal 
Abatement Curve recommendations 

 

2.7 Improving quality 
The Leeds CCGs place quality at the core of all 
functions and commissioning practice, and at 
the centre of all our discussions with 
providers. We do this by making our 
expectations clear and measurable, and then 
monitoring these standards closely. 
 
There are five elements which drive the work 
of the quality team: 
 

• Patient safety 
• Patient experience 
• Clinical Effectiveness 
• Responsiveness 
• Being well-led 

 
Organisations from which we commission 
care must meet essential standards of quality 
and safety as defined by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC). In many cases we set 
quality standards for our providers that are 
above these essential requirements. We work 
closely with our acute, mental health and 
community services throughout the year to 
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ensure that they meet these standards, 
providing challenge where the care provided 
is not as expected.  
 
Our Quality Framework sets out the process 
and mechanisms by which we assure 
ourselves of the quality of care that we 
commission. As commissioning arrangements 
develop across the three CCGs, the Quality 
team will ensure that the framework is 
aligned to the Leeds One Voice Approach. 
 
Our Quality and Safety Committees are 
working towards a more collaborative 
approach to monitoring quality across the 
health economy in Leeds. Regular quality 
updates are also provided for the Board 
ensuring that at the highest level within the 
CCG, quality of care receives the attention and 
scrutiny required.  
 
Key programmes undertaken in 2016-17 
include: 
 
• Development of the Leeds multiagency 

Healthcare Associated Infection (HCAI) 
improvement group and Clostridium 
Difficile Infection (CDI) review panel 
 

• Reviewing how we maintain an overview 
of the quality standards in all key provider 
organisations. We speak to patients, 
managers and staff through a scheduled 
programme of visits 
 

• Working collaboratively with partners to 
improve consistency of assessment and 
reporting of pressure ulcers in Leeds 

 
• Development of a citywide patient insight 

working group to review patient 
experience and identify areas for action 
 

• In collaboration with the governance 
team a process has been developed to 
monitor incidents reported in primary 
care 

 
• Working with partners across the city to 

improve oversight of care delivery in care 
homes across the city 

Healthcare Associated Infection 
(HCAI) Improvement  

The Leeds multiagency healthcare associated 
infection improvement group was established 
to achieve a consistent and united approach 
across local community and hospital care 
organisations to advance improvements and 
identify concerns relating to Healthcare 
Associated Infection (HCAI). The group agreed 
annual priorities to focus the work of the 
group. On a quarterly basis the group hosts a 
Clostridium difficile infection review panel. 
The meeting has representation from CCGs, 
Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds 
Community Healthcare NHS Trust, Leeds and 
York Partnerships NHS Foundation Trust, 
independent hospitals and Public Health.  
 
The level of clostridium difficile infection in 
Leeds Teaching Hospitals has reduced in 
2016/17, though community associated 
infection remains above the threshold set by 
NHS England. 
 
Pressure Ulcer Improvement 

A significant amount of work to review 
category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers has been 
undertaken across the city. Pressure ulcer 
investigation panels are held to understand 
the challenges, failings and actions being put 
in place to address these. The CCG is actively 
monitoring the progress against this work 
stream at the provider quality meetings and 
there are early signs of improvement in the 
reduction of reporting of category 3 and 4, 
and an increase of the reporting of category 2 
pressure ulcers.  
 
Leeds Community Healthcare Trust has also 
undertaken a comprehensive review of the 
skills and competencies of all staff in the 
neighbourhood teams to understand the 
education, development and training needs to 
enable safe and effective care delivery. The 
progress against this new work stream is 
being monitored through the provider quality 
meetings and the commissioning and 
contracting structures in place. 
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Patient Insight  

The Quality and Governance teams work 
together to ensure that the Patient Insight 
Working Group reviews and analyses patient 
experience activity. The group: 
 

• Monitors all patient experience 
activities, ensuring that activity is 
captured on a dedicated patient 
experience database  
 

• Identifies trends and themes from 
patient experience reviewed by the 
CCGs 

 
• Ensures that patient experience 

feedback is used to improve services 
and informs the planning and 
designing of new services 

 
• Ensure links identified with 

Complaints, PALS and Social Media 
information are made and that the 
information is used to continuously 
improve healthcare services 

 
• Ensures feedback is given to as a 

result of gathering and using 
experience data  

 
• Escalates concerns where they are 

identified from patient experience as 
appropriate 

 
Complaints 

We take complaints seriously as they are a 
genuine means of helping improve our 
services. Outcomes from complaint 
investigations are used to make changes 
where required to systems and processes to 
improve the future experience for everybody. 
We ensure the six principles of remedy are 
applied when handling complaints and work 
closely with our partner organisations to 
ensure that the appropriate information is 
obtained in a coordinated and timely manner.  
 
Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service aims to 
answer queries, resolve concerns or signpost  

people to appropriate services as well as 
providing ‘on the spot’ non-medical advice to 
patients.  
 
Incident monitoring  

The city wide Quality and Governance teams 
monitor our partner organisations in 
reporting, investigating and learning from 
serious incidents which occur within a 
provider of NHS healthcare. A panel is tasked 
with reviewing submitted reports and action 
plans from our providers to gain assurance 
that a robust investigation has been 
completed, reasons for the incident occurring 
identified and recommendations have been 
actioned to prevent something similar from 
happening again. We work with our partners 
to ensure learning and actions from all 
investigations are embedded in practice. 
 
We also review incidents reported by GP 
practices to identify any key themes/trends 
and to share learning across the city. This 
involves close collaboration with Primary Care 
and Medicines Optimisation teams to provide 
support where it is needed. The CCG 
continues to help facilitate learning on a city 
wide basis to help reduce the likelihood of 
incidents recurring.  
  
Care Home Quality Monitoring 

The emergence of concerns regarding quality 
of care in a number of homes following CQC 
inspection visits prompted a review of how 
we can ensure that there are clear processes 
for reporting and escalating concerns through 
the CCGs’ governance structures. 
 
There are a number of established 
mechanisms in place for the monitoring and 
oversight of quality in care homes, and there 
is good multi-agency working via a number of 
forums/groups. The quality team works 
proactively with health and social care 
partners to ensure that monitoring visits are 
undertaken and outcomes routinely shared 
between teams.   
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Throughout 2017-18 the Quality and 
Governance Teams will be working with 
partners to develop and strengthen health 
and social care quality and governance 
mechanisms and ensure that there is 
appropriate oversight at each level of the 
organisations.  
 
Provider monitoring visits 

A programme of visits to our local care 
providers to observe care delivery is 
developed annually. Visits generally take place 
with the prior agreement and notification of 
the provider, unless there are significant 
concerns relating to standards of quality and 
safety whereupon an unannounced visit may 
be appropriate. A quality review tool is used 
to support consistency. If we identify any 
areas of concern, the provider is asked to 
respond and provide assurance that these are 
addressed. If necessary, repeat visits are 
arranged to ensure that actions have been 
implemented. Where we have concerns about 
the provider’s ability to deliver safe, effective 
care, the CCG uses the NHS England quality 
risk profile tool to provide an informed view 
of the level of risk and intervention required. 
This may include the holding of a quality 
summit. 
 
Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation (CQUINs) 

The 2016/17 CQUIN schemes in Leeds 
combine a number of national and local 
indicators. 
 
CQUINs enable a proportion of healthcare 
provider’s income to be spent on innovative 
schemes to enhance quality in areas of 
patient care or service improvement.  
 
Improving Respiratory and Cardiology 
Pathways are examples of local schemes in 
2016/17. 
 
We worked with partners in the hospital and 
community care Trusts to review the current 
pathways of care for a number of different 
health conditions. This was to make sure that 

people receive the care that is recommended 
by expert bodies such as NICE; and teams 
involved in this care pathway work together 
to improve the care and experience of those 
people living with these conditions. 
 
Other examples of CQUIN schemes in Leeds in 
2016/17 are: 
 
• Developing and embedding Integrated 

Neighbourhood Teams in Leeds 
Community Healthcare 

• Embedding Positive Behavioural Support 
within LYPFT Community Learning 
Disability Teams 

• Reducing delays & achieving better care in 
outpatient follow-ups at Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals  

 
In addition to the work detailed above, the 
quality team have reviewed work streams 
against the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework 2017, and identified progress 
against the following metrics.  
 

Ensuring better care  
 
Cancer Patient Experience: 

The CCG reviewed the National Cancer Patient 
Experience Survey published in July 2016 in 
the Patient Insight Work Group. Whilst there 
were areas noted for improvement, the CCG 
benchmarked well nationally. When asked to 
rate their care on a scale of zero (very poor) 
to 10 (very good), respondents gave an 
average rating of 8.7. 
 
Neonatal mortality and stillbirth: 
 
Quality and safety in local maternity services 
is closely monitored by the Quality team 
through regular meetings with members of 
the hospital team that provides in-patient and 
community services. The Quality team also 
monitor patient safety incidents occurring 
within the service and ensure we are satisfied 
that these are being thoroughly investigated. 
The Leeds Maternity Strategy is led by Leeds 
South & East CCG and sets out priorities for 
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Leeds maternity services from 2015-2020. 
Ensuring there is opportunity for informed 
choice for parents, and promoting a culture of 
learning from comments, complaints and 
incidents are key priorities of the strategy. 
 

Ensuring better health 
 
Maternal smoking at delivery: 

To support a reduction in the number of 
pregnant women smoking at the time of 
delivery, the CCG developed a CQUIN with 
colleagues in Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust. 
Key components of this work are to embed 
carbon dioxide monitoring in antenatal 
appointments and refer to Fresh Air Babies, a 
service run by specially trained advisors to 
help pregnant women in Leeds stop smoking. 
Benefits from stopping smoking include a 
reduced risk of miscarriage, reduced risk of 
premature birth and low birth weight, and 
babies are less likely to die from cot death and 
stillbirth.  
 

2.8 Patient and public 
involvement 

We are committed to putting patients, carers 
and the wider public at the heart of 
everything we do.  The CCG has in place a 
structured approach to patient and public 
engagement.  The Patient Assurance Group 
(PAG) is a sub-committee of the Governing 
Body and draws its membership from patient 
representatives, Governing Body members, 
HealthWatch Leeds, a commissioning 
representative, the Quality Manager and 
members of the Communications and 
Engagement Team. It is chaired by the lay 
member for Patient and Public Engagement. 
 
The PAG provides assurance that any 
engagement plans take into account the aims 
and objectives of the proposed service 
change, along with evidence of any similar 
engagement that has taken place locally, 
regionally or nationally.  It ensures that all 

relevant supporting data is included in the 
planning process and that the resources 
needed to undertake the engagement are in 
place.  
 
The Neighbourhood Leader Group (NLG) links 
the patient assurance process to the local 
community.  Members of the NLG are drawn 
from each of the local electoral wards in the 
CCG and act as a conduit to take messages out 
to the local community and bring feedback, 
opinions, views and comments back to the 
CCG. The NLG is able to provide a 
patient/public perspective to any new 
initiatives or programmes of work the CCG 
undertakes.  We are always keen to have new 
members on this Group – click here for 
further information on how to get involved. 
 
This year we have taken an innovative 
approach to understanding the public’s 
understanding of the NHS and the important 
areas we need to be focussing on.  The ‘Three 
things’ survey aims to understand what three 
things people can do to help the NHS. So far, 
people have told us that they keep active, visit 
the GP or local pharmacist instead of A&E, 
and become involved in community events. 
You can find the link to this here.  
 
We have taken part in Children’s Takeover 
Day and have had a visit from a pupil in a local 
school.  A local student has helped us 
interview people for the ‘Three Things’ 
project, co-chaired our Governing Body 
meeting, and helped to pull together a report 
of her day with the CCG.  From this, we are 
hoping to develop further links with the 
school and other pupils.   
 
We have a contract with two voluntary 
organisations, Leeds Involving People (LIP) 
and Voluntary Action Leeds (VAL).  LIP support 
us in engaging the public and patients across 
all areas of Leeds South and East CCG and VAL 
help us when we need to focus on specific 
patient/public groups, using an asset-based 
engagement approach. This means they have 
access to groups determined by a range of 
factors such as ethnicity, disability status, 
sexuality etc.    
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We have carried out a number of 
engagements this year.  You can find some 
case studies of some of these surveys below, 
but here is the complete list:   

• Children’s Continuing Care Policy 
 

• Perinatal Mental Health (PNMH) Service 
– engagement and supporting a group of 
women who have recently had a baby in 
Leeds and experienced mental distress or 
illness to co-produce the PNMH pathway 
and anti-stigma campaign. 

 
• Maternity and learning disability – 

engagement with women who have a 
learning disability or difficulty and have 
used the maternity service. This resulted 
in a changed pathway and communication 
resources. 

 
• Primary Care Strategy – workshop held to 

engage with patients and other 
stakeholders on primary care and how it 
should look in the future. 

 
• Engagement of patients previously 

registered with Whinmoor Practice 
 

• Year of Care – ongoing project looking at 
the uptake of assessment of patients with 
a long term condition. 

 
• York Street Medical Practice – engaging 

with service users and other stakeholders 
to understand their views of the current 
service in order to inform the 
procurement of a new provider of the 
service. 

 
• Whole-system mental health support. 

We  commissioned Youth Watch and 
Common Room to consult with children 
and young people, families and 
professionals on the whole system of 
mental health support in Leeds to 
measure progress of Future in Mind Leeds 
strategy and Local Transformation Plan 
which reported to our programme board.  

 
• Expert Patient Programme – Current EPP 

service is being decommissioned so 
engagement is being carried out to look at 
a new city wide offer.  

Case Studies 
 

York Street Medical Practice   

The York Street Practice provides a service for 
people in Leeds who are homeless and for 
asylum seekers and refugees coming into the 
country.  The contract for the service was due 
for renewal.  As part of the procurement 
process, we needed to ensure we developed a 
robust specification for the service.  We sent 
out a questionnaire for completion by 
patients.   
 
Who did we ask? This work was undertaken 
by Leeds Involving People who went to the 
practice and spoke directly to patients as they 
were waiting for their appointments.  We also 
engaged with workers who referred into the 
practice. 
 
What did we ask?  We asked patients about 
their experience of using the service at York 
Street Practice and for their thoughts on other 
services that could be provided.  We asked 
professionals how easy it was to refer patients 
into the practice. 
 
What did we do?  The responses we got from 
this survey helped us to develop a 
specification which set out what was needed 
in the practice.  In the main, patients were 
satisfied with the service and felt that they 
were listened to and understood by practice 
staff. There were some concerns from 
Refugees and Asylum seekers about their 
safety in the practice, particularly if they had 
children with them.  They wanted a separate 
waiting area for children.   
 
We felt assured that the process undertaken 
to reach this stage was robust and provided a 
good understanding of the needs of patients 
and the workers that support them.   
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Perinatal Mental Health  

The aim of the Perinatal Mental Health 
project is to develop services that support the 
emotional and mental wellbeing of women 
who are pregnant, and ensure that those who 
experience any emotional problems during or 
after their pregnancy are well supported and 
offered the best care, in line with The Leeds 
Maternity Strategy, 2015.  
 
Who did we ask?  We engaged with women 
who had lived experience of needing both 
emotional and mental health support during 
their pregnancy to design the survey. The 
survey was designed to be completed by 
pregnant women, and their partners during 
pregnancy and the first year after birth. 
 
What did we ask?  In total 131 surveys were 
completed. The surveys contained both open 
and closed questions, which encouraged 
respondents to open up about their 
experiences of accessing support, and also 
where they accessed support from.  
 
What did we do? Survey findings were 
analysed, and reported on by Leeds Involving 
People. Recommendations were also 
provided.  
 
Feedback about emotional support services 
was generally positive, it was access into them 
that was problematic. Healthcare 
professionals being approachable and 
available, with emotional health being 
considered as important as the health of the 
baby and the physical health of the mother 
was considered to be important. It is also 
important for emotional health to be asked 
after, as it encourages people to speak about 
it.  
 
Another important area was peer support. 
Friends and family were both cited as 
emotional support sources. Groups at 
Children’s Centres and other community 
spaces also provided peer support, as they 
gave new mothers the chance meet other 
new mothers, and share information and 
advice. They also encouraged honest 

conversations about the difficulties that they 
were experiencing. 
 
Those who had previous experiences of 
accessing Mental Health Services had fairly 
good access into Mental Health Services 
during pregnancy. This was because services 
and healthcare professionals were already 
aware of them, and they knew what services 
they could access. Those that had moderate 
emotional needs found it harder, as they 
usually went through Primary Care Mental 
Health Services, and were met with long 
waiting times. However, those that were 
referred into voluntary sector services such as 
Women’s Health Matters, Women’s 
Counselling and Therapy Service and Home-
Start shared positive experiences. 
 

Maternity Strategy Women with 
Learning Disabilities 

The Leeds Maternity Strategy 2015-2020 has 9 
priority work streams.  Priority 7 “Targeted 
Support” states that during 2015/16 
development of specific support for women 
with learning disabilities/difficulties (LD) will 
commence.  It was recognised that women 
with LD can face significant barriers to 
accessing NHS services, which can contribute 
to them being less likely to use services, and 
more likely to access maternity care later in 
pregnancy. 
 
Who did we ask? It was essential that 
women’s voices and experiences with LD 
assisted in the co-production of a pathway.  
 
What did we ask? Questions were formulated 
to allow for women to tell their story, with 
specific prompts around areas such as access, 
support and suggestions for what may have 
improved their experience.   
 
What did we do? The following themes were 
identified following the interviews: 
 

• One point of contact throughout the 
process 
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• Buddy scheme – with a parent who 
does not have a learning disability 

• Parenting classes – recommending 
and explaining parenting classes that 
cater for this group of parents 

• Provide training of how to work with 
parents with a learning disability 
(both midwives and social workers). 

• Communication – many parents 
struggle with literacy/comprehension  

• Honesty – professionals being open 
and honest regarding assessments 

 
 

2.9 Reducing health 
inequalities 

 
We are committed to addressing the health 
inequalities that exist within our population 
via through our Strategic Aim 1: to improve 
the health of the whole population and reduce 
inequalities in local communities. 
 
Health inequalities can be defined as 
differences in the distribution of health 
determinants or health outcomes between 
different population groups. One measure of 
health inequalities is the difference in life 
expectancy between different population 
groups.  
 
There is a life expectancy difference of 6.6 
years between the outer and inner Leeds 
areas that make up this CCG’s footprint. In our 
male population there is a life expectancy 
difference of 7.2 years between areas and in 
our female population there is a life 
expectancy difference of 5.4 years between 
areas. 
 
A co-ordinated work programme has been 
carried in the last year which aims to reduce 
health inequalities and improve the health of 
the whole population. A few examples are: 
 
Healthy lifestyle choices 

Funding from the CCG has provided an 
enhanced health trainer service for patients 

and the Today’s the Day campaign to 
encourage local people to access stop 
smoking services has been implemented. 
Primary care staff have supported patients to 
make positive health behaviour choices such 
as health checks and taking the bowel cancer 
screening test. 
 
Improving overall health and 
wellbeing 

We have continued to fund initiatives to 
improve overall health and wellbeing.  We 
have continued to support Forward Leeds to 
provide an enhanced local service to people 
experiencing issues with their alcohol 
consumption. 
 
Funding has delivered enhanced services 
locally addressing the wider determinants of 
health, including the warmth through health 
activity and additional Leeds Citizens Advice 
Bureau financial advice sessions.  
 
We have continued to invest in Connect for 
Health, the local social prescribing service 
which aims to support local people to improve 
their overall health and wellbeing by linking 
them to local community activity, groups and 
support.  
 
A Let’s Get Active work programme to 
encourage more local people to be more 
physical active has been developed.  
 
As well as focusing on preventable deaths , we 
have also put in place strategies to improve 
the health and wellbeing of those living 
longer, for example earlier diagnosis of long 
term conditions, such as coronary heart 
disease, diabetes, hypertension and 
dementia. Over the last year we have 
continued to implement best practice in the 
management of long-term conditions, 
including the ongoing implementation of a 
Year of Care Approach in GP Practices. 
 
We have worked in partnership with key 
stakeholders including the South East Health 
and Wellbeing Core Group to tackle the wider 
determinants of health.  
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Measuring outcomes – Potential 
Years of Life Lost (PYLL) 

We are keen to measure the outcomes that 
our work programmes are having on patient 
and population health and wellbeing. 
Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) amenable to 
healthcare is one indicator used to measure 
our progress against our ambition to reduce 
mortality rates. 
 
Our two-year operational plan sets an 
ambitious target to reduce PYLL from 
conditions considered amenable to healthcare 
by 26.6% over 5 years (from 2013 – 2018). 
Data for 2014 showed an increase in the PYLL, 
this has followed a 3 year period of reduction 
in the PYLL. The increase in rate compared to 
the previous year can be seen more in males 
than females. However the 3 year rolling 
average continues to see a decrease of 2.3%. 
Our target to reduce the PYLL from causes 
considered amenable to healthcare is more 
ambitious than most CCGs and we have 
continued to carry out work to achieve the 
target set for 2016 / 17 through a range of 
focused activity. 
 

2.10 Co-commissioning of 
primary care services 

 
In April 2016, we accepted delegated 
responsibility from NHS England for co-
commissioning of primary medical care 
services (general practice). Co-commissioning 
aims to support the development of 
integrated out-of-hospital services based 
around the needs of local people. It is part of 
a wider strategy to join up care in and out of 
hospital and could lead to a number of 
benefits for patients and the public including: 

• Improved access to primary care and 
wider out-of-hospitals services with more 
services available closer to home; 

• High quality out-of-hospital care; 

• Improved health outcomes, better access 
to services and reduced health 
inequalities; 

• A better patient experience through more 
joined up services. 

 As we have highlighted earlier in this report, 
general practice is facing significant challenges 
in a number of areas. These local challenges 
are reflected nationally in the General 
Practice Forward View document (GPFV). 
 
Our Leeds-wide GPFV delivery plan sets out 
our planned approach; we have recognised 
the challenges and risks  in responding to this 
ambitious agenda and have committed to 
work collectively in Leeds  to bring about the 
transformation of general practice through 
workforce development; reducing the 
workload; environmental and technological 
improvements in infrastructure; redesigning 
care  including population  health 
accountability;  using available investment 
and aligning system incentives.   
 

2.11 Health and wellbeing 
strategy 

 

See Section 4.3 

2.12 The Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan 
and the Leeds Plan 

 

The West Yorkshire and Harrogate 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 
published during the year, aims to address the 
health and wellbeing gap with a focus on 
supporting people to live longer, healthier 
lives and ensuring a good and equitable 
service for all, no matter where people live. It 
also stresses the importance of improving 
people’s health, through better co-ordination 
of services, while improving the quality of 
care received. 
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It has identified nine priorities for the West 
Yorkshire and Harrogate area: 

• Prevention 
• Primary and community services 
• Mental health 
• Stroke 
• Cancer 
• Urgent and emergency care 
• Specialised services 
• Hospitals working together 
• Standardisation of commissioning 

policies 

More information about the STP can be found 
here.  

The Leeds Plan 

Complementing the STP, but also taking 
forward the vision to make the city ‘a healthy 
and caring city for all ages, where people who 
are the poorest improve their health the 
fastest’ is the Leeds Plan. 

The Plan itself is still under development, led 
by Leeds City Council and supported by NHS 
organisations and the third sector. 

Its key themes are: 

• Prevention 
• Self-management, proactive and 

planned care 
• Optimising the use of secondary care 

resources and facilities 
• Urgent and emergency care and rapid 

response 
 

2.13 Working with partners 
 
Clinical commissioning groups 

There are three CCGs in Leeds; NHS Leeds 
West CCG, NHS Leeds South and East CCG and 
NHS Leeds North CCG. As well as focusing on 
areas of local need, the CCGs in Leeds also 
work collaboratively to ensure equitable 
access to key NHS services such as those 
provided in an acute setting, community-

based services and mental health and learning 
disability services.  
 
Discussions have been taking place about how 
the three CCGs can work together more 
collaboratively. To support this, a project 
called One Voice has been established. As part 
of this a joint leadership structure is being set 
up with one Chief Executive Officer 
overseeing the work of the three CCGs. 
Another important role that has been 
established is that of a Chief Officer for 
System Integration.  
 
Work is underway to establish citywide 
committees to cover governance, quality, 
finance and patient assurance which will be 
established to replace the current separate 
structures. The three CCG boards and 
governing bodies will still have statutory 
accountability and be governed by each CCG’s 
respective constitutions. These constitutions 
are in the process of being updated so that 
the transitional arrangements can be 
implemented. 
 
On an operational level the Leeds CCGs have 
been looking at key citywide healthcare 
services. Our plans are set in the context of 
national guidance as well as the West 
Yorkshire and Harrogate Sustainability 
Transformation Plan (STP) and the Leeds Plan.    
 
The Leeds CCGs have taken on joint 
responsibility with NHS England to co-
commission primary care (GP) services. This 
means we’re working with our respective 
member GP practices to look at how we can 
improve access and quality in primary care GP 
services.  
 
To support this the Leeds CCGs have put 
together a five year plan in direct response to 
the NHS GP Five Year Forward View. We have 
six ambitions that will help us to deliver the 
GP Fiver Year Forward View. These are: 
supporting and growing the workforce; 
improving access; transforming estates and 
technology use; better workload 
management; redesigning care delivery and 
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resourcing primary care. You can find out 
more by reading our plan.     
 
Ensuring that children enjoy the best possible 
start to life is a citywide priority as outlined in 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. As 
part of our efforts to support this, the Leeds 
CCGs are reviewing maternity services. This is 
an ongoing long-term review that has to date 
involved a number of key partners as patients 
and their families. This links in with the Leeds 
Maternity Strategy 2015-2020.   
 
Our city’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
prioritises the mental health of citizens in 
Leeds. We’ve been continuing to invest in 
services that improve the mental health and 
wellbeing of people. 
 
For children and young people we’ve 
continued to invest in child and adolescent 
mental health services (CAMHS) in direct 
response to feedback from service users and 
their families. The initial waiting time is 
among the best nationally (achieved last year 
and maintained). There is a need and a plan to 
improve waiting times for autism 
assessments.  
 
We’ve also continued to work with children 
and young people to further develop 
Mindmate. Mindmate is a website offering 
advice and support as well as signposting 
information for children and young people, 
parents/carers and frontline professionals.  
 
Issues affecting access to mental health 
services are not restricted to children and 
young people. Therefore we’ve increased our 
efforts to ensuring adults can get the support 
they need at times of mental ill-health. We’ve 
increased investment leading to improved 
capacity to deliver IAPT (improving access to 
psychological services).  
 
Similarly to our work with children and young 
people, we’ve involved citizens to help us 
develop a new single point of access website 
for adult mental health. Mindwell MindWell is 
the single 'go to' place for information about 
mental health in Leeds. It provides a portal for 

anyone living or working in Leeds, including 
GPs and other professionals, to get quick and 
easy access to up-to-date mental health 
information. 
 
Antimicrobial resistance is one of the biggest 
threats to the health and wellbeing of people 
with scientists warning that if more isn’t done 
then there’s a risk that antibiotics will no 
longer work. We’ve been working with our 
partners to improve understanding of 
antimicrobial resistance among healthcare 
professionals and the wider public. This 
includes working with prescribers reducing 
the prescribing of antibiotics where they’re 
not needed and developing awareness 
campaigns so that the public are aware of the 
risks of the overuse of antibiotics. We’re also 
promoting linked messages to reduce the 
spread of infections such as effective hand 
washing and spotting the signs of sepsis.  
 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board 

We have a seat on the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Board which has been established 
as a statutory committee of Leeds City 
Council. We actively supported the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) using a 
range of information and local and national 
statistics to identify the current health and 
wellbeing needs of our communities and 
highlighting health inequalities that can lead 
to some people dying prematurely in some 
parts of Leeds compared to other people in 
the city. The findings from the JSNA fed into 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 
Leeds 2016-2021.   
 
The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy has 
12 priority areas: 
 
• A child friendly city and the best start in 

life; 
• An age friendly city where people age 

well; 
• Strong, engaged and well-connected 

communities; 
• Housing and the environment enable all 

people of Leeds to be healthy; 
• A strong economy, with local jobs; 
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• Get more people, more physically active, 
more often; 

• Maximise the benefits from information 
and technology; 

• A stronger focus on prevention; 
• Support self-care, with more people 

managing their condition; 
• Promote mental and physical health 

equally; 
• A valued, well trained and supported 

workforce; and 
• The best care, in the right place, at the 

right time. 
 
Here are some examples of the progress we 
have made this year. 
 
• We’ve kept members of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board informed of our work 
around the West Yorkshire and Harrogate 
Sustainability Transformation Plan and 
the linked Leeds Plan. This included 
highlighting current and anticipated 
pressures on the health and care system, 
efforts to address these and wider system 
resilience.  

• Agreement on the Better Care Fund for 
2016-2017. Plans included how partners 
will work to meet national conditions for 
social care, a joint approach to 
assessment and care planning including 
integrated care and a local plan to reduce 
delayed transfers of care. 
 

• Tackling health inequalities and wider 
issues (determinants) that can lead to ill 
health. This included looking at issues 
such as poverty, air quality and taking 
action to reduce incidences of domestic 
abuse. However the Health and Wellbeing 
Board noted the continued funding cuts 
for public health and the impact this has 
on prevention initiatives leading to 
concerns to the impact this will have on 
health inequalities.  

 
• There are over 250,000 people in Leeds 

under the age of 25. 10% of these young 
people are likely to have a mental health 
issue or need support with their 
emotional wellbeing. The Health and 

Wellbeing Board approved the Future in 
Mind Report to transform how support is 
offered and improvements can be made 
to the emotional and mental health of 
children and young people in Leeds. This 
included outlining plans on improving the 
support provided to children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 
Here is a copy of the strategy. 

 
• Carers play a valuable role in helping 

health and social care services often at 
great personal cost – both financially and 
emotionally. As a result the Health and 
Wellbeing Board signed up to the Leeds 
Commitment to Carers. The commitment 
has been supported by insight from carers 
gathered by Carers Leeds.  

 
Scrutiny Board (Adult Social 
Services, Public Health, NHS) 

The Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Services, 
Public Health, NHS) reviews and scrutinises 
the performance of Adult Social Services, 
Public Health and the local NHS. The Scrutiny 
Board also reviews and scrutinises decisions 
taken by the Executive Board relating to Adult 
Social Care. Throughout 2016-2017 we have 
continued to keep the Scrutiny Board 
informed of our key decisions and plans to 
assure we meet our duties to consult as 
outlined in the NHS Act (2006). 
 
In 2016-2017 we also updated the Scrutiny 
Board on the following areas. 
 
• Work on developing the West Yorkshire 

and Harrogate Sustainability 
Transformation Plan and associated Leeds 
Plan 
 

• Concern was raised around cancer waiting 
times in some specialities however the 
Board was informed of the progress made 
in this area and how Leeds has some of 
the quickest access to diagnostic services. 

 
• Updates were provided throughout the 

year on how the NHS is responding to 
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local pressures including A&E targets, 
waiting times for routine procedures and 
delayed transfers of care.  

 
• Leeds’ response to the NHS GP Five Year 

Forward View. 
 

• One voice collaborative approach being 
adopted by the Leeds CCGs 

 
• The closure of the Whinmoor surgery 

 
• The community beds strategy 
 
Our NHS providers  

We are pleased to be able to commission 
services from three NHS trusts in Leeds 
alongside other service providers.  
 
We lead on commissioning services from 
Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust. 
Leeds West CCG leads on Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust with NHS Leeds North 
CCG leading on commissioning services from 
NHS Leeds and York Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust. Our ambulance services are 
provided by Yorkshire Ambulance NHS Trust 
who also are the provider of NHS 111 for our 
region. In addition to this we fund services 
from a number of neighbouring providers so 
that we can uphold the rights of our patients 
to choose where they go for treatment where 
it is appropriate to do so.  
 
You can find out how well our NHS providers 
are doing in the performance section of the 
annual report. Further details can also be 
found in our Governing Body meeting papers.   
 
Leeds City Council 

Leeds City Council commissions care and 
support services and is responsible for public 
health, which is a body of work that seeks to 
protect and improve health and wellbeing.  
 
The future direction of health and care 
services set out in the NHS Five Year Forward 
View is around closer integration of health 
and social care services. These services would 

be delivered at a locality or neighbourhood 
level by care teams working together rather 
than working to their own organisation’s 
boundaries. We’ve already started making 
progress in setting up Live Well Leeds, one of 
the ‘New Models of Care’. Our first pilot site is 
in Cross Gates and Beeston.    
 
We welcomed the publication of the Director 
of Public Health’s Annual Report and 
acknowledged the key areas that need to be 
addressed to improve the health of the 
population. This includes encouraging people 
to adopt healthier lifestyles and to take part in 
initiatives to protect their health such as the 
NHS Health Check, the flu jab or cancer 
screening.   
 
We worked with Leeds City Council and 
community organisations to launch a strategy 
to reduce the number of suicides in the city. 
The Leeds Suicide Prevention Strategy is 
based on an audit of detailed findings of 
suicides to identify interventions that could 
help prevent people from taking their own 
lives. The Leeds Suicide Audit is considered to 
be the ‘gold standard’ of best practice and is 
recommended by Public Health England as a 
model for other areas to learn from.  
 
Community and voluntary sector 
organisations 

The role of the community and voluntary 
sector (often referred to as the third sector) is 
crucial not only for the delivery of services but 
also to provide us with an opportunity to 
engage with some community groups who are 
sometimes referred to as 'seldom heard 
groups.'  
 
Over the past 12 months we have been 
working with local community groups to run a 
number of engagement events and activities 
so that we can continue to develop services 
that meet local needs. 
 
 A decision was undertaken to cease funding 
for non-medical circumcision services. To help 
inform members of the public we worked 
with families who had used the service, local 

28           NHS Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning Group 

https://www.leedssouthandeastccg.nhs.uk/events/?filter_type=governing-body-meetings
https://twitter.com/LiveWellLeeds


religious leaders, local GP practices and other 
services who work with families. 
 
We’ve worked with our community and 
voluntary sector partners to develop a new 
approach to the NHS Equality Delivery System 
engagement and assessment of grades. This is 
a uniform approach adopted by all Leeds NHS 
organisations and has been developed by 
taking in the views of key partners including 
Healthwatch Leeds, Voluntary Action Leeds, 
Leeds Involving People and Forum Central. 
 
The new Mindwell mental health website for 
Leeds was developed in conjunction with a 
range of community groups co-ordinated by 
Volition, allowing us to work with people to 
co-produce the site. Volition is a network of 
third sector, not-for-profit organisations that 
support people’s mental health and wellbeing 
in Leeds. 
 
We were delighted that our partners Carers 
Leeds won a prestigious Health Service 
Journal Award for the work they do to 
advocate on behalf of the city’s carers. Carers 
Leeds won an Integrated Commissioning for 
Carers award in recognition of its integrated 
approach to carers support. Carers Leeds have 
also helped the city to develop a Leeds 
Commitment to Carers.  
 
Healthwatch Leeds 

Healthwatch Leeds is represented on the 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board, giving 
patients and communities a voice in decisions 
that affect them. We have worked with 
Healthwatch Leeds to gather patient insight 
on local health services including an extensive 
survey and interview to capture the 
experiences of patients as part of our 
extended access to primary GP services 
scheme.  
 
Healthwatch Leeds have also undertaken a 
number of reviews of services and published 
subsequent reports with recommendations. 
We’ll be looking at how we can use the 
recommendations from these reports to 

influence how services are provided in the 
future.   
 
Care Quality Commission 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the 
registration body responsible for monitoring 
standards of care, and undertakes announced 
and unannounced inspections to providers 
either as a matter of routine or in response to 
concerns raised by patients and staff. To 
support sharing of information and 
intelligence on quality and standards of care 
the Leeds Quality Surveillance Group, 
represented by all three CCGs, also includes a 
representative from the CQC. 
 
In 2016-2017 the CQC inspected 18 member 
GP practices and received reports for all of 
them. We were pleased that 17 were rated as 
good. Unfortunately one of our practices was 
rated as inadequate. 
 
The CQC also undertook inspections of three 
NHS provider trusts in the city. At the time of 
writing we received reports for two of the 
three. We’re pleased that Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust has moved to a good 
rating from its previous position of requires 
improvement. However Leeds and York 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust was rated 
as requires improvement.  
 
Leeds Academic Health Partnership 

The Leeds Academic Health Partnership is 
made up of the city’s three universities, NHS 
organisations and Leeds City Council. The 
partnership has been set up to use 
innovations, education and research to 
improve health and care outcomes.. One of 
the areas the partnership has worked on is 
personalised medicines. This is looking at how 
health and care professionals can work with 
patients to provide tailored treatment that is 
most likely to have the desired health 
benefits.  
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2.14 Mental Health, 
Learning Disability and 
Dementia  

 
Local commissioners are working with the 
priorities as set out in the Mental Health Five 
Year Forward View and in the last year 
commissioners of adult mental health services  
have focussed particularly on: 
 
• Supporting the review by LYPFT of their 

psychiatric liaison service based in the 
Acute Hospital in order to deliver the 
requirement of CORE 24 standards. An 
agreed reconfiguration has been agreed 
to improve access for all ages, but further 
investment is required to deliver the 24 
hour cover and 1 hour response times.  
 

• A well -established cross sector crisis care 
partnership group that includes WY 
Police, Ambulance, A&E, MH staff, Third 
sector etc. has continued to meet to work 
on continual improvement to the mental 
health crisis pathway.  

 
• As part of the Maternity strategy we have 

worked jointly to develop the new 
citywide perinatal mental health pathway 
– bringing improved connection between 
existing services and including Perinatal 
information on MindWell (see Patient and 
Public Engagement section). 

 
• Early Intervention in Psychosis – the 

service has been expanded in 16/17 to 
extend the age range up to 65.  

 
• Acute Out of Area Placements - we have 

worked with LYPFT through their Rapid 
Improvement Event to review their 
current acute pathways from referral into 
CMHT through to Acute In-patient 
discharge. Changes in care pathways have 
seen a significant reduction in Out of Area 
placements consistently since September 
2016 with only 90 bed days (8 people) in 
total for Q3. Compared to 424 bed days 
(25) for Q2. 

• Transforming Care Partnership for 
Learning Disabilities – the commissioners 
have led the local TCP partnership in line 
with national requirements, to lead the 
local resettlement of Leeds residents 
currently in “out of area” specialist 
placements.  
 

New Initiatives 

• MindWell the new citywide mental health 
information and self-management tool 
was launched on World MH Day in 
October – it has been developed through 
an extensive co-production process and is 
increasingly being used by GPs and other 
professionals as well as the general public 
as the “first port of call” for information.  
It has recently won a patient engagement 
award.  

 
• Crisis Café - With funding from WY 

Vanguard we have commissioned two 
third sector agencies to establish the Well 
Bean Café running on Saturday, Sunday 
and Monday evening from 6-12.00 in 
Lincoln Green near St. James.  It offers a 
non-clinical alternative to A&E and 
currently  around 20 people using through 
the evening.  

 
• Community Based Mental Health 

Services – commissioners have worked 
collaboratively with clinicians, third 
sector, Adult Social Care to develop a new 
model for community based services. This 
was signed off by the CCG Network in 
October 2016 and is informing service 
developments and commissioning into 
17/18 

 
• New roles in Primary Care – we are 

piloting new “liaison” roles in primary 
care to improve the routes to assessment 
and brief interventions. Currently there 
are around 10 new practitioners working 
across the city creating a more multi-
disciplinary approach that also includes 
pharmacist advice and guidance. The 
primary purpose is to get the patient to 
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the right place first time and avoid 
unnecessary referrals.  

 
• Mental Health Needs Assessment – our 

Public Health specialist has been working 
across the system through the past twelve 
months to refresh the mental health 
needs assessment due to publication in 
April 2017.  

 
• Service Users in partnership with 

clinicians have developed a set of “I 
Statements” for mental health services 
which clearly state how they wish to 
treated by mental health services. These 
were signed off by the citywide User 
Group in September 2016 and adopted by 
commissioners who have made them part 
of all service specifications for 17/18 

 
 
Parity of Esteem 

Nationally there is increased scrutiny on local 
investment in mental health services with the 
introduction of MH Investment standards. 
This requires reporting against 15 investment 
lines. Each CCG in Leeds has achieved an 
increased investment in mental health during 
16/17 – although some of this has been 
through national transformation monies, or 
other non-recurrent funds.  
 
We recognised the national focus on 
increased investment in Mental Health 
Services. This requirement aligns to one of our 
key strategic aims of reducing health 
inequalities and therefore the CCG increased 
expenditure on mental health services by 3% 
2016/17.  

Dementia    

We improved dementia diagnosis from 1,936 
people on GP registers with a diagnosis (end 
March 2016) to 2,077 (end Feb 2017).  The 
diagnosis rate (recorded diagnosis as a 
proportion of estimated prevalence) 
increased from 86.7% to 91.6%.  The 
methodology for calculating the indicator will 
change from April 2017, to give a more 

realistic, and still excellent, figure of c.77.5% 
(the methodology from 2015-17 created some 
random variation caused by patient 
registrations not matching geographic 
boundaries, which have worked in favour of 
the CCG). 

 
We were judged as “Top Performing” for 
dementia in NHS England’s first publication of 
the CCG Improvement and Assessment 
Framework, based on diagnosis rate and the 
number of people receiving an annual face-to-
face review.  Our member practices achieved 
82.1% of patients with dementia receiving 
annual dementia reviews.  However, the GP 
QOF awards maximum points at 70% 
reviewing, and there is no scheme in place to 
encourage more than this.  So there is a risk 
that performance could drop without a focus 
on sustaining this, and moving closer to 100%.  

GP-hosted Memory Clinic opened during 
2016-17 at Colton Medical Centre and 
Garforth Medical Centre. LYPFT will evaluate 
these in 2017-18, but initial feedback from 
consultants is that the sessions are working 
well, and patients and carers find the GP-
hosted venues much more convenient and 
easy to find on first visit.  Colton MC can have 
a very busy waiting room on the designated 
morning for the clinic, and there is one report 
of a patient preferring the quieter 
environment at Asket Croft. 

The Memory Support Worker service 
completed its first 12 months of operation in 
October 2017, and established itself very 
quickly as an easily accessible service for 
people and families seeking support before 
and after diagnosis.  City-wide, more than 
1,500 people were supported in those first 12 
months.  In spite of a very challenging 
financial situation, the service has been 
funded for a further year and evaluation is in 
progress, including economic evaluation.  It 
has been shortlisted for a Health Service 
Journal award for ‘Clinical Value’, from a large 
number of high quality entrants; the winners 
will be announced on May 24th 2017.  

The CCG continues to work with partners to 
improve day-to-day support for people and 
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carers living with dementia.  We have 
supported Carers Leeds to continue with 
hospital-based dementia carer support, and 
Touchstone Leeds to continue providing 
support to people from BME communities; 
although again funding remains short-term 
and sustaining services remains a 
challenge.  The Hamara Centre in Beeston 
launched a new programme for people with 
dementia group in 2016.  We recognise and 
applaud the excellent work of local 
community organisations who are addressing 
the needs of people with dementia, often 
using independent fund-raising and voluntary 
effort.   

Dementia-Friendly Rothwell continues to go 
from strength to strength, with weekly 
memory cafes in two local pubs as well as the 
monthly “Tea Cosy” cafe and many one-off 
events.  Peter Smith received the British 
Empire Medal this year, nominated by West 
Yorkshire Police in recognition of his 
tremendous and tireless effort. 

Performance against targets as end of Q3  

 IAPT 
Recov
ery  
Rate  - 
50% 
target  

IAPT 
Waiting 
Times  - 
less 
than 18 
weeks  
(95%)  

IAPT 
Waiting 
times 
less than 
6 weeks  
(75%)  
 

7 day 
Follow 
Up 
followi
ng 
dischar
ge  
(target 
95%)  

Early 
Interventio
n in 
Psychosis 
within 2 
weeks*  

LN  46%  99.5% 98.2% 94.6% 30.5% 
LSE  40.2% 100% 98.3%  93.4% 78.3% 
LW  45.9% 99% 98%  97.8% 49.6%  

 

*Numbers are very small for each CCG 
creating large variation – citywide service 
figure is 61%. 

Leeds CCGs - Dementia Diagnosis 
Rates1 

NHS England ambition:  66.7% 

1 Source: www.england.nhs.uk/mental-
health/dementia/monthly-workbook/ 
 

End 
Feb 

2017 

People 
on GP 
dementia 
registers 
(aged 
65+) 

Estimated 
dementia 
prevalence 
(age 65+) 

Dementia 
diagnosis 
rate* 

LN CCG 1,562 2,631 59.4% 
LSE 
CCG  2,010 2,194 91.6% 

LWCCG 2,325 2,942 79.0% 
LEEDS  - 
total 5,897 7,767 75.9% 

 

 *  NHS Digital have reviewed the 
methodology for estimating dementia 
diagnosis rate, and from April 2017 it will use 
registered practice population rather than 
estimated resident population, to ensure it is 
statistically robust.   Data provided by the 
regional clinical network indicates that this 
will mean Leeds South and East still has a 
diagnosis rate above 77%. However, the 
change evens out random 'boundary effects', 
and means that all three Leeds CCGs will 
achieve the 66.7% ambition, for the first time 
www.yhscn.nhs.uk/media/PDFs/mhdn/Dementia/Dementia%2
0Diagnosis/2016/Estimated%20diagnosis%20rate%20by%20CC
G.XLSX 
 

2.15 Safeguarding 
We have a legal responsibility to ensure the 
needs of children and adults at risk of abuse 
or suffering abuse are addressed in all the 
work that we undertake and commission on 
behalf of the people of Leeds.  Our Clinical 
Chief Officer has overall responsibility for 
Safeguarding. The Director of Nursing and 
Quality is the executive lead for 
safeguarding.   
 
The team is hosted by Leeds South and East 
CCG but works City Wide and is comprised of 
a Head of Safeguarding/Senior Designated 
Nurse for Safeguarding Children and Adults at 
Risk who provides strategic leadership for 
safeguarding and advice across the health 
agencies and is supported by a Deputy 
Head/Designated Nurse for Safeguarding 
Children and Adults at Risk, a Deputy 
Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children 
and Adults at Risk/MCA, DoLS Lead, two 
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Named Nurses for Safeguarding Children and 
Adults at Risk  and a Named GP for 
Safeguarding Children who provides 
leadership and support within Primary Care, 
This model fully integrates and reflects the 
‘Think Family, Work Family’ approach adopted 
by Leeds.  
 
The CCG Safeguarding Children and Adults at 
Risk Committee meets bi-monthly, 
membership includes commissioners, Head of 
Quality, Designated Nurses, Designated 
Doctors, and the Directors of Nursing and 
Quality. The Safeguarding Committee reports 
into each CCG’s individual governance 
structure. The Safeguarding Committee leads 
work on behalf of all three Leeds CCGs 
through an agreed action plan and monitors 
compliance of agreed safeguarding standards 
through a performance framework and audit 
programme. 
 
Key highlights for 2016 /17 include: 

• Revised CCG Training Strategy and 
Training Programme to reflect the NHS 
England Safeguarding Adults: Roles and 
competences for health care staff – 
Intercollegiate Document which was 
published in February 2016. 
 

• An increase in the numbers of health staff 
accessing Prevent training 

 
• Strong commitment to improving GP 

engagement with the child protection 
process including the development of an 
electronic child protection conference 
report template that is compatible with 
both EMIS and SystmOne.  

 
• Continued commitment to work closely 

with Primary Care and the Safeguarding 
Lead GPs, facilitating quarterly peer 
support meetings which meet level 3 
competences (RCPCH 2014).  

 
• Development of a SystemOne and EMIS 

compatible template to facilitate the 
flagging of patients’ electronic records if 
the patient is an adult at risk, or a victim 

of, or at risk of domestic violence or abuse 
(DVA) and recording the outcome of the 
routine enquiry.   

 
• Additional investment in the CCG 

Safeguarding Team to increase its capacity 
and resources to respond to the co-
commissioning of primary care. 

 
• Strong commitment to the development 

of the Front Door Safeguarding Hub and 
full integration between the health 
economy and social care. 

 
• Strong commitment to partnership 

working and supporting the work of the 
LSCB and LSAB. 

 
• Continued commitment to raising the 

profile of Safeguarding Adults, MCA, DoLS, 
Prevent and Domestic Violence and Abuse 
in primary care. 

 
• Improved working between the CCG 

MCA/DoLS Lead and the Professional 
Lead/DoLS Manager within Leeds Adult 
Social to identify patients who receive 
care in their own homes, are funded 
through continuing healthcare and 
require a Court of Protection Order.  

 
• Involvement in the cross CCG work to 

‘Break the Cycle: opportunities to reduce 
the risk of children entering care. 

 
Challenges for 2017/18 include: 

• To continue to support health’s 
contribution to the Front Door 
Safeguarding Hub. There is a recognised 
gap in health economy representation 
however, a project to scope out what is 
required to ensure the full integration 
between health and social care is 
currently under way. 
 

• To continue to support and manage the 
expanding field of safeguarding including 
the Prevent agenda, human trafficking, 

33           NHS Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning Group 



child sexual exploitation, forced marriage 
and female genital mutilation. 

 
• To continue to work with GPs to improve 

the quality of child protection reports and 
the response to requests for child 
protection reports and attendance at 
child protection conferences. 

 
• To continue to support the ‘Break the 

Cycle’: opportunities to reduce the risk of 
children entering care Project. 

 
• Co-Commissioning of Primary Care from 

April 2016: although the safeguarding 
team has had increased investment this 
year there remains the challenge in 
relation to the increased responsibilities 
and workload. For example NHS England 
no longer commission SCR, LLR, SAR and 
DHR GP Report Authors post April 2016. 

 
• To continue to embed learning into 

practice from national and local reviews, 
including the ‘Independent review of 
deaths of people with a Learning Disability 
or Mental Health problem in contact with 
Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust 
April 2011 to March 2015’. 

 
• To further the understanding of the Early 

Help Approach and the work of the 
Clusters and Targeted Service Leaders 
within General Practice. 

 
• The Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual 

Abuse: CCGs and other NHS Providers are 
preparing for this Inquiry, however there 
is currently very little guidance available 
from central government. 

 
• The recently published Review of the role 

and functions of Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards and The government’s 
response to Alan Wood CBE (May 2016): 
will invariably pose a challenge to the 
LSCB and all partner agencies. 

 
• The impending Law Commission Review 

of DoLS is likely to have significant 

implications for CCGs with regards to 
possible changes in terms of the 
responsibility for identifying a DoL shifting 
from the provider of the care to the 
commissioner. The safeguarding team and 
MCA lead will continue to work with 
colleagues in the LA and CCGs to 
contribute to future consultations and 
address and embed any changes which 
impact upon the CCGs. 

 
 

2.16 Equality and diversity 
 
The Equality Act 2010 introduced a Public 
Sector Equality Duty, which means we have to 
ensure we give due regard to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 
advance equality of opportunity; and foster 
good relations between people with one or 
more protected characteristic, both in relation 
to our commissioning responsibilities and our 
workforce. In addition the specific duties 
means that we have to publish equality 
information annually, demonstrating how we 
have met the general public sector equality 
duty in regard to both the workforce 
(organisations with 150+ staff) and the 
population; and prepare and publish one or 
more equality objectives, at least every four 
years. 
 
We recognise the diversity of our 
communities, both citywide and in our CCG’s 
geographical area. We are committed to 
eliminating unlawful discrimination and 
promoting equality of opportunity in respect 
of the way we commission healthcare services 
and in relation to creating a workforce that is 
broadly representative of the population we 
serve. We make sure that equality and 
diversity is a priority when designing, planning 
and commissioning local healthcare and in 
respect of our workforce. 
 
We are committed to listening to and 
respecting the voices of our diverse 
communities with the aim of promoting 
equality and diversity throughout the design, 
planning and commissioning stages of 
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healthcare services. We value and respect our 
staff and aspire to be an inclusive employer of 
choice.  
 
NHS Equality Delivery System 

The NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS) is a 
performance framework that helps NHS 
organisations to improve the services they 
commission or provide for their local 
communities, consider health inequalities in 
their locality and provide better working 
environments, free of discrimination, for 
those who work in the NHS.  
 
The aim of the EDS is to improve the equality 
performance within the NHS and embed 
equality into mainstream business planning 
processes. We use the EDS to support our 
organisation in our commissioning role to 
deliver better health outcomes for all our 
communities and improve access and 
experience for our local population. As an 
employer we use the EDS to help create a 
working environment for staff which is 
personal, fair and diverse and supported by an 
inclusive leadership approach at all levels.  
 
NHS organisations are required to assess and 
grade their equality progress using the NHS 
EDS. The involvement of key stakeholders 
representing the interests of our diverse 
communities is an essential element of the 
EDS process. Following initial self-assessment, 
the role of stakeholders is to agree, through 
constructive discussion, one of four grades for 
each outcome and to identify key area for 
improvement.  
 
We continue to work in partnership across all 
NHS organisations in Leeds and having 
developed a new approach to the EDS 
engagement and assessment process during 
2015/16 this was implemented in 2016/17.  
 
Following the review and refresh of all the 
evidence the first city wide engagement and 
assessment workshop for Goal One “Better 
Health Outcomes for all” was held in 
September 2016. The second workshop for 
Goal Two “Improved Patient Access and 

Experience” was held in November 2016; with 
a third workshop being held for Goal Three 
“Empowered, engaged and well-supported 
staff” and Goal Four “Inclusive Leadership at 
all Levels” in February 2017. 
 
All three workshops held so far, attended by 
representatives from all six NHS organisations, 
in addition to representatives from Voluntary 
Action Leeds, Leeds Involving People, Forum 
Central, Healthwatch Leeds and Leeds City 
Council, were very successful; with a number 
of key areas for improvement being 
identified.  The Equality Leads, together with 
colleagues from each of the six NHS 
organisations and our key stakeholders will 
continue to work in partnership with the aim 
of improving performance in relation to the 
EDS during 2017/18. 
 
Further information is available on our 
website. 
 
Equality Objectives 

In 2013 we agreed to sign up to the city wide 
NHS equality objectives and continue to work 
with all NHS organisations in Leeds to improve 
performance. 
 
Leeds city-wide NHS equality objectives: 
 
• To improve the collection analysis and use 

of equality data and monitoring for 
protected groups. 

• To support the development of leadership 
at all levels within the NHS economy in 
Leeds that values and promotes equality, 
diversity and inclusion. 

• To ensure on-going involvement and 
engagement of protected groups and 
“local interests” including patients, carers, 
staff, third sector and local authority. 

• To improve access to NHS services for 
protected groups 

 
Each year we provide a performance update 
on our progress in relation to the equality 
objectives and identify priorities for the 
following year. Our performance update for 
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the equality objectives is included in our 
Public Sector Equality Duty Report 2016. 
 
Over the next few months we will review the 
city wide NHS equality objectives and develop 
new objectives, using the evidence gathered 
for our 2016/17 EDS assessment and 
engagement with our panel of key 
stakeholders. 
 
Our Public Sector Equality Duty Report is 
available on our website  
 
NHS Workforce Race Equality 
Standard 

An NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard 
(WRES) was developed and introduced in 
2015. NHS organisations are required to 
review and report against nine indicators. The 
indicators are a mix of NHS workforce data, 
staff survey data and include a specific 
indicator to address low levels of BME 
members at Board level.   
 
The WRES became mandatory in April 2015 
and it is expected that year on year all NHS 
organisations will improve workforce race 
equality and that these improvements will be 
measured and demonstrated through the 
annual publication of data for each of the 
WRES indicators.  
 
Our WRES report 2016, showed for each of 
the nine indicators that no major concerns 
were identified in relation to disparities 
between White and BME staff.  Minor 
disparities were identified for a number of the 
indicators and as such appropriate actions 
have been identified to improve performance 
against the indicators for 2017. Progress 
against the WRES action plan will be 
monitored by our Workforce Review Group. 
 
Our WRES report 2016 is available on our 
website  
 
Monitoring NHS Provider 
Organisations 

As a commissioner of health care, we have a 
duty to ensure that all of our local healthcare 
service providers are meeting their statutory 
duties under the Equality Act 2010 Public 
Sector Equality Duty. As well as regular 
monitoring of performance, patient 
experience and service access we will work 
with them to consider their progress on their 
equality objectives, the NHS Equality Delivery 
System (EDS), the NHS Workforce Race 
Equality Standard (WRES) and the 
implementation of the Accessible Information 
Standard. Each provider organisation is 
subject to the specific duty and has published 
its own data.   
 
We have included the requirement for 
provider trusts to evidence their compliance 
with the Public Sector Equality Duty, their 
performance in relation to the NHS EDS, the 
WRES and the implementation of the 
Accessible Information Standard within their 
contracts and we have developed and agreed 
systems to monitor their equality 
performance.   
 
When procuring new services, we ensure that 
service specifications include the need to have 
robust policies in place to ensure that the 
needs of the 9 protected characteristics and 
other vulnerable groups are adopted. These 
policies are examined and approved by 
procurement teams and our Equality Lead 
prior to any contract award being made. 
 
Examples of work during 2016-
2017: 

We continue to be members of the Leeds NHS 
Equality Leads Forum, working with NHS 
organisations in Leeds to improve health 
inequalities for our communities in relation to 
the commissioning and provision of 
healthcare and to improve equality of 
opportunity in respect of our workforce. 
 
We continue to Chair the Leeds Equality 
Network, which brings together public sector 
and third sector organisations across Leeds 
who collectively to identify and address 
inequalities that exist in Leeds. Throughout 
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2016/17 network members have continued to 
organise attendance at the Leeds Migrant 
Community Network meetings. Other key 
topics/areas of work have included; Leeds 
Research Network; BME Hub health event; 
veterans of the armed forces and mental 
health; and the co-ordination of key equality 
related events across all organisations. 
 
We developed and implemented the new 
Leeds approach in relation to the NHS Equality 
Delivery System engagement and assessment 
process and have taken part in three 
successful city-wide workshops. 
 
We have continued to attend the bi-monthly 
Leeds CCGs Equality and Diversity Steering 
Group meetings, providing the opportunity 
for all members to share their current 
knowledge of the equality agenda; discuss 
ideas for sharing good practice; consider 
future development opportunities and 
potential challenges within each CCG in 
relation to equality and diversity. 
 
We reviewed and revised our training session 
“Knowing your communities” for our patient 
leader programme. Training sessions will 
continue to run throughout 2017. 
We continue to me active members of the 
Leeds CCGs Accessible Information Standard 
working group, which brings together 
representatives from all Primary Care 
Transformation Teams; Patient Experience; 
Contract Managers; and Quality Managers. 
The aim of the group is to ensure there is a 
consistent approach across all providers of 
healthcare in relation to compliance with the 
requirements of the standard. 
 
Working across the three CCGs we have 
developed an Equality Analysis and 
Engagement Plan template and work is 
underway to integrate the assessment of 
equality impact within the engagement 
update template.  
 

2.17 Learning Disabilities   
  
A key programme of work for this year has 
been the development and implementation of 

the Leeds Transforming Care Partnership 
(TCP) and local plan to deliver the national 3 
year plan “Building the Right Support” The 
plan is to develop more effective community 
services for people with learning disabilities 
and or autism with complex behaviour to 
support discharge from and prevent 
admission to specialised assessment and 
treatment or continuing rehabilitation and 
recovery hospitals. 
  
The TCP is a partnership of health and social 
care children and young people’s and adult 
commissioners and providers.  A three year 
plan has been published including an easy 
read version and is available here. 
   
The programme to be completed by March 
2019 as part of the key principles seeks to 
ensure that service users and families are at 
the centre of the programme of work. To 
support this co-production is an essential 
component of the delivery plan. A scoping 
workshop with service users and families was 
held in February this year to agree the model 
and approach to support the delivery of the 
plan. In addition seven work streams have 
been identified and agreed to deliver the 
strategic objectives of the all age plan which is 
overseen by the TCP. 
                                                                                   
                                                                  
Work to improve the health and well-being of 
people with learning disabilities has also been 
a focus of work this year and the Making Time 
Pharmacy Project has been a new initiative to 
support the improved access to local 
pharmacies for people with learning 
disabilities. The initiative facilitates protected 
time with pharmacists to identify health 
needs and develop a health action plan to 
promote individuals health and well-being. 
The Project has been recognised nationally 
and has won two awards for innovation. 
 
 

2.18 Informatics  
NHS Leeds North CCG continues to lead the 
city-wide Informatics development agenda on 
behalf of the three Leeds CCGs. They are 
responsible for coordinating the Informatics 
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strategy across the health and care sectors of 
the city.  
 
The Leeds Informatics Board (LIB) is chaired 
by the Clinical Chair of Leeds North CCG and 
supported by the CCG’s Director of 
Informatics with input from senior officers 
and clinicians from each partner organisation 
across the city.  It is responsible for the 
governance framework for informatics 
developments in Leeds.  LIB is supported by a 
number of sub-committees, including a cross-
city Information Governance Steering Group 
and City Informatics Clinical Group.  
 
Using technology is central to transforming 
services and is helping to deliver the 
ambitions of the city.  Leeds North CCG has 
long standing collaborative working which has 
created strong partnership across public 
sector, business and the city’s universities. It 
helps with our approach to develop a strategy 
that embeds technology at the heart of health 
and care.   
 
During the year a wide range of achievements 
have been developed under the leadership of 
LIB including: 
 
Leeds Local Digital Roadmap  
Leeds Local Digital Roadmap was led by Leeds 
North CCG, the document was submitted to 
NHS England and published in June 2016. It 
was produced in conjunction with the Leeds 
and West Yorkshire Sustainability and 
Transformational Plans and in collaboration 
with other Local Digital Roadmaps across 
West Yorkshire.  It provides a consolidated 
view of the plans describing a five-year digital 
vision, a three-year journey towards 
becoming ‘paper free at the point of care’ and 
two-year plans for progressing a number of 
predefined ‘universal capabilities’.  
 
Leeds Care Record  
 
Another major achievement has been the 
inclusion of adult social care and community 
information to the Leeds Care Record.  Leeds 
Care Record now covers five major care 
settings viewing and contributing information 

across the city including GPs, hospital, mental 
health, adult social care and community. We 
have also significantly increased to 4,000 
active users, a huge leap from April 2016 
when there was 2,500 users. 
 
Leeds Intelligence Hub  

Leeds Intelligence Hub continues to drive 
change in commissioning by providing a 
system wide data analysis and insight.  
 
Electronic Prescribing 
 
Excellent progress has been made on some 
national targets including electronic 
prescribing between GPs and Pharmacists.  
GPs in Leeds are quick adopters of the 
national electronic prescription service (EPS) 
making prescribing and dispensing medicines 
more efficient and convenient for patients 
and NHS staff. 100 GP practices in Leeds (over 
95% of 104) can digitally send prescriptions 
directly to the patient’s preferred pharmacy 
through their own IT system, removing the 
need to write paper prescriptions. Patients 
are now able to collect their repeat 
prescriptions from the pharmacy without the 
need to visit the GP practice.  It also means 
that patients don’t have to worry about losing 
their paper prescription, making the process 
safer and more secure.   
 
Free WiFi in GPs  

Patients and healthcare professionals visiting 
nearly all of the GP surgeries in Leeds can now 
connect to the internet using free WiFi.  This 
allows people sat in waiting rooms to have 
secure access to emails, as well as being able 
to browse social media and web content for 
example NHS Choices and current affairs. 
  
Telehealth in Care Homes  

More than six care homes in Leeds are 
involved in a pilot scheme which allows health 
and care staff to remotely monitor the health 
of residents and reduce the need to admit 
residents to hospital as an emergency’.  
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GP2GP 

Leeds is now transferring patients’ electronic 
health records directly, securely and quickly 
between their old and new practices when 
they change GPs.  The system called GP2GP 
helps improve patient care by making full and 
detailed medical records available to 
practices, for a new patient’s first and later 
consultations.   
 
Leeds Health Pathways 

Leeds Health Pathways has standardised 
clinical pathways, medication and guidance to 
all care professionals in the City.  It is 
managed and supported by Leeds Teaching 
Hospital NHS Trust and replaces the Map of 
Medicine which was used by primary care.  
It’s a great example of how collaborative 
working across organisations can create 
impressive results that help to ensure that 
consistent care and pathways are available 
across the city.   
 

2.19 Requests for 
information / data loss 

The CCG is committed to being open and 
transparent. This includes meeting the 
statutory requirements of the Freedom of 
Information (FOI) Act.  The FOI requires every 
public body to produce and regularly maintain 
a publication scheme.   We have adopted the 
Information Commissioners Office’s model 
publication scheme for health bodies   Our 
aim is to increase openness and transparency 
about what we do, what we spend, our 
priorities, decisions and policies.   We also aim 
to make it easier for members of the public to 
find the information they require without 
having to make a written request. Our 
publication scheme can be found here:   
 
In 2016/17 we received 215 requests under 
the Freedom of Information Act – compared 
to 236 in 2015/16.  We responded to 211 of 
these requests within the mandatory 20 
working days, with one response which was 
late and 3 requests which were withdrawn: 

 

 FOI requests received 
Responded to 
within 20 days 

April 24 24 

May  22 22 

June 19 19 

July 13 13 

Aug 18 18 

Sept 15 14 

Oct  11 11 

Nov  18 17 

Dec  14 14 

Jan  20 18 

Feb  19 19 

Mar  22 22 

Totals  215 211 

 

2.20 Research studies 
The NHS Constitution contains pledges that 
the NHS is committed to achieve. Pledges go 
above and beyond legal rights. This means 
that pledges are not legally binding but 
represent a commitment by the NHS to 
provide comprehensive high quality services.  
 
Section 3a. Patients and the public – your 
rights and NHS pledges to you  

Respect, consent and confidentiality: 
• To inform you of research studies in 

which you may be eligible to 
participate (pledge) 

 
This pledge aims to give people better access 
to the potential benefits of participating in 
research studies including clinical trials. 
Information that identifies you will not be 
given to researchers unless you have given 
your consent or the research has been given 
approval under the Health Service (Control of 
Patient Information) Regulations 2002.  
 
To this end within the CCG area the following 
levels of research has occurred: 
 
The research annual report highlights that the 
CCG is achieving all of the national research 
governance metrics in relation to research, 
and in fact they are being exceeded our CCG.  
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• In 2016/17 we had 45% of practices 
actively recruiting patients, this 
exceeds the NIHR Clinical Research 
Network (CRN) primary care Higher 
Level Objective 6c of 35% for the 
proportion of GP sites recruiting into 
portfolio studies. This has led to a 
recruitment of 179* patients into 
research trials. 
 

• Within Leeds Community Healthcare 
NHS Trust, 7062 patients have been 
recruited into research trials.  
 

• Within Leeds York Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust, 812* patients have 
been recruited into research trials.  
 

• Within Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Trust, 10,885* patients have been 
recruited into research trials. This 
contributes over 1.5% to the National 
recruitment target 

 
The CCG is currently supporting twelve studies 
that carry an excess treatment cost. This 
support extends into the coming financial 
years.  
 
 
 

  

2 Data cut NIHR CRN 10/04/2017 

40           NHS Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning Group 

                                                           
 



3. THE 
ACCOUNTABILITY 
REPORT 
 

3.1 Corporate Governance 
Report  

 

The Members’ Report  
 

A list of our Member Practices that comprise 
the NHS Leeds South and East Clinical 
Commissioning Group are set out in the 
Annual Governance Statement, together with 
a profile of the Council of Members’ Meeting 
which has a key role in the governance of the 
CCG. 

Our Governing Body has a diverse range of 
skills and experience and brings together 
clinicians, lay representatives and 
management staff.  It is led by a Lay Chair, 
Philip Lewer, who works closely with the 
CCG’s Clinical Chief Officer, Dr Andy Harris.  

 
Meetings are held bi-monthly and in public. 
The agenda and papers are published on our 
website. 

 
The role of our Governing Body is to: 
 
• Oversee and make sure that the CCG has 

appropriate arrangements in place to 
exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and in 
accordance with the CCG’s principles of 
good governance (its main function); and 

• Make sure that decisions about changes 
to local health services are made in an 
open and transparent way. 

 
We have five Executive Directors, who are 
officers of the CCG: the Clinical Chief Officer 
(Accountable Officer); the Chief Finance 
Officer (Deputy Accountable Officer); the 
Chief Operating Officer; the Medical Director 
and the Deputy of Nursing and Corporate 

Affairs. The Consultant in Public Health is also 
a member of the Executive Management 
Team. 
 
There are four GP Non-Executive members, 
these members represent the voice of 
Member Practices, ensuring that these are 
integral to the CCG’s decision making process 
on the Governing Body. The Governing Body 
also has a Non-Executive Secondary Care 
Consultant.  
 
There are three Lay Members, including the 
Lay Chair, Lay Member for Audit and 
Governance and Lay Member for Patient and 
Public Involvement.  During the year, the lay 
members have actively provided scrutiny and 
challenge to the way in which the CCG fulfils 
its functions, by their membership and 
involvement on the Governing Body and 
Committees.   
 
Full details of the Governing Body and its 
Committees can be found in the Annual 
Governance Statement. 

 
Below is the Governing Body Membership 
including those who are members of the 
Executive Management Team (shown in 
bold):  

 
Philip Lewer – Lay Chair 
Dr. Andy Harris – Clinical Chief Officer 
(Accountable Officer)(Resigned 31 March 
2017) 
Mark Bradley – Chief Finance Officer 
(Resigned 28 February 2017) 
Kathryn Vause – Interim Chief Finance Officer 
(From 1 March 2017) 
Matthew Ward – Chief Operating Officer 
(until 31 March 2017) 
Dr. Dave Mitchell – Medical Director 
(Resigned 31 March 2017) 
Maureen Kelly – Acting Director of Nursing 
and Corporate Affairs  
Victoria Eaton – Public Heath Consultant 
Brian Roebuck – Lay Member (Audit and 
Governance) 
Gordon Tollefson – Lay Member (Patient and 
Public Engagement) 
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Roderick Robertson – Secondary Care 
Consultant (Resigned 31 March 2016) 
Dr. David Mitchell – Secondary Care 
Consultant (From 1 June 2016) 
Dr. Benjamin Browning – GP Non-Executive 
Director  
Dr. Helen Haywood – GP Non-Executive 
Director 
Dr. Arshad Rafique – GP Non-Executive 
Director 
Dr. Amal Paul – GP Non-Executive Director 

 
In Attendance (Non-voting): 
Cath Roff – (Director of Adult Social Services – 
Leeds City Council. 
 
Audit and Governance Committee 

Our Audit and Governance Committee is a key 
part of our governance and assurance 
framework and supports the organisation to 
achieve its goals, objectives and 
responsibilities to its stakeholders.   

 
The Audit and Governance Committee was 
established to provide the Governing Body 
with an independent and objective review of 
its financial systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, guidance and 
regulations governing the NHS.   

 
The committee is appointed by the Governing 
Body from its non-executive members and 
consists of not less than three members, with 
a quorum being two members.  The Chief 
Finance Officer and representatives from 
internal and external audit, counter fraud and 
CCG management are also in attendance.  
During the financial year April 2016 to March 
2017 eight Audit and Governance Committee 
meetings were held.   
 
Our Audit and Governance Committee 
members are:- 

 
Brian Roebuck – Lay Member (Audit and 
Governance) 
Gordon Tollefson – Lay Member (Patient and 
Public Engagement) 
Dr Arshad Rafique  
 

Details of Declared Interests 

 The CCG holds Registers of Interest declared 
by: 

i. Members of the CCG 
ii. Members of the CCG’s 

Governing Body 
iii. Members of the CCG’s 

Committees or Sub-Committees 
iv. CCG employees 

 
In accordance with our Constitution and the 
Conflict of Interests Policy, our Clinical Chief 
Officer must be informed of any interest 
which may lead to a conflict with the interests 
of the CCG and the public for whom they 
commission services. The interests to be 
included in the Register need to be notified 
within 28 days of the individual becoming 
aware of the potential for a conflict. The 
Register will be updated regularly (at no more 
than three -monthly intervals). 

The Registers of Interest can be found here. 

Personal Data related incidents  

The CCG has not reported any personal data 
related incidents to the Information 
Commissioners Office. Further details on data 
security can be found in the Annual 
Governance Statement.  

Statement as to Disclosure to 
Auditors 
 

Each individual who is a member of the CCG 
at the time the Members’ report is approved 
confirms: 

• So far as the member is aware, there is no 
relevant information of which the CCG’s 
auditor is unaware that would be relevant 
for the purposes of their audit report 
 

• The member has taken all the steps that 
they ought to have taken in order to make 
him or herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the 
CCG’s auditor is aware of it. 

 

42           NHS Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning Group 

http://www.leedssouthandeastccg.nhs.uk/Your-health/lists-and-registers.htm


Modern Slavery Act 

NHS Leeds and East Clinical Commissioning 
Group fully supports the Government’s 
objectives to eradicate modern slavery and 
human trafficking but does not meet the 
requirements for producing an annual Slavery 
and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in 
the Modern Slavery Act 2015.  
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3.2 Statement of 
Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities 

 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an 
Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board 
(NHS England).  NHS England has appointed 
the Clinical Chief Officer to be the 
Accountable Officer of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer 
are set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public 
Money and in the Clinical Commissioning 
Group Accountable Officer Appointment 
Letter. They include responsibilities for: 
 
• The propriety and regularity of the public 

finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable, 
 

• For keeping proper accounting records 
(which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the 
Clinical Commissioning Group and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply 
with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction), 
 

• For safeguarding the Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention  and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities), 
 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting 
officers under Managing Public Money, 
 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically 
(in accordance with Section 14Q of the 
NHS Act 2006 (as amended) and with a 
view to securing continuous improvement 
in the quality of services (in accordance 

with Section 14R of the NHS Act 2006 (as 
amended), 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its 
financial duties under Sections 223H to 
223J of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended), NHS England has directed each 
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for 
each financial year financial statements in the 
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts 
Direction.  The financial statements are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and 
cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the 
Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the  Group 
Accounting Manual  issued by the Department 
of Health and in particular to: 
 
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by 

NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements 
and apply suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis; 
 

• Make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis; 
 

• State whether applicable accounting 
standards are set out in the Manual for 
Accounts issued by the Department of 
Health have been followed and disclose 
and explain any material departures in the 
financial statements; and  
 

• Prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis. 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I 
have properly discharged the responsibilities 
set out under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended), 
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter.  
 
I also confirm that: 
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• As far as I am aware, there is no relevant 

audit information of which the CCG’s 
auditors are aware, and that as 
Accountable officer, I have taken steps 
that I ought to have taken to make myself 
aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditors 
are aware of that information; 
 

• That the annual report and accounts as a 
whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that I take personal 
responsibility for the annual report and 
accounts and the judgments required for 
determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable. 

 

 
 

Phil Corrigan 
Chief Executive / Accountable Officer 
25 May 2017  

(Dr Andy Harris was Clinical Chief 
Officer/Accountable Officer until his 
retirement from this position on 31 March 
2017.  

Phil Corrigan was appointed Chief 
Executive/Accountable Officer from 1 April 
2017). 
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4. ANNUAL 
GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT 2016-17 
 

4.1 Governance 
Statement by the 
Accountable Officer   

 

Introduction and context 

NHS Leeds South and East Clinical 
Commissioning Group is a body corporate 
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended). 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory 
functions are set out under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The 
CCG’s general function is arranging the 
provision of services for persons for the 
purposes of the health service in England.  
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange 
for the provision of certain health services to 
such extent as it considers necessary to meet 
the reasonable requirements of its local 
population.   

As at 1 April 2016, the clinical commissioning 
group is not subject to any directions from 
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006. 

NHS Leeds South and East CCG consists of 42 
GP practices in the South and East of Leeds 
City. We cover a population of around 
257,000 people and the area includes some of 
Leeds’ most deprived communities; inner city 
neighbourhoods and affluent rural areas on 
the outskirts of the city 

Scope of responsibility  

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the 

clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public 
funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me in Managing 
Public Money. I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical 
commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively, safeguarding financial propriety 
and regularity. I also have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control within the clinical 
commissioning group as set out in this 
governance statement 

Governance arrangements and 
effectiveness 

The main function of the Governing Body is to 
ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its 
functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and complies with such 
generally accepted principles of good 
governance as are relevant to it. 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended), at paragraph 14L (2)(b) states: 

The main function of the governing body is to 
ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it complies 
with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. 

Our Constitution has been formally agreed by 
our Member Practices and sets out the 
arrangements for discharging our statutory 
responsibilities for commissioning care on 
behalf of our population.  It describes our 
governing principles, rules and procedures 
that ensure probity and accountability in the 
day to day running of our CCG, clarifying how 
decisions are made in an open and 
transparent way and in the interest of 
patients and the public.   

More specifically, our Constitution includes: 
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• Our Membership  
• The area we cover  
• The arrangements for the discharge of our 

functions and those of our Governing 
Body (including roles and responsibilities 
of members of the Governing Body) 

• The procedures we follow in making 
decisions and to secure transparency in 
decision making 

• Arrangements for discharging our duties 
in relation to Registers of Interests and 
managing Conflicts of Interest. 

• Arrangements for securing the 
involvement of persons who are, or may 
be, provided with services commissioned 
by the Group in certain aspects of those 
commissioning arrangements and the 
principles that underpin these. 

 
Our Constitution is a living document and will 
be updated to reflect changes in national 
guidance and in our Membership and 
composition and submitted in line with NHS 
England guidance and following consultation 
and sign up by our Membership.  We have 
ensured that our Constitution continues to 
correlate with our Detailed Financial 
Procedures.   
 
Our Governance Arrangements  

Our Council of Members, Governing Body and 
Committee structure is shown in the diagram 
below:    
 

 
Council of Members 

Our Council of Members, which represents 
our member practices, consists of 
representatives from each of the 42 member 

practices in Leeds South and East and is led by 
the GP Non-Executive Directors.  

The Council of Members Meeting is 
responsible for approving the CCG’s 
Constitution and proposed changes to the 
Constitution including the overarching 
Scheme of Delegation, Standing Orders and 
Prime Financial Policies. Other responsibilities 
include: 

• Agreeing the vision and values of the CCG; 
• Approving the arrangements for 

identifying practice members to represent 
practices in matters concerning the work 
of our CCG and appointing clinical leaders 
to represent the CCG membership on the 
CCG Governing Body, for example through 
election (if desired); 

• Holding the Governing Body to account 
for decisions made in delivering agreed 
policy objectives and priorities to 
members.  
 

The Council of Members meeting is held twice 
a year as a minimum. In addition the GP non-
executive directors are available at ‘drop in’ 
sessions following the bi-monthly Members’ 
Clinical Commissioning Meetings.  
 
Membership of the Council of Members 
consists of representatives from each of the 
Member Practices set out below: 
 
 Practice Name 
1 Arthington Medical Centre 
2 Ashfield Medical Centre 
3 Ashton View Medical Centre 
4 Austhorpe View Surgery 
5 Beeston Village Surgery 
6 Bellbrooke Surgery 
7 Church Street Surgery 
8 City View Medical Practice 
9 Colton Mill Medical Centre 
10 Conway Medical Centre 
11 Cottingley Surgery 
12 East Park Medical Centre 
13 Garforth Medical Centre 
14 Gibson Lane Practice 
15 Grange Medicare – Middleton Park 
16 Grange Medicare – New Cross Surgery 
17 Grange Medicare – Swillington Health Practice 
18 Harehills Corner Surgery 
19 Hunslet Health Centre 
20 Kippax Hall Surgery 
21 Leeds City Medical Practice 
22 Lincoln Green Medical Centre 
23 Lingwell Croft Surgery 
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 Practice Name 
24 Lofthouse Surgery 
25 Manston Surgery 
26 Moorfield House Surgery 
27 Nova Scotia Medical Centre 
28 Oakley Medical Practice 
29 Oulton Medical Practice 
30 Park Edge Practice 
31 Primary Health Care for the Homeless 
32 Radshan Medical Centre 
33 Shaftesbury Medical Centre 
34 Shafton Lane Medical Centre 
35 Shakespeare Medical Practice 
36 The Garden Surgery 
37 The Medical Centre 
38 The Roundhay Road Surgery 
39 The Whitfield Practice 
40 Whinmoor Surgery 
41 Windmill Health Centre 
42 The Surgery 

 
The Governing Body 

The Governing Body has overall responsibility 
for ensuring that appropriate arrangements 
are in place to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically and in 
accordance with the group’s principles of 
good governance. Its full responsibilities are 
set out in our Constitution. The Governing 
Body meets in public on a bi-monthly basis, 
with its work complemented through a series 
of regular topic- related workshops. 

 
The work of each CCG committee is directed 
by the functions delegated to it by the 
Governing Body through their Terms of 
Reference. To ensure effective and timely 
information flows between the Governing 
Body and its committees, the chair of each 
committee presents a written summary of the 
meeting at the subsequent Governing Body 
meeting.  
 
During 2016/17, the Governing Body met on 
eight occasions (including two extra-ordinary 
meetings) in public for which there was an 
annual cycle of business.  Agendas were 
structured to enable the Governing Body to 
deal with the range of its responsibilities 
including strategic, performance, quality 
assurance, risk and governance matters. The 
arrangements reflect the public service values 
of accountability, probity and openness and 
specify as Clinical Chief Officer my 
responsibility for ensuring that these values 

are met within the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 
 
Governing Body member name and role Att 
Philip Lewer, Lay Chair 8/8 
Dr Andy Harris , Clinical Chief Officer 7/8 
Mark Bradley, Chief Finance Officer (until 28 February 2017) 6/7 
Kathryn Vause, Interim Chief Finance Officer (from 1 March 
2017) 

1/1 

Matt Ward, Chief Operating Officer 5/8 
Dr Dave Mitchell, Medical Director 8/8 
Maureen Kelly, Acting Director of Nursing and Corporate 
Affairs  

5/8 

Brian Roebuck, Lay Member-Audit and Governance 6/6 
Gordon Tollefson, Lay Member – PPI 8/8 
Dr  David Mitchell, Secondary Care Consultant (from 1 June 
2016) 

3/6 

Dr Ben Browning, GP NED 8/8 
Dr Helen Haywood, GP NED 7/8 
Dr Arshad Rafique, GP NED  6/8 
Dr  Amal Paul, GP NED  6/8 
Victoria Eaton, Consultant in Public Health  6/8 

 

4.2 Committees of the 
Governing Body 

Audit and Governance Committee 

The role of the Audit and Governance 
Committee is to provide the Governing Body 
with an independent and objective view of 
our financial systems, financial information 
and compliance with laws, regulations and 
directions directing the CCG in so far as they 
relate to finance.  In addition, the Governing 
Body has delegated scrutiny of the following 
functions to the Audit and Governance 
Committee: 

• Audit (Internal and External) 
• Counter Fraud 
• Information Governance 
• Integrated Governance, Risk Management 

and Internal Control 
• Health and Safety, including fire safety 
 
The Committee is authorised by the 
Governing Body to approve CCG policies 
which fall within its remit. 

 
The Audit and Governance Committee has 
agreed and monitored the implementation of 
the Internal Audit Programme of Work. In 
addition the Local Counter Fraud Specialist 
has made regular reports to the Committee.  
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The Committee has focused on risk 
management with regular reviews of the 
Governing Body Assurance Framework and 
the Corporate Risk Register. 

Information Governance and the approval 
related Policies is an important feature of the 
Committees work. The Committee receives 
quarterly reports in respect of Health and 
Safety including the review and approval of 
associated policies and risk assessments. 

The Management of Conflicts of Interest and 
Gifts and Hospitality is a key issue for the CCG 
and the Committee has reviewed the 
Registers during the year. In line with NHSE 
guidance a new ‘Standards of Business 
Conduct Policy’ was approved during the year. 

The Committee keeps an overview of the 
activity of the other Committees by receiving 
the Chair’s reports from these Committees 
and has reviewed the annual reports and self-
assessment of the Committees on behalf of 
the Governing Body 

The Audit and Governance Committee has 
met on eight occasions (one of which was an 
Extra-ordinary meeting) during 2016/17: 
 
Audit and Governance Committee Members: Att 
Brian Roebuck 
Lay Member-Governance 6/6 

Gordon Tollefson 
Lay Member – PPI 8/8 

Dr Arshad Rafique 
GP Non-Executive Director  7/8 

 
Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee  

The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee makes recommendations to the 
Governing Body in relation to:  
 
• Remuneration, fees and other allowances 

for employees and for people who 
provide services to the CCG, and any 
determinations about allowances under 
any pension scheme; and 

• Nomination: ensuring the balance of skills, 
experience and knowledge of the 
Governing Body, undertaking succession 

planning, overseeing the appointment 
process for Governing Body Members and 
setting the terms of office for these 
members. 

 
The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee is chaired by a Governing Body lay 
member. All members are selected from the 
Governing Body membership. 
 
The Governing Body, in appointing members 
of the committee, ensures the highest level of 
independence, consistent with the principle 
that no member of the committee is involved 
in recommending their own remuneration or 
terms of appointment.  
 
The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee met on four occasions during 
2016/17: 
 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee Core 
Members  

Att 

Gordon Tollefson, Lay Member PPI 4/4 
Philip Lewer, Lay Chair  4/4 
Brian Roebuck, Lay Member Governance  2/2 
Additional Members required for specific matters 
specified in Committee terms of reference 
 

 

Dr Andy Harris, Clinical Chief Officer 2/2 
Helen Haywood, GP Non-Executive Director 2/2 
Amal Paul, GP Non-executive Director 3/3 
Arshad Rafique, GP Non-Executive Director 1/1 
Matt Ward, Chief Operating Officer 1/1 
   

Joint Quality and Safety Committee  

The Joint Quality and Safety Committee, 
which is accountable in turn to each of the 
group’s Governing Bodies, provides assurance 
to each of the respective Governing Bodies, 
provides assurance to the Governing Bodies 
that the services commissioned on behalf of 
the CCG are of high quality, are safe and that 
evidence from quality improvement processes 
drives the quality improvement agenda across 
the Leeds health economy. The remit of the 
Committee will reflect the three elements of 
quality: 

• Safety 
• Effectiveness 
• Patient experience 
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The Chair of the Committee alternates on a 12 
monthly basis between the CCGs and is the 
Secondary Care Consultant for the CCG. The  
Committee met on five occasions from June in 
2016/17. 

Joint Quality & Safety Committee Att 

Leeds South and East CCG Membership only  

Dr Dave Mitchell, Medical Director 5/5 
Mr David Mitchell, Secondary Care Consultant 3/5 
Mrs Maureen Kelly, Acting Director of Nursing & 
Quality 2/5 

Dr Amal Paul, GP Non-Executive Director 3/5 

 
The Committee is authorised by the 
Governing Body to approve CCG policies 
within its remit. 
 
The Committee has reviewed on a regular 
basis a core set of quality measures, however 
changes to the reporting processes and new 
additions to the work plan have resulted in an 
expanded range of reports being considered. 

Overall the monitoring of reports from 
Providers has shown encouraging quality care 
for the people of Leeds. 

An Annual Safeguarding report has been 
presented to a Governing Body Workshop and 
regular reports and relevant committee 
meeting minutes are available to the  
Committee. 

Primary care quality matters are reported to 
the Committee for review.  
 

Finance, Activity and Performance 
Committee 

The Finance, Activity and Performance 
Committee supports the Governing Body in 
monitoring  delivery of key financial and 
service priorities, outcomes and targets as 
specified in the CCG’s strategic and 
operational plans. The Committee undertakes 
an important role in providing scrutiny and 
challenge.  The Committee provides a 
performance framework which proactively 
manages the CCG’s financial, performance 
and QIPP (Quality, Innovation, Productivity 

and Prevention) agenda and provides 
assurance in delivery of all of these areas to 
the Governing Body. 

The Finance, Activity and Performance 
Committee is chaired by a non-executive GP 
member of the Governing Body. 

The Committee is authorised by the 
Governing Body to approve CCG policies 
within its remit. 

The Committee received an update on the 
financial performance of the CCG at every 
meeting detailing the financial position of the 
CCG. This includes running costs, allocations 
and its performance against key indicators 
throughout the year. The financial plan for 
2016/17 was discussed and support was given 
by the Committee for the plan for 
development funds and long term investment 
to deliver the transformative changes 
required in the health service.  

Over the year the Committee has reviewed 
and approved changes to a number of HR 
policies. It has reviewed the results of the 
Staff Survey and receives the quarterly and 
annual Workforce Reports.  

The integrated performance report was 
reviewed regularly throughout the year.  The 
QIPP programme was reviewed regularly 
including progress against this and the plan 
for developing programmes for future years. 
The Corporate Risk Register and Governing 
Body Assurance Framework are both 
reviewed at every meeting of the Committee 
in regards to the individual risks allocated to 
it.  The Committee also received assurance on 
the delivery of Strategic Aims 4 and 5. 

The Finance, Activity and Performance 
Committee met on six occasions and the 
attendance of the Members was as follows: 

Finance, Activity and Performance Committee 
Members: Att 

Dr Ben Browning , Chair and GP NED 6/6 
Brian Roebuck, Lay Member - Governance 5/5 
Mark Bradley, Chief Finance Officer 3/6 
Matt Ward, Chief Operating Officer 3/6 
Dr Dave Mitchell, Medical Director 5/6 
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Patient Assurance Group (PAG) 

The Chair of the PAG is the Lay Member of the 
Governing Body leading on patient and public 
engagement. 

The PAG, which is accountable to the 
Governing Body, makes recommendations to 
the Governing Body upon matters affecting 
patients and process in terms of engagement 
procedures for commissioning or 
decommissioning of services, and evaluation 
and review of existing services within the 
remit of the CCG. 

During the year a review of the PAG was 
undertaken to ensure that it continued to 
provide robust assurance to the Governing 
Body in respect of its remit. The following key 
changes to the existing structure were 
implemented: 
 
• Changes to the Membership of the Group 

including three patient representatives 
and a representative from Healthwatch, 
to ensure that the patient continues to be 
at the heart of the CCGs commissioning 
decisions; 

 
• Increased participation from CCG 

commissioners; 
 
Confirmed oversight of the following 
workstreams within Strategic Aim Three: 
 
• To achieve effective participation of the 

public in the commissioning process so 
that services provided reflect the needs of 
local people and 

• To ensure that patient, carer and public 
experience are at the centre of the 
commissioning process and a key drive 
and influence in improving services 
(shared with Quality Committee). 

 
The PAG has links and provides input to, a 
network of patients, members of the public, 
and carers, comprising a Patient Engagement 
Network (PEN) and Neighbourhood Leader 
Group (NLG).  
 

The MyNHS MyVoice database provides a 
number of patient and public representatives 
who can be contacted with information about 
any engagement activity, or events that may 
be of interest.  
 
An overview of the engagement activities that 
have taken place over the past year is 
available on the website.   
 
The PAG took a lead in ensuring patient 
engagement at our Annual General Meeting. 
 

Patient Assurance Group Members Att  

Core Members  

Gordon Tollefson, Governing Body Lay Member PPI, Chair 6/6 
Victoria Eaton, Consultant in Public Health (until October 
2016) 

1/4 

Maureen Kelly, Interim Director of Nursing & Corporate 
Affairs 

3/6 

Sarah Lovell, Acting Director of Commissioning 4/6 
Matt Ward, Chief Operating Officer 2/6 
Attendees  
Ansa Ahmed, Patient Representative 3/3 
David Thompkins, Patient Representative 4/6 
Ed Walley, Patient Representative 6/6 
Tanya Matilainen, Healthwatch 3/6 

 

Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

In accordance with its statutory powers in the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended), NHS England has delegated the 
exercise of its primary care commissioning 
functions as specified in the legislation to the 
CCG. Accordingly, the CCG has established the 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
which functions as a corporate decision-
making body for the management of the 
delegated functions and the exercise of the 
delegated powers. This Committee replaced 
the former GP Conflicts Committee. 
 
The Committee has been established to 
enable members to make collective decisions 
on the review, planning and procurement of 
primary care services in Leeds South and East, 
under delegated authority from NHS England. 
In performing its role the Committee exercises 
its management of the functions in 
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accordance with the agreement entered into 
between NHS England and the CCG. 
 
The functions of the Committee are 
undertaken in the context of a desire to 
promote increased co-commissioning to 
increase quality, efficiency, productivity and 
value for money and to remove administrative 
barriers. Specific functions include: 
 
• GMS, PMS and APMS contracts (including 

the design of PMS and APMS contracts, 
monitoring of contracts, taking 
contractual action such as issuing 
branch/remedial notices, and removing a 
contract); 

• Newly designed enhanced services (“Local 
Enhanced Services” and “Directed 
Enhanced Services”); 

• Design of local incentive schemes as an 
alternative to the Quality Outcomes 
Framework (QOF); 

• Decision making on whether to establish 
new GP practices in an area; 

• Approving practice mergers; and 
• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ 

payment (e.g., returner/retainer 
schemes). 

 
The Committee comprises representatives of 
the CCG, NHS England, Leeds City Council 
Health and Wellbeing Board, and 
Healthwatch. 
 
The Committee met on five occasions in 
2016/17: 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
Members Att 

Philip Lewer, Lay Chair 7/7 
Brian Roebuck, Lay Member – Audit & 
Governance 4/5 

Gordon Tollefson, Lay Member - PPI 7/7 
Mark Bradley, Chief Finance Officer 2/6 
Kathryn Vause, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 3/5 
Matt Ward, Chief Operating Officer 6/7 
Victoria Eaton, Public Health Consultant 5/7 
Maureen Kelly, Acting Director of Nursing & 
Corporate Affairs 4/7 

David Mitchell, Secondary Care Consultant (from 1 
June 2016) 3/6 

NHS England Representative 5/7 
Healthwatch Leeds Representative 5/7 
Health & Wellbeing Board Representative 4/7 
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4.3 City-wide Governance 
arrangements 

 

We operate within the wider Leeds health and 
social care system.  We play an active part in 
ensuring these city wide relationships and 
governance arrangements are robust and 
effective.  Below are the main governance 
arrangements for city wide collaborative 
working. 

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board 

The primary purpose of the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Board is to provide overall strategic 
leadership to improve the health and 
wellbeing of residents in the city. Local 
authorities are required to establish Health 
and Wellbeing Boards under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012. This Board has 
responsibility for driving health improvements 
for residents and a much stronger role in 
shaping local services. Membership of the 
board includes representation from Leeds City 
Council (including Council Members and 
Executive Directors) and the three CCGs in 
Leeds (we are represented by the Clinical 
Chief Officer and Chief Operating Officer), 
Healthwatch and the third sector are also 
represented. 

Aligning our plans to the Joint 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 

 The Leeds Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWBS)’s vision is that Leeds will be:  

• A healthy and caring city for all ages;  
• Where people who are the poorest will 

improve their health the fastest.  
 

To do this, the strategy identified a range of 
priorities to be addressed by all health and 
care partners in the city, and during 2016/17 
we continued working with some of these 
partners which included the Local Authority 
through the Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWB), and the Leeds Transformation Board. 

Our joint plans aimed to address, contribute 
and deliver those priority areas of the JHWBS, 
in delivering accessible, integrated health and 
wellbeing services that are safe and effective 
for the population of Leeds, where plans 
included: 

• Promoting the NHS Health Check, helping 
people to reduce and manage their risk of 
heart disease, stroke, kidney disease and 
diabetes; 
 

• Providing a range of services that support 
people to adopt healthy lifestyles;  
 

• Continuing to move towards increased 
integration of health and social care 
services; 

 
• Increasing access to a range of community 

mental health services e.g. Improving 
Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT); 
 

• Developing screening services and 
working with primary care to encourage 
greater uptake to support early detection 
of cancer;  

 
• Developing a range of partnerships with 

the Third Sector that support 
communities to improve their wellbeing 
e.g. services that reduce social isolation; 
provide opportunities for volunteering; 
act as a “gateway” to advice, information, 
and services; and promote health and 
wellbeing; and 

 
• Securing capacity across a range of acute 

and community services that ensures that 
the South and East Leeds population 
receive timely diagnosis and treatment, 
ensuring that if people do get ill, that they 
have the best chance of recovery. 
 

There is a new JHWBS being developed for 
2016/17-2020/21, which will set out a new 
five-year vision for the city and population of 
Leeds. Building on many of the priorities of 
the last Strategy, our plans for 2016/17 
onwards have been developed with the 
Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB), with this 
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in mind, and we will continue to support both 
the existing and emerging priorities outlined 
in the new Strategy. 
 
We consult regularly on a formal and informal 
basis with the HWB, its membership and its 
Chair. In particular, we consult with the HWB 
on our strategies and plans, and how these 
contribute to the delivery of the health and 
wellbeing strategy for Leeds. For example, in 
preparation for the submission of plans for 
16/17 we have provided a full analysis of how 
our plans and priorities meet the refreshed 
health and wellbeing strategy for 2016-21.   
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board discussed a 
paper at its meeting on 20 April 2017, which 
brought together extracts of the draft annual 
reports from the three Leeds CCGs. These 
gave examples of partnership working in 
contributing to the delivery of the city’s health 
and wellbeing strategy. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board 
acknowledged the extent to which the CCGs 
had contributed to the health and wellbeing 
strategy. The board asked that in future the 
CCGs engage with members on our annual 
reports at an earlier stage. 
  

Leeds Integrated Commissioning 
Executive (ICE) 

Leeds ICE is the Executive arm of the Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Board. This is a 
Committee in Common with Leeds City 
Council and NHS England (in relation to its 
direct commissioning responsibilities).  Leeds 
ICE has oversight of the joint health and social 
care commissioning agenda in the city and has 
responsibility for negotiating opportunities for 
integrated commissioning of Health and social 
care services in Leeds. LSE CCG are 
represented by the Clinical Chief Officer and 
the Chief Operating Officer, with the Chief 
Finance Officer in attendance 

Leeds CCG Network 

We have entered into joint arrangements with 
NHS Leeds North Clinical Commissioning 

Group and NHS Leeds West Clinical 
Commissioning Group via the Leeds CCG 
Network.  This is not a sub-committee of the 
CCG but a cross-city working group.   A 
documented Memorandum of Understanding 
is in place describing the joint commissioning 
arrangements within the Leeds health 
economy including the sharing of local 
commissioning strategies, the identification of 
commonalities and the delegation of 
contracting responsibilities.  We are 
represented by the Clinical Chief Officer, Chief 
Finance Officer, Chief Operating Officer and 
Medical Director. 

 

4.4 Assessment of 
effectiveness of 
Governing Body 
including UK  

  
Whilst we are not required to comply with the 
UK Corporate Governance Code, we have 
reported on our corporate governance 
arrangements by drawing upon best practice 
including those aspects of the UK corporate 
governance code we consider relevant to our 
CCG and best practice. 
 
As part of its annual review, the Governing 
Body has completed a Governing Body 
effectiveness survey based on the Governing 
Body observation checklist tool developed by 
the Good Governance Institute for NHS 
England. The response to the survey will be 
used to provide a development programme 
for the Governing Body during 2017/18.  
 
The Terms of Reference for each of the 
Governing Body’s  Committees have been 
reviewed in year  and each Committee has a 
Work Programme linked to the Terms of 
Reference and aligned Strategic Aims and 
Statutory Duties. The Committee structure 
was felt overall to be providing effective 
assurance on the delivery of the CCG’s 
statutory duties. The arrangements for the 
reporting and review of risks was felt to be 
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effective at both Governing Body and 
Committee level. 
 
Discharge of Statutory Functions 

Arrangements put in place by the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and explained within 
the Corporate Governance Framework were 
developed with extensive expert external 
legal input, to ensure compliance with the all 
relevant legislation.  That legal advice also 
informed the matters reserved for 
Membership Body and Governing Body 
decision and the scheme of delegation. 
In light of the Harris Review, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group has reviewed all of the 
statutory duties and powers conferred on it 
by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and other associated legislative and 
regulations.   
 
As a result, I can confirm that the Clinical 
Commissioning Group is clear about the 
legislative requirements associated with each 
of the statutory functions for which it is 
responsible, including any restrictions on 
delegation of those functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has 
been clearly allocated to a lead Director.  
Directorates have confirmed that their 
structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the clinical 
commissioning group’s statutory duties. 
 

Risk management arrangements 
and effectiveness 

The Accountable Officer and Directors of the 
CCG lead the risk management process, to 
ensure an integrated and holistic approach to 
the CCG’s risk management activities. 

The CCG has adopted a risk management 
strategy as well as a risk management process 
for risks. This aims to: 
 

• Ensure structures and processes are in 
place to support the assessment and 
management of risk throughout the 

CCG and across the three CCG’s in 
Leeds; 

• Achieve a culture that encourages all 
staff to identify and control risks 
which may adversely affect the 
operational ability of the CCG; 

• Assure the public, patients and their 
carers and representatives, staff and 
partner organisations that the CCG is 
committed to managing risk 
appropriately.  

 
The CCG Risk Management Strategy 2015-17 
sets out the process for identifying, recording, 
reporting, quantifying, managing and 
reviewing risks. Risks identified from a broad 
range of sources including incidents, 
complaints, internal audit reports and reports 
by external bodies are recorded on the CCG 
risk register. Risks that may affect the ability 
of the CCG to meet its strategic objectives are 
recorded on the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework (GBAF).  

Risk management is embedded within the 
CCG and into the wider working through a 
number of different routes. For example the 
CCG operates a city wide incident reporting 
system which facilitates the review of 
incidents to identify any as a potential risk to 
the CCG.  
The CCG has two risk management processes 
in place as described in the risk management 
strategy; the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework (GBAF) and the risk register.  
 
The Governing Body Assurance 
Framework (GBAF) 2016-17  

The Governing Body Assurance Framework 
(GBAF) sets out how the CCG manages the 
principal risks to delivering its strategic 
objectives. The CCG Governing Body owns and 
determines the content of the GBAF, 
identifying the strategic risks to achieving the 
CCG’s objectives and monitoring progress 
throughout the year.  
 
The GBAF provides an effective focus on 
strategic and reputational risk rather than 
operational issues, highlighting any gaps in 
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controls and assurances. It provides the 
Governing Body with confidence that the 
systems and processes in place are operating 
in a way that is safe and effective. A director 
lead has been assigned to each risk and they 
have overall responsibility for their risk with 
support from a manager and the Governance 
leads.  Each risk is regularly reviewed to 
ensure the controls and assurances remain 
valid and any identified gaps are mitigated by 
timely implementation of clearly defined 
actions. The updates are reported to bi-
monthly meetings of the Governing Body. The 
controls, assurances and gaps in controls and 
assurance are scrutinised along with any 
actions required to work towards reducing the 
potential risk.  
 
Risk Registers  

The risk register is a record of all the 
significant risks faced by the organisation. In 
summary the risk register contains a 
description of the risk, the risk owner, the 
controls in place and any outstanding actions 
as well as a risk score. All identified risks have 
an executive director risk owner and an 
appointed responsible manager to ensure 
appropriate accountability for the 
management of the risk.   
 
 A web-based risk register system, Datix, is in 
place within the CCG which enables all staff to 
access and record risks. Staff have access to a 
standardised risk assessment form for the 
recording of risks and the Risk Management 
Strategy provides a standard risk scoring 
matrix for risk owners to use to score the level 
of each particular risk to ensure consistency. 
All risks that are added to the system are 
reviewed and approved by the identified risk 
owner Director before being accepted as an 
active risk on the CCG risk register. There are 
a number of risk reporting training sessions 
delivered on an annual basis for all staff to 
attend. This is it ensure staff understand the 
risk management system and can openly 
report and manage risks. 
 
The Strategy documents set levels of risk 
score that determine which risks are managed 

at an operational level on the risk register and 
those that are escalated to the corporate risk 
register for review by the Governing Body.  
 
The operational risks are managed within 
directorates with support from the city wide 
governance team. When risks increase in 
score, red 15 or above, these are escalated to 
the corporate risk register. The risks are 
reviewed and updated on a regular cycle with 
risk owners and the corporate risk register is 
reviewed every two months by the Governing 
Body. Corporate and ‘high amber’ risks (those 
scored at 12 or above) are reported every two 
months to the relevant CCG committee. 
Responsible managers utilise various data 
streams to regularly assess the levels of risk 
they are managing and update the risks to 
ensure that an accurate position is presented. 
 
The Datix risk management system enables 
risks to be captured at a local level as well as 
city wide. City wide risks are recorded and 
reviewed by each CCG prior to acceptance on 
the risk register. Where risks vary in impact 
and likelihood across the city these are 
managed by the specific CCG to ensure it 
reflects the local position. It is the combined 
city-wide and local risks that form the CCG 
Risk Register. 
 
Capacity to Handle Risk 

We take the management of risk seriously and 
the Governing Body, Executive Directors, 
managers and staff work together to provide 
an integrated approach to the management of 
risk and in developing a culture of reporting 
risk, understanding and challenging risk and 
providing opportunities for the analysis of risk 
and discussions on risk across the whole 
organisation. 

We have appointed an executive Director lead 
for risk management who reports to the 
Governing Body on the risk management 
process.  The Chief Finance Officer was the 
Executive Director lead for Governance until 
February 2016, when this became the 
responsibility of the Chief Operating Officer. 
The Chief Finance Officer retained the SIRO 
responsibility until 28 February 2017. The 
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SIRO responsibility passed to the Acting 
Director of nursing and Corporate Affairs from 
1 March 2017.  

Risk Management is a key task of the Audit 
and Governance Committee which is chaired 
by a Lay Member of the Governing Body.   

The Citywide Governance Team is responsible 
for a training programme across the 
organisation to provide staff with support on 
the writing of risks, the culture of risk 
reporting, and an understanding of why risk is 
a key element of internal control for the 
organisation.  The team works with Directors, 
senior managers and staff, both individually 
and collectively, to discuss, advise and 
facilitate progress on the Risk Management 
Strategy.  

Risk Assessment 

The CCG recognises the need for a robust 
focus on the identification and management 
of risks and therefore places risk within an 
integral part of our overall approach to 
quality.  

As Accountable Officer, I have overall 
responsibility for risk management in the CCG.  
Risk is assessed in accordance with the CCG 
Risk Management Strategy 2015-17.  This 
requires managers to identify risks through 
established reporting streams and assess the 
likelihood and consequences of the risk 
occurring. This is done using a measurement 
matrix included in the strategy. This ensures a 
consistent approach to risk assessment 
regardless of the individual performing it. The 
likelihood and consequence matrix reflects 
the organisation’s agreed risk levels and those 
at which escalation to senior managers and 
directors is required.  
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The risks on the corporate risk register that were escalated for review by the CCG Governing Body as 
at 31st March 2017 are summarised below:  

Risk ID Risk Title Risk score 
532 Commissioner and/or Lead provider fails to achieve the operational 

standard for the 18 week Referral to Treatment Time:  
 
Failure to achieve the Referral to Treatment Time standard of no more 
than 8% of patients waiting more than 18 weeks from Referral To 
Treatment in each reporting specialty at month end either as a CCG or 
within LTHT as lead provider for Leeds residents. 
 

 
 
 

16 
 
 

286 Outpatient follow up waiting list:  
 
Failure to be seen in outpatient clinics by the date given by their 
consultant causing potential risk to patient safety, particularly in 
colorectal surgery and gastroenterology. 
 

 
16 

 
 

466 The achievement of the national Ambulance standards: 
 
There is risk to the quality of care provided to all patients requiring the 
assistance of the Yorkshire Ambulance Service (YAS). This is due to the 
continued failure of the ambulance service to meet the national 
performance targets across the city of Leeds. As a result for patients 
requiring this level of service there is an escalated risk with the potential 
to impact on their health condition, treatment and recovery. 
 

 
 
 

16 

 
The CCG Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) describes the CCG’s principal risks to 
achieving its strategic objectives. Each GBAF risk has an identified accountable Director and 
Governing body Committee for clarity of where the responsibility lies for managing and monitoring 
the risk.  Executive Directors ensure that adequate control measures are identified against each 
element of risk and that the appropriate assurances are generated. 

Summary of Governing Body Assurance Framework risks (31 March 2017)  

CCG Strategic 
Aim 

Risk Title Assurances (summary) Risk 
score 

To improve the 
health of the 
whole 
population and 
reduce 
inequalities in 
our communities 

Resources are not 
targeted effectively to 
areas of most need 
leading to failure to 
improve health in the 
poorest areas 

• Memorandum of Understanding in place 
with Leeds City Council for Public health 

• Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in place 
• Health and Wellbeing Board 
• Public Health member of CCG 
• Better Care Fund Programme 
• Integrated Care Partnership Board 
• Joint public health and CCG services 

 

 
12 

To secure 
continuous 
improvement in 
the quality and 

The CCG fails to gain 
assurance from Providers 
that services delivered 
are compliant with 

• Quality performance and provider 
management groups 

• Contracts and KPIs in place 
• West Yorkshire Quality Surveillance Group 

9 
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CCG Strategic 
Aim 

Risk Title Assurances (summary) Risk 
score 

safety of all 
services 
commissioned 
for our 
population 

quality standards 
resulting in poor quality 
and unsafe care 

• Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 
scheme 

• CCG Quality and Safety Committee 
• Patient Insight Group 

 
To ensure that 
public, patient 
and carer voices 
are at the centre 
of our 
healthcare 
services, from 
planning to 
delivery 
 

Ineffective patient and 
public engagement 
results in commissioning 
decisions that do not 
reflect the local 
population 

• Patient Assurance Group 
• Neighbourhood leaders group 
• myNHSmyVOICE network 
• Patient engagement network 
• Communications, Engagement, Equality and 

Diversity Plan 
• Engagement matrix 

 

12 

To deliver 
continuous 
improvement in 
health and social 
care systems 
within available 
resources 

The CCG may breach its 
financial duties in 
relation to CCG 
commissioning and 
running cost 
responsibilities 

• Robust finance plans  
• Leeds Plan and WY STP 
• Contract management and Cost 

Improvement Plans in place 
• Leeds CCGs MOU 
• CCG QIPP programme 

 

 
10 

Complexities of the 
multi-provider 
environment  and 
resource availability may 
inhibit new models of 
care 

• One Voice proposal 
• Organisational Development Plan 
• 5 year Forward View 
• WY Sustainability and Transformation plan 

and Leeds Plan 
• New models of Care 
• Population Health Management 

 

16 

System resilience 
shortfalls leading to  
failure to meet patient 
needs 

• System Resilience Assurance Board 
• A&E improvement plan 
• DTOC task and finish group 
• Integrated discharge service 
• System flow board 
• Community bed strategy 

 

16 

To develop and 
maintain a 
healthy 
organisation to 
underpin the 
effective 
delivery of our 
strategy 

Lack of member 
engagement and primary 
care capacity will impact 
on the delivery of the 
CCG strategy 

• Primary care Strategy 
• GP Federation development 
• New Models of Care 
• Quality Improvement schemes 
• Estates strategy 
• Engagement scheme 
• GP leadership development 

 

12 
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Other sources of assurance  

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of 
processes and procedures in place in the 
clinical commissioning group to ensure it 
delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to 
be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. 

We have assigned both internal and external 
auditors to provide the Governing Body with 
independent assurance of its process of 
internal control and to assure itself of the 
validity of this Governance Statement. 

Throughout the year a series of audits have 
been undertaken to review the effectiveness 
of governance systems.  The reports from 
these audits are submitted to the Audit and 
Governance Committee.  All audit reports 
contain action plans of work required as a 
result of the review findings.  All actions are 
assigned to a senior manager with 
responsibility to complete within the 
designated timescales.  Managers are held to 
account by the Audit and Governance 
Committee for completion of all actions.  

The Governing Body Assurance Framework 
and the Corporate Risk Register are standing 
agenda items on the Governing Body and 
Audit and Governance Committee agendas.  
This allows the CCG Governing Body members 
to cross-check current identified risks with 
any other significant developments that may 
arise on these agendas to ensure any 
identified problems are appropriately 
recorded on the risk register. 

In year Governing Body Committees have 
discussed risks on their Committee agenda 

that relate to their portfolio or work and 
report to the Governing Body of their findings. 

The Committees will consider where gaps in 
control and gaps in assurance are identified 
and what actions are required to mitigate the 
gaps.  The Committee will request ‘deep 
dives’ into risks on their agenda to allow for 
further scrutiny of assurances, mitigation, 
actions and progress. 

The provider for Commissioning Support 
Services from 1 April 2016 is eMBED Health 
Consortium Yorkshire and Humber.  

Annual audit of conflicts of interest 
management  

Following publication of “Managing Conflicts 
of Interest: Revised Statutory Guidance for 
CCGs (NHSE, June 2016), the CCG updated its 
Conflicts of Interest and Standards of Business 
Conduct Policies which were subsequently 
approved by the Governing Body. In 
accordance with the requirements of the 
guidance the Governing Body appointed the 
Lay Chair of the Audit & Governance 
Committee as its Conflicts of Interest 
Guardian.  

Furthermore, the CCG has also ensured that 
an annual audit of conflicts of interest 
management has been carried out based on 
the published audit framework template and 
which concluded that there is significant 
assurance that the CCG has put in place 
arrangements to manage conflicts of interest 
that comply with the statutory guidance 
issued by NHS England in June 2016.  The CCG 
can demonstrate a positive approach and 
culture towards the management of conflicts 
of interest. 

Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework 
sets the processes and procedures by which 
the NHS handles information about patients 
and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information.  The NHS 
Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an information governance 
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toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical 
commissioning group, other organisations and 
to individuals that personal information is 
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and 
effectively. 

We place high importance on ensuring there 
are robust information governance systems 
and processes in place to help protect patient 
and corporate information.  We have 
established an information governance 
management framework and are developing 
information governance processes and 
procedures in line with the information 
governance toolkit.  We reviewed our 
overarching Information Governance 
Strategic, Vision and Policy Framework this 
year and enhanced staff awareness.  We have 
ensured all staff undertake annual 
information governance training and have 
implemented a staff information governance 
handbook to ensure staff are aware of their 
information governance roles and 
responsibilities. 

The CCG has a suite of approved Information 
Governance policies and has provided the 
associated staff awareness. It has also 
reviewed the service specification with its IT 
supplier which has included additional 
assurances around data security, and more 
recently assurances around Cyber security. 
The CCG continues to use a specialist data 
centre to process any person identifiable data. 

The CCG undertook an assessment of its IG 
arrangements through completion of the 
Information Governance Toolkit (IGT). This 
included a review of key factors via our 
internal auditors. The CCG reached the 
required level in all the requirements.   The 
CCG has approved ‘consolidated’ data sharing 
agreements in place with NHS Digital to cover 
national data flows that have been de-
identified to the required standard. 

The CCG has a governing body-level officer 
responsible for information security and the 
associated management processes, and this 
role is known as the Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO). The CCG has a governing body-

level clinician responsible for ensuring that all 
flows of patient information are justified and 
secure, and this role is known as the Caldicott 
Guardian. IG training is mandatory for all staff, 
to ensure that staff are aware of their 
information governance roles and 
responsibilities. Staff compliance is regularly 
monitored. 

There are processes in place for incident 
reporting and investigation of serious 
incidents.  We are developing information risk 
assessment and management procedures and 
a programme will be established to fully 
embed an information risk culture throughout 
the organisation against identified risks. 

There is an Information Governance 
Committee which reports to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. These are formal 
meetings with associated minutes and action 
tracking. From April 2016 the CCG secured 
expert IG practitioner and advisory service 
from eMBED Health Consortium. Any 
breaches of security are managed within the 
CCG risk management policy and reported 
using the Datix risk management system; no 
breaches have been reported during 2016/17.  

Data Security 

We have submitted a satisfactory level of 
compliance with the information governance 
toolkit assessment. The Information 
Governance Toolkit submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical 
commissioning group, other organisations and 
to individuals that personal information is 
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and 
effectively. This included a review of key 
factors via our internal auditors. The CCG 
continues be an Accredited Safe Haven (ASH). 
This means the CCG provides a safe 
environment for the processing of 
information containing NHS numbers.  

The CCG has arrangements in place to ensure 
data security. The CCG has contractual 
arrangements in in place with an accredited IT 
provider. From 1 April 2016 this arrangement 
is with eMbed Health Consortium and the 
North East Commissioning Support Unit 
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(NECS). The required Data Processing 
Agreements are in place. EMbed provided the 
IT facilities required to store the data needed 
for CCG business. The CCG does not hold 
‘local’ data. From 1 April 2016, NECS were 
approved by NHS Digital to process 
confidential data on the CCGs behalf. The CCG 
also uses national IT systems such as Oracle 
financials. These are operated under 
nationally stipulated security arrangements. 
All CCG staff have undertaken the required IG 
training to handle data securely. 

Business Critical Models and Data 
Quality 

A Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) has 
been appointed to ensure the Governing Body 
that any potential information risks are 
identified and mitigated. To enable this, the 
SIRO has put in place an information 
governance management framework. This 
framework includes ensuring that business 
critical systems are identified and managed 
effectively as recommended in the 
Macpherson report. As part of the 
management framework, Information Asset 
Owners (IAOs) have been appointed that 
cover the range of business systems used by 
the CCG. The IAOs have been trained. Their 
responsibility in relation to Business Critical 
systems involves the maintenance of an 
information asset register relevant to their 
organisational remit, the maintenance of 
service continuity plans and the continuity of 
key skills to operate such systems. For 
example, this would cover the operation and 
use of finance systems such as the Oracle 
financials. 

The CCG has assessed its predictive business 
models along with the associated level of 
criticality. Examples are: Risk Stratification, 
Activity and Contract plans/forecasts and cash 
forecasts. Each business critical area has the 
required level of professional and 
management input. Data quality is monitored 
and there are service level agreements 
associated with the external provision of 
models such as Risk Stratification. Some 
external models such as Office for National 
Statistics (ONS) population forecasting are 

also classed as business critical, though not 
provided internally or via a service level 
agreement. The CCG has experience of 
robustly challenging the quality and accuracy 
of such external models. 
 
The CCG has reviewed the Macpherson report 
on government analytical models and has 
concluded that is does not currently create 
any analytical models that fit the criteria 
within that report and hence need to be 
notified to the Analytical Oversight 
Committee. 
 
Third party assurances 

eMBED Health Consortium Yorkshire and 
Humber –provide a number of services to the 
CCG that were previously undertaken by the 
West and South Yorkshire Commissioning 
Support Unit.  

eMBED state that following external audits 
conducted in services delivered to the CCG, 
that they will furnish updates to the CCG to 
provide insight in relation to the level of 
assurance obtained.  

eMBED have established an Information 
Governance Steering Group which is chaired 
by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) 
within the Business and attended by the 
Caldicott Guardian,  and the Head of 
Information Security for Kier Group. In 
January 2017 the IG Toolkit Training 
completion status for eMBED employees was 
at 96%. 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust provides 
payroll services to the CCG.  In 2015/16 the 
CCG received confirmation that the Payroll 
function, including Pensions, was found to be 
operating within a well-defined and effective 
control environment and payments were 
judged to be appropriate and bona fide. The 
Trust’s Internal Auditors’ determined that 
“full assurance” could be given with regard to 
the operation of Payroll processing controls. 

In 2016/17 the Trust’s Internal Auditors 
moved from annual to cyclical audits of key 
financial systems, with the Head of Internal 
Audit confirming that as Payroll was not 
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considered an area of risk for 2016/17 it 
would not be subject to an Internal Audit 
review during this financial year.  This was 
subsequently agreed with the Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust Audit Committee. The 
CCG has received assurance from the Trust’s 
Head of Financial Services that he had no 
reason to believe that the Payroll service 
received was not properly controlled, 
managed and resourced. 

Control Issues  

The CCG did not identify any control issues 
within the Month 09 Governance statement 
return and no issues have arisen subsequently 
that require reporting in this Governance 
Statement. 

 
Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of 
resources 

The Governing Body has overarching 
responsibility for ensuring that there are 
appropriate arrangements in place to exercise 
its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically. 

The CCG has developed and continues to 
refine systems and processes to effectively 
manage financial risks and to secure a stable 
financial position. 

The Financial Plan was developed for 
2016/17, and budgets set within this Plan, and 
signed off by the Governing Body prior to the 
start of the financial year.  

These budgets were communicated to 
managers and budget holders within the 
organisation. The Chief Finance Officer and his 
team have worked closely with managers to 
ensure robust annual budgets were prepared 
and delivered.  

Finance reports are presented to Executive 
Management Team meetings, each Governing 
Body meeting and the CCG’s Finance, Activity 
and Performance Committee.  In addition a 
summary version is presented to each 

meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. Alongside the financial position, 
performance against statutory duties, risks 
and actions to mitigate risks are reported and 
discussed. 

The CCG makes full use of internal audit 
functions to ensure controls are operating 
effectively and to advise on areas for 
improvement. Audit reports, action plans and 
implementation are discussed in detail at 
meetings of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

The CCG’s Annual Accounts are reviewed by 
the Audit and Governance Committee. 

The CCG’s future plans reflect the anticipated 
lower levels of growth and transfer of 
resource to the Local Authority, as part of The 
Better Care Fund. The CCG is actively engaged 
in discussions in this regard to ensure 
resources are prioritised in line with its 
strategic direction. 

We also recognise the need to achieve cost 
reductions through improved efficiency and 
productivity and work is ongoing to develop 
schemes to achieve the QIPP targets which 
form part of future financial plans. 

Delegation of functions 

The CCG has delegated decision-making on an 
aspect of its expenditure through a risk 
pooling arrangement with Leeds City Council.- 
the Better Care Fund.  Governance processes 
have been clearly outlined in a formal 
agreement and control of resources remains 
within the three CCGs in Leeds who make 
recommendations in partnership with the 
Council to the Health and Wellbeing Board for 
ratification. 
 
Counter fraud arrangements 

The CCG's counter fraud arrangements are in 
compliance with NHS Protect’s Standards for 
commissioners: fraud, bribery and corruption. 

The CCG has contracted with Audit Yorkshire 
which provide an Accredited Counter Fraud 
Specialist (LCFS) to undertake counter fraud 
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work. The LCFS meets regularly with the Chief 
Finance Officer who is responsible for 
overseeing and providing strategic 
management and support for all anti-fraud, 
bribery and corruption work within the 
organisation.  
 
The CCG’s Audit Committee reviews and 
approves an annual counter fraud plan 
identifying the actions to be undertaken to 
create an anti-fraud culture, deter prevent, 
detect and, where not prevented, investigate 
suspicions of fraud. The counter fraud team 
also produces an annual report and regular 
progress reports for the review and 
consideration of the Chief Finance Officer and 
Audit Committee.  

 
The LCFS also attends all Audit Committee 
meetings and provides a progress report on 
the work undertaken. This includes a report 
on the outcome of the self-assessment 
against the NHS Protect Standards for 
Commissioners.   
 
The 2016/17 assessment was completed and 
submitted in March 2017 with an overall 
assessment of green 
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4.5 Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion on the 
effectiveness of the 
CCG. 

 

Roles and responsibilities  

On behalf of the CCG, the Governing Body is 
collectively accountable for maintaining a 
sound system of internal control and is 
responsible for putting in place arrangements 
for gaining assurance about the effectiveness 
of that overall system.   
 
The Governance Statement is an annual 
statement by the Accountable Officer, on 
behalf of the CCG and the Governing Body, 
setting out: 
 
• How the individual responsibilities of the 

Accountable Officer are discharged with 
regard to maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the 
achievement of policies, aims and 
objectives; 

• The purpose of the system of internal 
control as evidenced by a description of 
the risk management and review 
processes, including the Assurance 
Framework process; 

• The conduct and results of the review of 
the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control including any disclosures of 
significant control failures together with 
assurances that actions are or will be 
taken where appropriate to address 
issues arising. 

 
The organisation’s Assurance Framework 
should bring together all of the evidence 
required to support the Governance 
Statement requirements. 
 
In accordance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit 
(HoIA) is required to provide an annual 
opinion, based upon and limited to the work 

performed, on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s risk 
management, control and governance 
processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of 
internal control). This is achieved through a 
risk-based plan of work, agreed with 
management and approved by the Audit 
Committee, which should provide a 
reasonable level of assurance, subject to the 
inherent limitations described below.  

The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit 
has reviewed all risks and assurances relating 
to the organisation. As such, it is one 
component that the CCG and Governing Body 
take into account in making its Governance 
Statement. 
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The Head of Internal Audit opinion 

The purpose of my annual Head of Internal 
Audit Opinion is to contribute to the 
assurances available to the Accountable 
Officer, the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Governing Body which underpins the 
assessment of the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s system of internal control. This 
opinion will in turn assist the organisation in 
the completion of its Governance Statement. 

 
My opinion is set out as follows: 
 

1. Overall opinion; 
2. Basis for the opinion; 
3. Commentary. 

 
My overall opinion is that 
 
o Significant assurance can be given that 

there is a generally sound system of 
internal control, designed to meet the 
organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied 
consistently.  
 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 
1. An assessment of the design and 

operation of the underpinning 
Assurance Framework and supporting 
processes; and 

 
2. An assessment of the range of 

individual opinions arising from risk-
based audit assignments, contained 
within the internal audit risk-based 
plan, that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment 
has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and 
management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses. 

 
The commentary below provides the context 
for my opinion and together with the opinion 
should be read in its entirety. 
 
 

The design and operation of the Assurance 
Framework and associated processes. 

During 2016/2017 the CCG’s arrangements for 
managing risk and providing assurance to the 
Governing Body have continued to mature.   
 
The Governing Body has agreed an Assurance 
Framework, the Governing Body retains 
oversight of the design and content of the 
Assurance Framework.  The Governing Body 
has reviewed the Assurance Framework three 
times this financial year to date.   

The Corporate Risk Register has been 
reviewed by the Governing Body at four of 
five meetings held this financial year; the 
Governing Body is well sighted on the risk 
facing the organisation. 
 
The audit of Primary Care Co-commissioning 
Governance has provided significant 
assurance on the operation of the 
arrangements. Two further audits have 
provided significant assurance on aspects of  
the governance arrangements at the CCG. 
These relate to the Business Continuity Plan 
and the CCG’s Management of Conflicts of 
Interest. 
  
The range of individual opinions arising from 
risk-based audit assignments, contained 
within risk-based plans that have been 
reported throughout the year. 

The 2016/17 Internal Audit Operational Plan 
was approved by the Audit Committee on 17 
March 2016.   The work of Internal Audit 
continues to focus on the design and 
embedding of core processes to underpin the 
delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives.  As 
such the audit plan was structured around the 
following key responsibilities of the CCG:  
 

• Governance  
• Securing Improvements in Quality 
• Commissioning and Contract 

Management 
• Partnerships 
• Financial Governance  
• Information Governance. 
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Following the completion of an audit an audit 
report is issued and an assurance level 
awarded.  The following assurance levels are 
used: 
 
Full Assurance There is an adequate and effective system of 

internal control designed, and consistently 
applied, to address the risk that system 
objectives are not fully achieved. 

Significant 
Assurance 

There is a generally sound system of internal 
control designed to address the risk that 
system objectives are not fully achieved.  
However, there are weaknesses in design 
and / or non-compliance with controls that 
could put some of the system objectives at 
risk. 

Limited 
Assurance 

The system of internal control has 
weaknesses in design and/or application 
that put the systems objectives at risk of not 
being achieved. 

No Assurance  The system of internal control has failed or 
there is a real and substantial risk that the 
system will fail to meet its objectives. 

 

An action plan is agreed with management.  In 
order to ensure significant progress is being 
made in the implementation of agreed actions 
an Audit Recommendations Status Report is 
presented to every Audit Committee. The CCG 
has evidenced significant progress against 
implementation of audit recommendations 
throughout the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The outcome of the assurance audit reports 
from the 2016/2017 audit plan are 
summarised below: 
 

 
Audit Assurance Level 

Management of Conflicts of Interest  Significant 

Business Continuity Planning Significant 

Continuing Healthcare Significant 

Primary Care Co-commissioning, 
Governance, Quality and Performance 

Significant 

Systems Resilience Group Significant 

QIPP Significant 

Budgetary Control Significant 

Key Financial Systems Full 

Information Governance Toolkit Significant 

 

Taking into account the internal audit work 
completed to date, all of my findings and the 
CCG’s actions to date in response to my 
recommendations to date, I believe no areas 
of significant risk remain. 
 
Helen Kemp Taylor 
Managing Director and Head of Internal 
Audit 
May 2017 
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Review of the effectiveness of 
Governance, Risk Management and 
Internal Control 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility 
for reviewing the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control. My review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control 
is informed by the work of the internal 
auditors and the executive managers and 
clinical leads within the CCG who have 
responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on performance 
information available to me. My review is also 
informed by comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter and other 
reports. 

Our Governing Body Assurance Framework 
provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage the 
risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group in 
achieving its principles objectives have been 
reviewed. 

I have been advised on the implications of the 
result of my review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the Governing 
Body, the Audit and Governance Committee 
and the other Committees and a plan to 
address any weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system is in 
place.   

The formal process for maintaining and 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control includes the following: 

• Governing Body keeps under review the 
systems of internal control through 
reports in relation to risk management 
and the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework. Regular reports are also 
received in respect of performance, 
contracting, finance and quality and 
assurance from the Committees in respect 
of the responsibilities they oversee; 

• The Audit and Governance Committee 
has oversight of the CCG’s financial 
systems, financial information, risk 

management, audit, information 
governance and corporate governance; 
 

• At a Committee level the Finance, Activity 
and Performance and Quality 
Committees take responsibility for 
keeping under review the governance 
arrangements relating to finance, 
contracting, performance and clinical 
governance; 

 
• The Patient Assurance Group provide 

assurance to the Governing Body in 
respect of patient and Public engagement 
responsibilities; 

 
• Internal Auditors, including counter fraud 

provide further assurance through the 
delivery of their Annual Work Plan and 
providing assurance as well as 
recommendations on different aspects 
within the system of internal control; 

 
• Self-assessment of the Committee 

governance arrangements undertaken on 
an annual basis provides assurance on the 
effectiveness of the Committees in 
carrying out their responsibilities; 

• Third Party Assurance. Alongside the 
Head of Internal Audit Opinion and the 
Annual Report, the CCG considers the 
assurance statements received from other 
service providers. 
 

During the year no significant internal control 
issues were raised. 

We promote good governance and proper 
stewardship of public resources in pursuance 
of its goals and in meeting its statutory duties. 
At all times the principles of good governance 
are applied to the conduct of business. 

Our Constitution; Standing Orders; Prime 
Financial Policies and Scheme of Reservation 
and Delegation set out the governance 
principles, structures and procedures to 
effectively maintain the system of internal 
control and demonstrate transparency and 
accountability. 
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The Governing Body has an Annual Work 
Programme to ensure the delivery of the 
CCG’s Strategic Aims. 

In addition each Committee is responsible for 
providing the Governing Body with assurance 
in relation to its remit, which includes: 

• Delivery in relation to the Strategic Aims 
of the CCG; 

• Delivery of the Statutory Duties of the 
CCG;  

• Scrutiny of the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework and Corporate Risk Register. 
 

The Chairs of each Committee provide a 
written summary report to the Governing 
Body following each Committee, which 
provides assurance on the matters that each 
Committee is responsible for in its Terms of 
Reference and Work Programme. 

The role of the Audit and Governance 
Committee is to provide the Governing Body 
with an independent and objective view of 
our financial systems, financial information 
and compliance with laws, regulations and 
directions directing us in so far as they relate 
to finance.  The Committee ensures there is 
an effective internal audit function that meets 
mandatory NHS Internal Audit Standards (or 
other relevant guidance) which provides 
appropriate independent assurance to the 
Audit and Governance Committee, Clinical 
Chief Officer and Governing Body.  This is 
achieved by: the review and approval of the 
Internal Audit Strategy, Operational Plan and 
more detailed programme of work, ensuring 
that this is consistent with the audit needs of 
the organisation, as identified in the 
Governing Body Assurance Framework. The 
Committee also reviews the work and findings 
of the External Auditors.  

Conclusion 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion states the 
CCG can take "significant assurance" from its 
system of internal control and that they do 
not consider there are any issues that need to 
be flagged as significant internal control 
issues.   

I am therefore satisfied that the CCG operates 
effective and sound systems of internal 
control.  

 
 
Phil Corrigan 
Chief Executive / Accountable Officer 
25 May 2017  
 
 
(Dr Andy Harris was Clinical Chief 
Officer/Accountable Officer until his 
retirement from this position on 31 March 
2017.  

Phil Corrigan was appointed Chief 
Executive/Accountable Officer from 1 April 
2017). 
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5. REMUNERATION 
AND STAFF REPORT 
 

5.1 Policy on 
Remuneration of 
Directors and Senior 
Managers  

 

All Executive Directors and Non-Executive 
Directors are appointed by the CCG through 
an open recruitment process.  The 
remuneration and terms of service for the Lay 
Chair, Clinical Chief Officer, Chief Finance 
Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Medical 
Director, Director of Nursing, Quality and 
Corporate Affairs, Lay Member for 
Governance and Audit, Lay member for 
Patient and Public Involvement, Secondary 
Care Consultant and the GP Non-Executives 
are in line with recommendations by the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
The Governing Body has ensured the highest 
level of independence consistent with the 
principle that no member of the committee 
shall be involved in recommending their own 
remuneration or terms of appointment. 

In setting the remuneration of the Clinical 
Chief Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer the CCG adheres to the 
guiding principles of the Hutton Review of Fair 
Pay. In 2016/17 all Governing Body members 
received a 1% pay increase. 

Current contracts do not require any 
performance related elements which would 
impact on the remuneration packages.  All 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors are 
subject to individual performance reviews and 

their performance is assessed against 
personal and corporate objectives. 

Key performance objectives will be based on 
the targets of the NHS Leeds South and East 
CCG’s Operational Plan. This involves setting 
and agreeing objectives on an annual basis. 

In delivering performance targets and 
personal objectives they will adhere to the 
standards of conduct as articulated in the 
‘code of conduct for NHS Managers’. 

5.2 Disclosure of senior 
managers of a CCG are 
paid more than 
£142,500 per annum 

 

There are two  posts within the CCG where 
the pro rata salary is in excess of £142,500. 
The post holders are  clinical GPs who work on 
a part time basis for the CCG on a lower pro 
rata rate than the full time equivalent.  The 
organisation requires their clinical input and 
therefore recognises this by paying a salary 
commensurate with their earnings in clinical 
practice. In setting their remuneration the 
CCG, via its remuneration committee has 
taken in to consideration the prevailing 
economic climate, local market conditions, 
the personal impact of a contract of 
employment, PAYE status, and the 
requirement to obtain best possible value for 
money, when reaching the proposed rates of 
remuneration. 
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Salary and Allowances Disclosure (subject to audit)

Name and Title Salary
Expense 

payments 
Note 12

Performance 
pay and 
Bonuses

Long-term 
Performance 

pay and 
Bonuses

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits 

Note 13

Total

Salary Expense 
payments 

Note 12

Performance 
pay and 
Bonuses

Long-term 
Performance 

pay and 
Bonuses

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits 

Note 13

Total

 (bands of 
£5,000)

 (Rounded 
to the 

nearest 
£100)

(bands of 
£5,000)

(bands of 
£5,000)

(bands of 
£2,500)

(bands of 
£5,000)

 (bands of 
£5,000)

 (Rounded 
to the 

nearest £00)

(bands of 
£5,000)

(bands of 
£5,000)

(bands of 
£2,500)

(bands of 
£5,000)

£000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000
Phillip Lewer - Lay Chair 11 40 - 45 28 45 - 50 20 - 25 30 25 - 30
Dr Andy Harris - Clinical Chief Officer 95 - 100 2 -             95 - 100 95 - 100 2 7.5 - 10 105 - 110
Mark Bradley - Chief Finance Officer 2 95 - 100 1 55 - 57.5 155 - 160 100 - 105 2 20 - 22.5 125 - 130
Matt Ward - Chief Operating Officer 100 - 105 1 27.5 - 30 130 - 135 100 - 105 2 37.5 - 40 140 - 145
Dr Dave Mitchell – Medical Director 1 55 - 60 0 55 - 60 55 - 60 55 - 60
Brian Roebuck – Non Executive 11 10 - 15 9 10 - 15 5 - 10 8 5 - 10
Gordon Tollefson – Non Executive 11 10 - 15 5 10 - 15 5 - 10 5 5 - 10
Dr Ben Browning – GP Non Executive 15 - 20 15 - 20 15 - 20 15 - 20
Dr Helen Haywood - GP Non Executive 3 35 - 40 5 - 10 5 - 10 5 - 10
Dr Amal Paul - GP Non Executive 15 - 20 15 - 20 5 - 10 5 - 10
Dr Muhammad Arshad Rafique - GP Non Executive 15 - 20 15 - 20 0 - 5 0 - 5
Maureen Kelly - Director of Nursing and Quality 75 - 80 112.5 - 115 190 - 195 5 - 10 22.5 - 25 30 - 35
David Mitchell - Secondary Care Consultant 4 5 - 10 5 - 10
Kathryn Vause - Interim Chief Finance Officer 5 5 - 10 32.5 - 35 40 - 45
Ellie Monkhouse - Director of Nursing and Quality 6 & 7 25 - 30 12.5 - 15 40 - 45
Dr Alistair Walling – GP Non Executive 8 5 - 10 5 - 10
Dr Tom Gibbs – GP Non Executive 8 5 - 10 5 - 10
Dr Rod Robertson – Secondary Care Consultant 9 5 - 10 5 - 10
Victoria Eaton – Public Health Consultant 10 -             -             -             -             
Notes
1. Resigned with effect from 31st March 2017
2. Resigned with effect from 28th February 2017
3. Dr Haywood in addition to her Non Executive role is employed within the CCG as a clinical lead
4. Commenced Governing Body role on 1st June 2016
5. Commenced Governing Body role on 1st March 2017
6. Total NHS salary is in the band 40 - 45  and Pension related benefits in band 27.5 - 30 but only the element relating to NHS Leeds South & East CCG has been disclosed.
7. Resigned with effect from 26th November 2015
8. Resigned with effect from 24th July 2015
9. Resigned with effect from 31st March 2016
10. Victoria Eaton is employed and remunerated by the Local Authority.
11. Includes payment made in 2016/17 which relates to increased days worked from effective date January 2016.
12. Taxable Benefits relate to the element of taxable travel reimbursement
13. All pension related benefits - clarification over calculation for increase in Pension Entitlement has led to this being restated from 2015/16 Remuneration Report.

2016/17 2015/16

Note
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As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive members. 

Pensions Benefits (subject to audit)

Name and Title Note

Real Increase 
in pension at 
pension age 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real Increase 
in pension 

lump sum at 
pension age 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 
2017 (bands 

of £5,000)

Lump sum at 
pension age 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2017 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2016

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2017

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension

Real Increase 
in pension at 
pension age 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real Increase 
in pension 

lump sum at 
pension age 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 
2016 (bands 

of £5,000)

Lump sum at 
pension age 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2016 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2015

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value Note 4

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2016

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Dr Andy Harris - Clinical Chief Officer 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 15 - 20 55 - 60 378 16 408 0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 15 - 20 50 - 55 350 10 378
Matt Ward - Chief Operating Officer 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 15 - 20 40 - 45 189 7 210 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 15 - 20 40 - 45 167 8 189
Mark Bradley - Chief Finance Officer 1 2.5 - 5 2.5 - 5 30 - 35 80 - 85 416 58 487 0 - 2.5 0 25 - 30 80 - 85 394 4 416
Kathryn Vause - Interim Chief Finance Officer 2 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 20 - 25 50 - 55 305 22 338
Maureen Kelly - Director of Nursing and Governance 5 - 5.5 15 - 17.5 20 - 25 60 - 65 287 111 408 0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 15 - 20 45 - 50 251 15 287
Ellie Monkhouse - Director of Nursing and Quality 3 0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 15 - 20 45 - 50 199 15 222

Notes
Only Governing Body Members for whom contributions are made to a Pension scheme are listed in the table.

1. Resigned with effect from 28th February 2017

2. Commenced Governing Body role on 1st March 2017

3. Total pension details are shown for employment across 2 CCGs.Ellie Monkhouse resigned with effect from 26th November 2015

4. Clarification over calculation for Real increase in CETV has led to this being restated from 2015/16 Remuneration Report.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

Real Increase in CETV

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 
CETVs are calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008.

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start 
and end of the period.
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5.3 Salary and Allowances 
(subject to audit) 

 

Single total figure table 

There have been no significant awards made 
to past senior managers. 

Pension Benefits (subject to audit) 

As Non-Executive members do not receive 
pensionable remuneration, there will be no 
entries in respect of pensions for Non-
Executive members. 

Compensation on early retirement 
or for loss of office 

The CCG did not make any payments for Loss 
of Office in the Financial Year. 

Payments to past directors 

The CCG did not make any payments to past 
Senior Managers in the Financial Year. 

Pay Multiples (subject to audit) 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the 
relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director / member in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of 
the organisation’s workforce.   

 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid 
member of the Governing Body in the clinical 
commissioning group in the financial year 
2016/17 was £162,500 (2015/16 £162,500). 

This was 4.61 times (2015/16 4.67) the 
median remuneration of the workforce, which 
was £35,225 (2015/16 £34,789). 

In 2016/17 no employees received 
remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
member of the Governing Body. 

Remuneration ranged between bands £0 - £5k 
and £160k - £165k. 

Total remuneration includes salary, 
nonconsolidated performance-related pay 
and benefits-in-kind. It does not include 
severance payments, employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer 
value of pensions. 

Payments to agency staff are taken into 
account in the calculation of median 
remuneration. 

There has been no material change in either 
the remuneration of the highest paid member 
of the organisation or the number or 
composition of the general workforce. 

Staff Report 

Number of Senior Managers by band: 

Band/Contract Number of 
People 

Local spot salary Medical 3 
Non-Executive Member/Director 7 
Spot Salary 2 
Agenda for Change 1 

 

Staff Numbers: 

Group Number 
WTE 

Additional Professional Scientific and 
Technical 

8.74 

Administrative and Clerical 96.06 
Allied Health Professionals 3.00 
Medical and Dental 0.49 
Nursing and Midwifery Registered 32.83 

 

Staff Composition: 

Breakdown of staff numbers and gender 
Group Female Male  
Governing Body 4 10 
Grade ‘Very Senior Managers’ 
other than persons falling within 
the above disclosure 

2 4 

Employees of the CCG 123 24 

Highest Paid 
Director 

2016/17 Mid 
Point of 

£5,000 Salary 
Band

Median 
Remuneration 

2016/17
Ratio 

2016/17

Highest Paid 
Director 

2015/16 Mid 
Point of 
£5,000 

Salary Band

Median 
Remuneration 

2015/16
Ratio 

2015/16
£ £ £ £

162,500 35,225 4.61       162,500 34,789 4.67       
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Staff Costs (subject to audit) 

            2016-17 
 

2015-16 
  Total Admin Programme 

 
Total 

  Total 
Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Permanent 
Employees Other 

 
  

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 

£'000 

Salaries and wages 
              

5,855  
              

5,115  
                

740  
              

3,018  
              

2,459  
                

559  
              

2,837  
              

2,656  
                

181  
 

              
6,326  

Social security costs 
                

520  
                

520  
                     

-  
                

267  
                

267  
                     

-  
                

253  
                

253  
                     

-  
 

                
375  

Employer Contributions to 
NHS Pension scheme 

                
652  

                
652  

                     
-  

                
316  

                
316  

                     
-  

                
336  

                
336  

                     
-  

 

                
583  

Termination benefits 
                  

20  
                  

20  
                     

-  
                  

20  
                  

20  
                     

-  
                     

-  
                     

-  
                     

-  
 

                  
23  

Sub Total 
              

7,047  
              

6,307  
                

740  
              

3,621  
              

3,062  
                

559  
              

3,426  
              

3,245  
                

181  
 

              
7,307  

Less recoveries in respect 
of outward secondments 

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

 

                 
(32)  

Total net costs 
              

7,047  
              

6,307  
                

740  
              

3,621  
              

3,062  
                

559  
              

3,426  
              

3,245  
                

181  
 

              
7,275  

            Average number of 
people employed 

           
 

2016-17 2015-16 
       

 
Total 

Permanent 
employed Other Total 

       
 

Number Number Number Number 
       

            
Total 

                
142  

                
134  

                    
8  

                
162  

       
            Of the above: 

           Number of whole time 
equivalent people 
engaged on capital 
projects 

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

                     
-  

        

Sickness absence data 

In 2016/17 we lost a total of 1,663 full time 
equivalent days to sickness absence, equating 
to 3.8% based on the available full time 
equivalent days. This is an average of 11.78 
annual sick days per full time equivalent.  Line 
managers are committed to providing support 
to staff via the Managing Sickness Policy to 
provide excellent working conditions, 
balancing the health needs of staff against the 
needs of the organisation. 

Staff policies applied during the 
financial year 

We have continued to work in partnership 
with trade unions to ensure our Human 
Resource policies and procedures are legally 
compliant and fit for purpose. These policies 

provide a framework for both managers and 
staff to work within on a day to day basis. 

Our HR policies ensure that our staff members 
do not experience discrimination, harassment 
and victimisation and we ensure equality is 
integrated across all our employment 
practices and have a range of policies 
including the following which is not an 
exhaustive list: 

• Acceptable Standards of Behaviour Policy 
(this includes dignity at work); 

• Equal Opportunities Policy; 
• Managing Sickness Absence Policy; and 
• Recruitment and Selection 
• Learning and Development 

Equality impact assessments have been 
carried out on all relevant policies. We 
continue to monitor the impact of the 
implementation of our workforce policies on 
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our staff to ensure that we are proactively 
identifying and addressing any inequalities. 

We value diversity and aim to support 
protected groups, including disabled people 
and people who suffer from mental health 
issues. We will continue work to ensure we 
meet the ambitions of the Mindful Employer 
standard and continue to be recognised as a 
healthy workplace for all our staff. 

We recognise that in order to remove barriers 
experienced by disabled people, we need to 
make reasonable adjustments for our disabled 
employees, which we do on a case by case 
basis, involving occupational health services 
as appropriate.  

We are proud to have been recognised as a 
Disability Confident employer during 2016/17. 
This is a nationally recognised symbol which 
demonstrates our commitment to employ, 
keep and develop the abilities of disabled 
staff. 

5.4 Expenditure on 
consultancy 

During 2016/17 the CCG incurred £66,000 in 
relation to consultancy expenditure 

Off-payroll engagements 

Table 1: For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, 
for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six 
months: 

 

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined 
above, have at some point been subject to a 
risk based assessment as to whether 

assurance is required that the individual is 
paying the right amount of tax and, where 
necessary, assurance has been sought. 

Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 
2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that 
last longer than six months:  

 

Table 3: For any off-payroll engagements of board members, 
and/or, senior officials with significant financial responsibility, 
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 

Table 3 No 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, 
and/or senior officers with significant financial 
responsibility, during the financial year (1) 

1 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that 
have been deemed “board members, and/or, senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility”, during 
the financial year. This figure should include both on 
payroll and off-payroll engagements.(2) 

15 

 

Exit Packages 

There were no other agreed departures or 
departures where special payments have 
been made during the financial year. 

These tables report the number and value of 
exit packages agreed in the financial year. The 
expense associated with these departures 
may have been recognised in part or in full in 
a previous period. 

Redundancy and other departure costs have 
been paid in accordance with the provisions 
of the Agenda for Change Terms and 

 Table 1  No 

 Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017  7 

 Of which, the number that have existed:  
 
• For less than one year at the time of reporting  

  
 
1 

• For between one and two years at the time of 
reporting  

0 

• For between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting  1 

• For between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting  6 

• For 4 or more years at the time of reporting  0 

 Table 2 No. 

 Number of new engagements, or those that reached six 
months in duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 
2017  

1 

 Number of new engagements which include contractual 
clauses giving Leeds South & East CCG the right to request 
assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance 
obligations  

1 

 Number for whom assurance has been requested  1 

 Of which:  

 Assurance has been received  1 

 Assurance has not been received  0 

Engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being 
received  

0 
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Conditions and CCG Organisational Change 
Policy. 

Exit costs are accounted for in accordance 
with relevant accounting standards and at the 
latest in full in the year of departure. 

Exit package cost band 
(including any special 
payment element) 

2016-17 2015-16 
Compulsory 

redundancies 
Compulsory 

redundancies 
No £  No   £  

Less than £10,000 
                

-  
                

-  
                

-                  -  

£10,001 to £25,000 
                

1  
        

20,000  
                

1          22,777  

£25,001 to £50,000 
                

-  
                

-  
                

-                  -  

£50,001 to £100,000 
                

-  
                

-  
                

-                  -  

£100,001 to £150,000 
                

-  
                

-  
                

-                  -  

£150,001 to £200,000 
                

-  
                

-  
                

-                  -  

Over £200,001 
                

-  
                

-  
                

-                  -  

Total 
                

1  
        

20,000  
                

1          22,777  

 

5.5 Parliamentary 
Accountability and 
Audit Report 

We are not required to produce a 
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit 
Report. There are no applicable disclosures 
with regard to remote contingent liabilities, 
losses and special payments, gifts, and fees 
and charges. An audit certificate and report is 
also included in this Annual Report   
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6. INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS  
We have audited the financial statements of 
NHS Leeds South & East CCG for the year 
ended 31 March 2017, comprising the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, 
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, 
Statement of Cash Flows and related notes 
under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. These financial statements have been 
prepared under applicable law and the 
accounting polices directed by the NHS 
Commissioning Board with the consent of the 
Secretary of State as relevant to the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups in England. We have 
also audited the information in the 
Remuneration and Staff Report that is subject 
to audit. 

This report is made solely to the Members of 
the Governing Body of NHS Leeds South & 
East CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Members of the 
Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, those 
matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Members of the Governing 
Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

 

Respective responsibilities 
of the Accountable Officer 
and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the 
preparation of financial statements which give 
a true and fair view and is also responsible for 
the regularity of expenditure and income. Our 
responsibility is to audit, and express an 
opinion on, the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors. We are also 
responsible for giving an opinion on the 
regularity of expenditure and income in 
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Code of Audit 
Practice’). 

As explained in the Annual Governance 
Statement the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for the arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
use of the CCG's resources. We are required 
under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that 
the CCG has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 
21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 requires that our report must not 
contain our opinion if we are satisfied that 
proper arrangements are in place. 

We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 
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Scope of the audit of the 
financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the CCG’s 
circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the Accountable Officer, 
and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

In addition we read all the financial and non-
financial information in the annual report and 
accounts to identify material inconsistencies 
with the audited financial statements and to 
identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by 
us in the course of performing the audit. If we 
become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider 
the implications for our report. 

In addition, we are required to obtain 
evidence sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the expenditure and income 
recorded in the financial statements have 
been applied to the purposes intended by 
Parliament and the financial transactions 
conform to the authorities which govern 
them. 

 

 

 

Scope of the review of 
arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of 
resources 
We have undertaken our review in 
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, 
having regard to the guidance on the specified 
criterion issued by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General in November 2016, as to 
whether the CCG had proper arrangements to 
ensure it took properly informed decisions 
and deployed resources to achieve planned 
and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and 
local people. The Comptroller and Auditor 
General determined this criterion as that 
necessary for us to consider under the Code 
of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves 
whether the CCG put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

We planned our work in accordance with the 
Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we 
considered necessary to form a view on 
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG 
had put in place proper arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources. 

Opinion on financial 
statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the CCG as at 31 March 2017 
and of its net operating expenditure for 
the year then ended; and 
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• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the accounting polices 
directed by the NHS Commissioning Board 
with the consent of the Secretary of State 
as relevant to Clinical Commissioning 
Groups in England. 

Opinion on regularity 
In our opinion, in all material respects the 
expenditure and income have been applied to 
the purposes intended by Parliament and the 
financial transactions conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 

Opinion on other matters 
In our opinion: 

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff 
Report subject to audit have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the 
accounting polices directed by the NHS 
Commissioning Board with the consent of 
the Secretary of State as relevant to 
Clinical Commissioning Groups in England; 
and 

• the other information published together 
with the audited financial statements in 
the Annual Report and Accounts is 
consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are 
required to report by 
exception 
We are required to report to you if: 

• in our opinion, the Governance Statement 
does not reflect compliance with guidance 
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board; 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of 
State under section 30 of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014 because we 
have reason to believe that the CCG, or an 
officer of the CCG, is about to make, or 
has made, a decision which involves or 
would involve the body incurring unlawful 
expenditure, or is about to take, or has 
begun to take a course of action which, if 
followed to its conclusion, would be 
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest 
under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we make a written recommendation to 
the CCG under section 24 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we are not satisfied that the CCG has 
made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources for the year ended 31 
March 2017. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
above responsibilities. 

Certificate 
We certify that we have completed the audit 
of the accounts of NHS Leeds South & East 
CCG in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
and the Code of Audit Practice. 

 
 
Rashpal Khangura 
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory 
Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
Leeds 
 
26 May 2017       
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7. ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

 

 

 

 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017 
  2016-17  2015-16 

 Note £000  £000 

     

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (40,733)  (35,410) 

Other operating income 2 (225)  (56) 

Total operating income  (40,958)  (35,466) 

      

Staff costs  4 7,047  7,307 

Purchase of goods and services 5 437,350  390,458 

 Depreciation and impairment charges  -  - 

Provision expense 5 416  (266) 

Other Operating Expenditure 5 365  469 

Total operating expenditure   445,178  397,968 

      
Net Operating Expenditure  404,220  362,502 

      

Finance income -   - 

Finance expense -   - 

Net Expenditure for the year   404,220  362,502 

      

Net Gain/(Loss) on Transfer by Absorption  -  - 

Total Net Expenditure for the year   404,220  362,502 

     

Other Comprehensive Expenditure     

     

Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs     

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE  -  - 

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles  -  - 

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets  -  - 

Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes  -  - 

Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation Reserve  -  - 

     

Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs     

Net gain/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets  -  - 

Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets  -  - 

Sub total 
 

 -  - 

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017  404,220  362,502 

 
The notes on the following pages form part of this statement. 

 

80           NHS Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning Group 



Phil Corrigan, Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) 

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2017 
  2016-17  2015-16 
 Note £000  £000 
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment  -  - 
Intangible assets  -  - 
Investment property  -  - 
Trade and other receivables  -  - 
Other financial assets  -  - 
Total non-current assets  -  - 
Current assets     
Inventories 9 -  - 
Trade and other receivables 10 2,699  2,486 
Other financial assets 11 -  - 
Other current assets 12 -  - 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 54  25 
Total current assets  2,753  2,511 
     
Non-current assets held for sale  -  - 
      
Total current assets  2,753  2,511 
     
Total assets  2,753  2,511 
     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 14 (17,839)  (15,130) 
Other financial liabilities 15 -  - 
Other liabilities 16 -  - 
Borrowings 17 -  - 
Provisions 20 (349)  (163) 

Total current liabilities  (18,188)  (15,293) 

     
Total assets less current liabilities  (15,435)  (12,782) 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 14 -  - 
Other financial liabilities 15 -  - 
Other liabilities 16 -  - 
Borrowings 17 -  - 
Provisions 20 (415)  (292) 
Total non-current liabilities  (415)  (292) 
     
Assets less liabilities  (15,850)  (13,074) 
     
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity     
General fund  (15,850)  (13,074) 
Revaluation reserve  -  - 
Other reserves  -  - 
Charitable Reserves  -  - 
Total taxpayers' equity  (15,850)  (13,074) 
     
The notes on the following pages form part of this statement. 
The financial statements were approved by the Governing Body on 25 May 2017 and signed on its behalf by: 
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31 March 2017 
  General 

fund 
Revaluation 

reserve 
Other 

reserves 
Total 

reserves 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17      
Balance at 1 April 2016  (13,074) - - (13,074) 
      
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies  - - - - 
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2016  (13,074) - - (13,074) 
      
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17      
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (404,220)   (404,220) 
      
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment   -  - 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets   -  - 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets    -   - 
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve  - - - - 
      
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets  - - - - 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale  - - - - 
Impairments and reversals  - - - - 
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pensions  - - - - 
Movements in other reserves  - - - - 
Transfers between reserves  - - - - 
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure  - - - - 
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets  - - - - 
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies  - - - - 
Reserves eliminated on dissolution  - - - - 
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year  (404,220) - - (404,220) 
      
Net funding  401,444 - - 401,444 
      
Balance at 31 March 2017  (15,850) - - (15,850) 
      
  General 

fund 
Revaluation 

reserve 
Other 

reserves 
Total 

reserves 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16      
Balance at 1 April 2015  (15,260) - - (15,260) 
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2015 
transition 

 - - - - 

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2015  (15,260) - - (15,260) 
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16      
Net operating costs for the financial year  (362,502)   (362,502) 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment   -  - 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets   -  - 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets    -   - 
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve  - - - - 
      
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets  - - - - 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale  - - - - 
Impairments and reversals  - - - - 
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pensions  - - - - 
Movements in other reserves  - - - - 
Transfers between reserves  - - - - 
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure  - - - - 
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets  - - - - 
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies  - - - - 
Reserves eliminated on dissolution  - - - - 
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year  (362,502) - - (362,502) 
      
Net funding  364,688 - - 364,688 
      
Balance at 31 March 2016  (13,074) - - (13,074) 
      
The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.      
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2017 
  2016-17 2015-16 
 Note £000 £000 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (404,220) (362,502) 
Depreciation and amortisation  - - 
Impairments and reversals  - - 
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption  - - 
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange  - - 
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash  - - 
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash  - - 
Interest paid  - - 
Release of PFI deferred credit  - - 
Other Gains & Losses  - - 
Finance Costs  - - 
Unwinding of Discounts  - - 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  - - 
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 10 (213) (667) 
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets   - 
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 14 2,709 (1,120) 
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities  - - 
Provisions utilised 20 (107) (159) 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 20 416 (266) 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities  (401,415) (364,714) 
    
Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Interest received  - - 
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment  - - 
(Payments) for intangible assets  - - 
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health  - - 
(Payments) for other financial assets  - - 
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)  - - 
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment  - - 
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets  - - 
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health  - - 
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets  - - 
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)  - - 
Loans made in respect of LIFT  - - 
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT  - - 
Rental revenue  - - 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities  - - 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing  (401,415) (364,714) 
    
Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Grant in Aid Funding Received  401,444 364,688 
Other loans received  - - 
Other loans repaid  - - 
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT  - - 
Capital grants and other capital receipts  - - 
Capital receipts surrendered  - - 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities  401,444 364,688 
    
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 13 29 (26) 
    
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year  25 51 
    
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies  - - 
    
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year  54 25 

    

The notes on the following pages form part of these statements.    

83           NHS Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning Group 



Notes to the financial 
statements  
1. Accounting Policies 
NHS England has directed that the financial 
statements of clinical commissioning groups 
shall meet the accounting requirements of the 
Group Accounting Manual issued by the 
Department of Health. Consequently, the 
following financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Group 
Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the 
Department of Health. The accounting policies 
contained in the Group Accounting Manual 
follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate to clinical 
commissioning groups, as determined by HM 
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial 
Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group 
Accounting Manual permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which 
is judged to be most appropriate to the 
particular circumstances of the clinical 
commissioning group for the purpose of 
giving a true and fair view has been selected. 
The particular policies adopted by the clinical 
commissioning group are described below. 
They have been applied consistently in 
dealing with items considered material in 
relation to the accounts. 

1.1 Going Concern  
These accounts have been prepared on the 
going concern basis (despite the issue of a 
report to the Secretary of State for Health 
under Section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014). 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going 
concerns where the continuation of the 
provision of a service in the future is 
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of 

financial provision for that service in 
published documents.  

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases 
to exist, it considers whether or not its 
services will continue to be provided (using 
the same assets, by another public sector 
entity) in determining whether to use the 
concept of going concern for the final set of 
Financial Statements.  If services will continue 
to be provided the financial statements are 
prepared on the going concern basis. 

1.2 Accounting 
Convention  
These accounts have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, inventories 
and certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities.    

1.3 Acquisitions & 
Discontinued Operations 
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only 
if they are taken on from outside the public 
sector. Activities are considered to be 
‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They 
are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 
transfer from one public sector body to 
another.  

1.4 Movement of Assets 
within the Department of 
Health Group 
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be 
accounted for by use of absorption accounting 
in line with the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. 
The Government Financial Reporting Manual 
does not require retrospective adoption, so 
prior year transactions (which have been 
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accounted for under merger accounting) have 
not been restated. Absorption accounting 
requires that entities account for their 
transactions in the period in which they took 
place, with no restatement of performance 
required when functions transfer within the 
public sector.  Where assets and liabilities 
transfer, the gain or loss resulting is 
recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is 
disclosed separately from operating costs. 

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within 
the Department of Health Group are 
accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly 
give rise to income and expenditure entries. 

1.5 Pooled Budgets  
Where the clinical commissioning group has 
entered into a pooled budget arrangement 
under Section 75 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 the clinical commissioning 
group accounts for its share of the assets, 
liabilities, income and expenditure arising 
from the activities of the pooled budget, 
identified in accordance with the pooled 
budget agreement.  

If the clinical commissioning group is in a 
“jointly controlled operation”, the clinical 
commissioning group recognises: 

• The assets the clinical commissioning 
group controls; 

• The liabilities the clinical commissioning 
group incurs; 

• The expenses the clinical commissioning 
group incurs; and,  

• The clinical commissioning group’s share 
of the income from the pooled budget 
activities.  

If the clinical commissioning group is involved 
in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, 
in addition to the above, the clinical 
commissioning group recognises: 

• The clinical commissioning group’s share 
of the jointly controlled assets (classified 
according to the nature of the assets); 

• The clinical commissioning group’s share 
of any liabilities incurred jointly; and, 

• The clinical commissioning group’s share 
of the expenses jointly incurred.  

1.6 Critical Accounting 
Judgements & Key Sources 
of Estimation Uncertainty 
In the application of the clinical 
commissioning group’s accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from those estimates 
and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate 
is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.   

1.6.1 Critical Judgements in 
Applying Accounting 
Policies  
Where critical judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations that management has 
made in the process of applying the clinical 
commissioning group’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial 
statements, details are provided in the 
relevant notes to the accounts.   
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1.6.2 Key Sources of 
Estimation Uncertainty 
Where key estimations that management has 
made in the process of applying the clinical 
commissioning group’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial 
statements, details are provided in the 
relevant notes to the accounts.   

1.7 Revenue  
Revenue in respect of services provided is 
recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs, and is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration receivable. 

Where income is received for a specific 
activity that is to be delivered in the following 
year, that income is deferred.   

1.8 Employee Benefits 
  
1.8.1 Short-term Employee 
Benefits  
Salaries, wages and employment-related 
payments are recognised in the period in 
which the service is received from employees, 
including bonuses earned but not yet taken. 

The cost of leave earned but not taken by 
employees at the end of the period is 
recognised in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted to carry 
forward leave into the following period.  

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit 
Costs 
Past and present employees are covered by 
the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. 
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, General 

Practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be 
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 
identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical 
commissioning group of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 
payable to the scheme for the accounting 
period. 

For early retirements other than those due to 
ill health the additional pension liabilities are 
not funded by the scheme. The full amount of 
the liability for the additional costs is charged 
to expenditure at the time the clinical 
commissioning group commits itself to the 
retirement, regardless of the method of 
payment. 

Some employees are members of the Local 
Government Superannuation Scheme, which 
is a defined benefit pension scheme. The 
scheme assets and liabilities attributable to 
those employees can be identified and are 
recognised in the clinical commissioning 
group’s accounts. The assets are measured at 
fair value and the liabilities at the present 
value of the future obligations. The increase in 
the liability arising from pensionable service 
earned during the year is recognised within 
operating expenses. The expected gain during 
the year from scheme assets is recognised 
within finance income. The interest cost 
during the year arising from the unwinding of 
the discount on the scheme liabilities is 
recognised within finance costs. Actuarial 
gains and losses during the year are 
recognised in the General Reserve and 
reported as an item of other comprehensive 
net expenditure. 
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1.9 Other Expenses  
Other operating expenses are recognised 
when, and to the extent that, the goods or 
services have been received. They are 
measured at the fair value of the 
consideration payable. 

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants 
are recognised when the clinical 
commissioning group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation, which occurs when all 
of the conditions attached to the payment 
have been met.    

1.10 Government Grants 
The value of assets received by means of a 
government grant are credited directly to 
income. Deferred income is recognised only 
where conditions attached to the grant 
preclude immediate recognition of the gain. 

1.11 Leases  
Leases are classified as finance leases when 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. 

1.11.1 The Clinical 
Commissioning Group as 
Lessee 
Property, plant and equipment held under 
finance leases are initially recognised, at the 
inception of the lease, at fair value or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, with a matching liability for 
the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation 
so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognised in calculating the 
clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Lease incentives are recognised 
initially as a liability and subsequently as a 
reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

Contingent rentals are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the 
land and building components are separated 
and individually assessed as to whether they 
are operating or finance leases. 

1.11.2 The Clinical 
Commissioning Group as 
Lessor 
Amounts due from lessees under finance 
leases are recorded as receivables at the 
amount of the clinical commissioning group’s 
net investment in the leases. Finance lease 
income is allocated to accounting periods so 
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return 
on the clinical commissioning group’s net 
investment outstanding in respect of the 
leases. 

Rental income from operating leases is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

1.12 Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. 
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1.13 Cash & Cash 
Equivalents  
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any 
financial institution repayable without penalty 
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 
months or less from the date of acquisition 
and that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and that form 
an integral part of the clinical commissioning 
group’s cash management.   

1.14 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the clinical 
commissioning group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the clinical 
commissioning group will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. The 
amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the obligation at the end of the reporting 
period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties. Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s 
discount rate as follows: 

• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years 
inclusive): Minus 2.70% (Previously: minus 
1.55%) 

• Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years 
inclusive): Minus 1.95% (Previously: minus 
1.0%) 

• Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): 
Minus 0.80% (Previously: minus 0.80%)
  

When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected to 
be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is 
virtually certain that reimbursements will be 
received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably. 

A restructuring provision is recognised when 
the clinical commissioning group has 
developed a detailed formal plan for the 
restructuring and has raised a valid 
expectation in those affected that it will carry 
out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to 
those affected by it. The measurement of a 
restructuring provision includes only the 
direct expenditures arising from the 
restructuring, which are those amounts that 
are both necessarily entailed by the 
restructuring and not associated with on-
going activities of the entity. 

1.15 Clinical Negligence 
Costs  
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk 
pooling scheme under which the clinical 
commissioning group pays an annual 
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority 
which in return settles all clinical negligence 
claims. The contribution is charged to 
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation 
Authority is administratively responsible for 
all clinical negligence cases the legal liability 
remains with the clinical commissioning 
group. 

1.16 Non-clinical Risk 
Pooling  
The clinical commissioning group participates 
in the Property Expenses Scheme and the 
Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are 
risk pooling schemes under which the clinical 
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commissioning group pays an annual 
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority 
and, in return, receives assistance with the 
costs of claims arising. The annual 
membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims are 
charged to operating expenses as and when 
they become due.  

1.17 Continuing healthcare 
risk pooling 
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced 
by NHS England for continuing healthcare 
claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 
2013.  Under the scheme clinical 
commissioning group contribute annually to a 
pooled fund, which is used to settle the 
claims.   

1.18 Carbon Reduction 
Commitment Scheme  
Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar 
allowances are accounted for as government 
grant funded intangible assets if they are not 
expected to be realised within twelve months, 
and otherwise as other current assets. They 
are valued at open market value. As the 
clinical commissioning group makes 
emissions, a provision is recognised with an 
offsetting transfer from deferred income. The 
provision is settled on surrender of the 
allowances. The asset, provision and deferred 
income amounts are valued at fair value at 
the end of the reporting period.  

1.19 Contingencies  
A contingent liability is a possible obligation 
that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the clinical commissioning group, or 
a present obligation that is not recognised 

because it is not probable that a payment will 
be required to settle the obligation or the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is 
disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is 
remote.  

A contingent asset is a possible asset that 
arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the 
clinical commissioning group. A contingent 
asset is disclosed where an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable. 

Where the time value of money is material, 
contingencies are disclosed at their present 
value.  

1.20 Financial Assets  
Financial assets are recognised when the 
clinical commissioning group becomes party 
to the financial instrument contract or, in the 
case of trade receivables, when the goods or 
services have been delivered. Financial assets 
are derecognised when the contractual rights 
have expired or the asset has been 
transferred.  

Financial assets are classified into the 
following categories: 

• Financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss; 

• Held to maturity investments; 
• Available for sale financial assets; and, 
• Loans and receivables.  

The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition. 
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1.20.1 Financial Assets at 
Fair Value Through Profit 
and Loss  
Embedded derivatives that have different 
risks and characteristics to their host 
contracts, and contracts with embedded 
derivatives whose separate value cannot be 
ascertained, are treated as financial assets at 
fair value through profit and loss. They are 
held at fair value, with any resultant gain or 
loss recognised in calculating the clinical 
commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for 
the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any 
interest earned on the financial asset.  

1.20.2 Held to Maturity 
Assets  
Held to maturity investments are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity, 
and there is a positive intention and ability to 
hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they 
are held at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment. 
Interest is recognised using the effective 
interest method.   

1.20.3 Available For Sale 
Financial Assets 
Available for sale financial assets are non-
derivative financial assets that are designated 
as available for sale or that do not fall within 
any of the other three financial asset 
classifications. They are measured at fair 
value with changes in value taken to the 
revaluation reserve, with the exception of 
impairment losses. Accumulated gains or 
losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-
recognition.   

 

1.20.4 Loans & Receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments which are not quoted in an active 
market. After initial recognition, they are 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any 
impairment.  Interest is recognised using the 
effective interest method.  

Fair value is determined by reference to 
quoted market prices where possible, 
otherwise by valuation techniques. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset, to the initial fair value of the 
financial asset. 

At the end of the reporting period, the clinical 
commissioning group assesses whether any 
financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair 
value through profit and loss’ are impaired. 
Financial assets are impaired and impairment 
losses recognised if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the asset. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
the amount of the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of the revised future cash flows discounted at 
the asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
loss is recognised in expenditure and the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through a provision for impairment of 
receivables. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event 
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occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed through 
expenditure to the extent that the carrying 
amount of the receivable at the date of the 
impairment is reversed does not exceed what 
the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.  

1.21 Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the 
statement of financial position when the 
clinical commissioning group becomes party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument or, in the case of trade payables, 
when the goods or services have been 
received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised 
when the liability has been discharged, that is, 
the liability has been paid or has expired. 

1.21.1 Financial Guarantee 
Contract Liabilities  
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are 
subsequently measured at the higher of: 

• The premium received (or imputed) for 
entering into the guarantee less 
cumulative amortisation; and, 

• The amount of the obligation under the 
contract, as determined in accordance 
with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets.  

1.21.2 Financial Liabilities 
at Fair Value Through Profit 
and Loss  
Embedded derivatives that have different 
risks and characteristics to their host 
contracts, and contracts with embedded 
derivatives whose separate value cannot be 
ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit and loss. They are 

held at fair value, with any resultant gain or 
loss recognised in the clinical commissioning 
group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss 
incorporates any interest payable on the 
financial liability. 

1.21.3 Other Financial 
Liabilities 
After initial recognition, all other financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, except 
for loans from Department of Health, which 
are carried at historic cost. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments through the 
life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of 
the financial liability. Interest is recognised 
using the effective interest method.  

1.22 Value Added Tax  
Most of the activities of the clinical 
commissioning group are outside the scope of 
VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply 
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 
expenditure category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. 
Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of 
VAT.   

1.23 Foreign Currencies  
The clinical commissioning group’s functional 
currency and presentational currency is 
sterling. Transactions denominated in a 
foreign currency are translated into sterling at 
the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot 
exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting 
exchange gains and losses for either of these 
are recognised in the clinical commissioning 
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group’s surplus/deficit in the period in which 
they arise.   

1.24 Losses & Special 
Payments  
Losses and special payments are items that 
Parliament would not have contemplated 
when it agreed funds for the health service or 
passed legislation. By their nature they are 
items that ideally should not arise. They are 
therefore subject to special control 
procedures compared with the generality of 
payments. They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way that 
individual cases are handled. 

Losses and special payments are charged to 
the relevant functional headings in 
expenditure on an accruals basis, including 
losses which would have been made good 
through insurance cover had the clinical 
commissioning group not been bearing its 
own risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue 
expenditure).   

1.25 Joint Operations  
Joint operations are activities undertaken by 
the clinical commissioning group in 
conjunction with one or more other parties 
but which are not performed through a 
separate entity. The clinical commissioning 
group records its share of the income and 
expenditure; gains and losses; assets and 
liabilities; and cash flows.  

1.26 Research & 
Development  
Research and development expenditure is 
charged in the year in which it is incurred, 
except insofar as development expenditure 
relates to a clearly defined project and the 
benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as 

assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to 
the value of future benefits expected and is 
amortised through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a 
systematic basis over the period expected to 
benefit from the project. It should be re-
valued on the basis of current cost. The 
amortisation is calculated on the same basis 
as depreciation.  

1.27 Accounting Standards 
That Have Been Issued But 
Have Not Yet Been 
Adopted 
The Government Financial Reporting Manual 
does not require the following Standards and 
Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17, all of 
which are subject to consultation: 

• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application 
from 1 January 2018) 

• IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
(not applicable to DH groups bodies) 

• IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with 
Customers (application from 1 January 
2018) 

• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 
January 2019) 

The application of the Standards as revised 
would not have a material impact on the 
accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in 
that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue   

   

 2016-17 2015-16 

 £000 £000 

   
   

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits - 32 

Patient transport services - - 

Prescription fees and charges - - 

Dental fees and charges - - 

Education, training and research 1 1 

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: NHS - - 

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS - - 

Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity - - 

Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions - - 

Non-patient care services to other bodies 40,732 35,409 

Continuing Health Care risk pool contributions - - 

Income generation - - 

Rental revenue from finance leases - - 

Rental revenue from operating leases - - 

Other revenue 225 24 

Total other operating revenue 40,958 35,466 

     

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services. 

     

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and 
credited to the General Fund. 
     

Non-patient care services to other bodies     

     

There are three Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in Leeds: Leeds South and East (LSE), Leeds West (LW) and Leeds North (LN).  

Collaborative arrangements exist whereby each CCG leads on an area of commissioning on behalf of all three CCGs: 

     

·         LSE lead on continuing health care, community services and children's services  

·         LW lead on acute services     

·         LN lead on mental health, learning disabilities and urgent care    

     

Recharges in relation to the collaborative arrangements across the three Leeds CCGs are classified as “Non-patient care services to other bodies”. 

     

3. Revenue     
     

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods. 
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Included in employee benefits and staff numbers are expenditure and staff numbers in relation to the Clinical Commissioning Groups' collaborative 
arrangements, described in detail in note 2. 

 

 

 

 

4. Employee benefits and staff numbers        
        

4.1.1 Employee benefits     
2016-17 Total  Permanent 

Employees 
 Other   

 £000  £000  £000   
Employee Benefits        
Salaries and wages 5,855  5,115  740   
Social security costs 520  520  -   
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 652  652  -   
Other pension costs -  -  -   
Other post-employment benefits -  -  -   
Other employment benefits -  -  -   
Termination benefits 20  20  -   
Gross employee benefits expenditure 7,047  6,307   740   
        
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) -  -  -   

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 7,047  6,307   740   

        
Less: Employee costs capitalised -  -  -   
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 7,047  6,307   740   
        
        
    
2015-16 Total  Permanent 

Employees 
 Other   

 £000  £000  £000   
Employee Benefits        
Salaries and wages 6,326  4,613  1,713   
Social security costs 375  375  -   
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 583  583  -   
Other pension costs -  -  -   
Other post-employment benefits -  -  -   
Other employment benefits -  -  -   
Termination benefits 23  23  -   
Gross employee benefits expenditure 7,307  5,594   1,713   
        
Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (32)  (32)  -   

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 7,275  5,562   1,713   

        
Less: Employee costs capitalised -  -  -   
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 7,275  5,562   1,713   
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4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits    

    

 2016-17  2015-16 
 

Total 
 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 

Employee Benefits - Revenue        

Salaries and wages -  -  -  (26) 

Social security costs -  -  -  (2) 

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme -  -  -  (4) 

Other pension costs -  -  -  - 

Other post-employment benefits -  -  -  - 

Other employment benefits -  -  -  - 

Termination benefits -  -  -  - 

Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits -  -  -  (32) 

        

 
4.2 Average number of people employed        

        

 2016-17  2015-16 
 

Total 
 

Permanently 
employed 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 Number  Number  Number  Number 

        

Total 142                 
 

 134  8  162 
        

Of the above:        

Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital projects -  -  -  - 

 

  
 
 

      

 

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements    

    

 
   

 

2016-17 
Number 

 

2015-16 
Number 

Total Days Lost     960  881 

Total Staff Years     132  119 

Average working Days Lost     7  7 

        

The figures included above are provided by the Health and Social Information Centre on the Clinical Commissioning Group's behalf, collated 
annually on a calendar year basis (January - December). 
        

     2016-17 
Number  

2015-16 
Number 

        

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds     -  - 

        

        

     £000  £000 
        

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year     -  - 

      

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme 
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4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year 
 

   2016-17  2015-16 

   Compulsory redundancies  Compulsory redundancies 

   Number  £  Number  £ 

Less than £10,000   -  -  -  - 

£10,001 to £25,000   1  20,000  1  22,777 

£25,001 to £50,000   -  -  -  - 

£50,001 to £100,000   -  -  -  - 

£100,001 to £150,000   -  -  -  - 

£150,001 to £200,000   -  -  -  - 

Over £200,001   -  -  -  - 

Total   1  20,000  1  22,777 

 

There were no other agreed departures or departures where special payments have been made during the financial year (none during 
2015-16). 

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may 
have been recognised in part or in full in a previous period. 

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions 
and CCG Organisational Change Policy. 

Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure. 
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4.5 Pension costs 
Past and present employees are covered by 
the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. 
Details of the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions 
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, GP 
practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be 
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 
identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. 

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it 
were a defined contribution scheme: the cost 
to the clinical commissioning group of 
participating in the scheme is taken as equal 
to the contributions payable to the scheme 
for the accounting period. 

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial 
valuation every four years (until 2004, every 
five years) and an accounting valuation every 
year. An outline of these follows: 

4.5.1 Full actuarial 
(funding) valuation 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the 
level of liability in respect of the benefits due 
under the Scheme (taking into account its 
recent demographic experience), and to 
recommend the contribution rates to be paid 
by employers and scheme members. The last 
such valuation, which determined current 
contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 
March 2012 and covered the period from 1 
April 2008 to that date. Details can be found 
on the pension scheme website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of 
£652,339 were payable to the NHS Pensions  
Scheme (2015-16: £583,483) were payable to 
the NHS Pensions Scheme at the rate of 14.3% 
of pensionable pay.  The scheme’s actuary 
reviews employer contributions, usually every 
four years and now based on HMT Valuation 
Directions, following a full scheme valuation.  
The latest review used data from 31 March 
2012 and was published on the Government 
website on 9 June 2014. These costs are 
included in the NHS pension line of note 4.
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Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services. 

Included in gross employee benefits and other costs is expenditure in relation to the Clinical Commissioning Groups' collaborative 
arrangements, described in detail in note 2.   

5. Operating expenses   
   
 2016-17 2015-16 
 £000 £000 
Gross employee benefits   
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 6,494 6,823 
Executive governing body members 553 484 
Total gross employee benefits 7,047 7,307 
   
Other costs   
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 4,164 4,715 
Services from foundation trusts 38,593 38,490 
Services from other NHS trusts 213,399 204,500 
Services from other WGA bodies - - 
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 88,100 89,171 
Chair and Non Executive Members 154 103 
Supplies and services – clinical 31 - 
Supplies and services – general 2,874 682 
Consultancy services 66 290 
Establishment 751 795 
Transport 26 21 
Premises 385 347 
Impairments and reversals of receivables 2 1 
Inventories written down and consumed - - 
Depreciation - - 
Amortisation - - 
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment - - 
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets - - 
Impairments and reversals of financial assets   
·          Assets carried at amortised cost - - 
·          Assets carried at cost - - 
·          Available for sale financial assets - - 
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale - - 
Impairments and reversals of investment properties - - 
Audit fees 68 68 
Other non statutory audit expenditure   
·          Internal audit services - - 
·          Other services 8 - 
General dental services and personal dental services - - 
Prescribing costs 45,533 44,815 
Pharmaceutical services 42 23 
General ophthalmic services - - 
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 42,248 4,934 
Other professional fees excl. audit 46 5 
Grants to other public bodies - - 
Clinical negligence 8 8 
Research and development (excluding staff costs) 10 - 
Education and training 596 551 
Change in discount rate - - 
Provisions 416 (266) 
Funding to group bodies - - 
CHC Risk Pool contributions 420 1,051 
Other expenditure 191 357 
Total other costs 438,131 390,661 
   
Total operating expenses 445,178 397,968 
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Better Payment Practice Code        
 
6.1 Measure of compliance 

       

        

 2016-17  2016-17  2015-16  2015-16 

 Number  £000  Number  £000 

Non-NHS Payables        

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 11,562  144,048  14,614  103,305 

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 11,396  143,391  14,474  102,798 

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.56%  99.54%  99.04%  99.51% 

        

NHS Payables        

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,660  256,049  2,580  248,861 

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,632  255,986  2,560  248,796 

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 98.95%  99.98%  99.22%  99.97% 

        

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Clinical Commissioning Group to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 
days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 

Included in the note above are transactions in relation to the Clinical Commissioning Groups' collaborative arrangements, described in 
detail in note 2.   

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 
 

       

     2016-17  2015-16 

     £000  £000 

        

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation     -  - 

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation     -  - 

Total     -  - 

        

        

7. Income Generation Activities        
        

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not undertake any income generation activities. 
 

  

8. Operating Leases           
 
8.1 As lessee 

          

           

The Clinical Commissioning Group has operating leases in respect of photocopiers and leased cars for an agreed number of years, with no 
renewal terms, purchase options or escalation clauses. 
 

8.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 

 
  

Land 
  

Buildings 
  

Other 
 2016-17 

Total 
 2015-16 

Total 
 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Payments recognised as an expense          

Minimum lease payments -  166  10  176  144 

Contingent rents -  -  -  -  - 

Sub-lease payments -  -  -  -  - 

Total -  166  10  176  144 
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8.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 
 
  

Land 
  

Buildings 
  

Other 
 2016-17 

Total 
 2015-16 

Total 
 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Payable          

No later than one year -  123  26  149  156 

Between one and five years -  41  15  56  186 

After five years -  -  -  -  - 

Total -  164  41  205  342 

 

9. Inventories       
       

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no inventories as at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016).  

       

10.  Trade and other receivables       
       
    Current  Current 

    2016-17  2015-16 

    £000  £000 

       

NHS receivables: Revenue    838  1,146 

NHS receivables: Capital    -  - 

NHS prepayments     896  941 

NHS accrued income    313  70 

Non-NHS receivables: Revenue    183  2 

Non-NHS receivables: Capital    -  - 

Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income    410  246 

Provision for the impairment of receivables    (1)  (1) 

VAT    45  80 

Private finance initiative and other public private partnership 
arrangement prepayments and accrued income 

   -  - 

Interest receivables    -  - 

Finance lease receivables    -  - 

Operating lease receivables    -  - 

Other receivables and accruals    15  2 

Total Trade & other receivables    2,699  2,486 

       

As at 31 March 2017 there were no non-current trade and other receivables (none at 31 March 2016). 
 

There are no prepaid pensions contributions included above. 
 

The great majority of trade is within the Department of Health Group. No credit scoring of them is considered necessary. 
 

Included in the note above are balances in relation to the Clinical Commissioning Groups' collaborative arrangements, described in detail in 
note 2.   
 

 

 

 

 

100           NHS Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning Group 



10.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired       
       

   2016-17  2015-16  

   £000  £000  

By up to three months   278  5  

By three to six months   -  -  

By more than six months   1  1  

Total   279  6  

       

£176,719 of the 2016-17 amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date. 

 

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016). 

 

10.2  Provision for impairment of receivables       
       

   2016-17  2015-16  

   £000  £000  

       

Balance at  1 April 2016   (1)  -  

Amounts written off during the year   2  -  

Amounts recovered during the year   -  -  

(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired   (2)  (1)  

Transfer (to) from other public sector body   -  -  

Balance at 31 March 2017   (1)  (1)  

       

The CCG has had an outstanding receivable for over two years which continues to be provided against. 

 

11. Other financial assets       
       

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other financial assets as at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016).   

       

12. Other current assets       
       

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other current assets as at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016).    
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13. Cash and cash equivalents       
       

   2016-17  2015-16  

   £000  £000  

Balance at  1 April 2016   25  51  

Net change in year   29  (26)  

Balance at 31 March 2017   54  25  

       

Made up of:       

Cash with the Government Banking Service   54  25  

Cash with Commercial banks   -  -  

Cash in hand   -  -  

Current investments   -  -  

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position   54  25  

       

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service   -  -  

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks   -  -  

Total bank overdrafts   -  -  

       

Balance at 31 March 2017   54  25  
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14. Trade and other payables       
       

   Current  Current  

   2016-17  2015-16  

   £000  £000  

       

Interest payable                    -     -  

NHS payables: revenue   732             470   

NHS payables: capital                    -                   -     

NHS accruals    1,334          1,136   

NHS deferred income   -  -  

Non-NHS payables: revenue   1,480          2,228   

Non-NHS payables: capital   -                 -     

Non-NHS accruals and deferred income   13,775      11,067   

Social security costs   79              64   

VAT   -                  -     

Tax   66               62   

Payments received on account   -                  -     

Other payables and accruals   373             103   

Total Trade & Other Payables   17,839        15,130   

       

As at 31 March 2017 there were no non-current trade and other payables (none at 31 March 2016). 

 

Other payables include Practitioner £259,043 and Officer £96,895 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: 
Practitioner £28,016, Office £67,014). 
 
The increase in outstanding Practitioner contributions is attributable to NHS Leeds South & East CCG primary care delegated co-
commissioning arrangements which commenced on 1st April 2016. 
 

Included in the note above are balances in relation to the Clinical Commissioning Groups' collaborative arrangements, described in detail 
in note 2.   

 

15. Other financial liabilities        
        

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other financial liabilities as at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016). 
 
 
        

16. Other liabilities        
        

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other liabilities as at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016). 

        

17. Borrowings        
        

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no borrowings as at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016). 

        

18. Finance lease obligations         
        
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no finance lease obligations as at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016). 
 
 

19. Finance lease receivables        
        

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no finance lease receivables as at 31 March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016). 
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20. Provisions         
         
  Current  Non-

current 
 Current  Non-

current 
  2016-17  2016-17  2015-16  2015-16 

  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Pensions relating to former directors  -  -  -  - 

Pensions relating to other staff  -  -  -  - 

Restructuring  -  -  -  - 

Redundancy  -  -  -  - 

Agenda for change  -  -  -  - 

Equal pay  -  -  -  - 

Legal claims  -  -  -  - 

Continuing care  250  415  163  292 

Other  99  -  -  - 

Total  349  415  163  292 

         

Total current and non-current  764    455   

   
  Continuing Care               Other Total 
               £000 £000                                                        £000s 
   
Balance at  1 April 2016                                               455                                -                                                             455 

   

Arising during the year   465 99 564 

Utilised during the year                (107) - (107) 

Reversed unused                (148) -  (148) 

Unwinding of discount                    -                                 -                                                                 -  
Change in discount rate  -                                -                                                                 -  
Transfer (to) from other public sector body  -                                  -                                                                 - 
Transfer (to) from other public sector body 
under absorption 

 -                                  -                                                                 - 

Balance at 31 March 2017                 665                              99      764 

   

Expected timing of cash flows:    

Within one year                           250                              99 349 

Between one and five years                 415 - 415 

After five years   - - - 

Balance at 31 March 2017                 665 99 764 

   

The provision for continuing care relates to potential cost for continuing care reviews. There is uncertainty regarding the outcomes and 
timings of individual case reviews. 
   

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities 
relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the CCG. However, the legal liability 
remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this 
CCG at 31 March 2017 is £333,850 (31 March 2016: £1,786,694). 
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21. Commitments          

21.1 Capital commitments          

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no contracted capital commitments not otherwise included in these financial statements as at 31 
March 2017 (none at 31 March 2016).   

21.2  Other financial commitments         

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, private finance initiative 
contracts or other service concession arrangements) which expire as follows:  

          

      2016-17  2015-16  

      £000  £000  

In not more than one year      -  -  

In more than one year but not more than five years      1,583  2,676  

In more than five years      -  -  

Total      1,583  2,676  
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22. Financial instruments 
22.1 Financial risk 
management 
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires 
disclosure of the role that financial 
instruments have had during the period in 
creating or changing the risks a body faces in 
undertaking its activities. 

Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is 
financed through parliamentary funding, it is 
not exposed to the degree of financial risk 
faced by business entities. Also, financial 
instruments play a much more limited role in 
creating or changing risk than would be 
typical of listed companies, to which the 
financial reporting standards mainly apply. 
The clinical commissioning group has limited 
powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 
financial assets and liabilities are generated by 
day-to-day operational activities rather than 
being held to change the risks facing the 
clinical commissioning group in undertaking 
its activities. 

Treasury management operations are carried 
out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group standing 
financial instructions and policies agreed by 
the Governing Body. Treasury activity is 
subject to review by the NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group's internal auditors. 

22.1.1 Currency risk 
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is 
principally a domestic organisation with the 
great majority of transactions, assets and 
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. 

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no 
overseas operations. The NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group and therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

22.1.2 Interest rate risk 
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows 
from government for capital expenditure, 
subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS 
England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, 
in line with the life of the associated assets, 
and interest is charged at the National Loans 
Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The 
clinical commissioning group therefore has 
low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

22.1.3 Credit risk 
Because the majority of the NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group and revenue comes 
parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group has low exposure to 
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the 
end of the financial year are in receivables 
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and 
other receivables note. 

22.1.4 Liquidity risk 
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is 
required to operate within revenue and 
capital resource limits, which are financed 
from resources voted annually by Parliament. 
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws 
down cash to cover expenditure, as the need 
arises. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
is not, therefore, exposed to significant 
liquidity risks. 
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22.2 Financial assets 
     
 At ‘fair value through 

profit and loss’ 
 

Loans and Receivables 
 

Available for 
Sale 

 
Total 

 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
     
Embedded derivatives - - - - 
Receivables:    - 
·          NHS - 1,151 - 1,151 
·          Non-NHS - 188 - 188 
Cash at bank and in hand - 54 - 54 
Other financial assets - 15 - 15 
Total at 31 March 2017 - 1,408 - 1,408 
     
 At ‘fair value through 

profit and loss’ Loans and Receivables 
Available for 

Sale Total 
 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
     
Embedded derivatives - - - - 
Receivables:    - 
·          NHS - 1,216 - 1,216 
·          Non-NHS - 21 - 21 
Cash at bank and in hand - 25 - 25 
Other financial assets - 4 - 4 
Total at 31 March 2016 - 1,266 - 1,266 
     
22.3 Financial liabilities 
     
  At ‘fair value through profit 

and loss’ Other Total 
  2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 
  £000 £000 £000 
     
Embedded derivatives  - - - 
Payables:     
·          NHS  - 2,066 2,066 
·          Non-NHS  - 15,628 15,628 
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease 
obligations 

 - - - 

Other borrowings  - - - 
Other financial liabilities  - - - 
Total at 31 March 2017  - 17,694 17,694 
     
  At ‘fair value through profit 

and loss’ Other Total 
  2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 
  £000 £000 £000 
     
Embedded derivatives  - - - 
Payables:     
·          NHS  - 1,606 1,606 
·          Non-NHS  - 13,398 13,398 
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease 
obligations 

 - - - 

Other borrowings  - - - 
Other financial liabilities  - - - 
Total at 31 March 2016  - 15,004 15,004 
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23. Operating segments           

 
The Clinical Commissioning Group considers that it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services. 
 
24. Pooled budgets           

            

The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into pooled budget arrangements with Leeds City Council and the other two Leeds Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (NHS Leeds North CCG and NHS Leeds West CCG).  The Pools are hosted by either one of the CCGs or Leeds City Council. Under the arrangement 
funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the Better Care Fund.   

The contributions made by NHS Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning Group in the financial year are as follows: 

            

Pooled Budget Fund 1 CCG Hosted s75 Agreements         
         2016-17  2015-16 
         £000  £000 
Income         7,586  4,125  
Expenditure         (7,586)  (4,053) 
            
Pooled Budget Fund 2 Leeds City Council Hosted s75 Agreements                 
                 2016-17  2015-16 
                 £000  £000 
Income              7,309   1,396  
Expenditure              (7,309)   (1,425) 
                       
As part of the initial development of the Better Care Fund (BCF) in Leeds, a Partnership Agreement with Leeds City Council and the other two Leeds CCGs 
has been put in place that describes the commissioning arrangements for a range of health and social care services. 

The 2 funds are hosted by either Leeds City Council or one of the Leeds CCGs. The BCF Partnership Agreement is based on the national template 
developed. 

All funds are all overseen by a joint BCF Partnership Board. A summary is tabled below (this includes the Pooled Funds shown in the figures above): 

   Contributions   

     Leeds 
South & 

East CCG 

 Leeds West 
CCG 

 Leeds 
North CCG 

 Leeds City 
Council 

 

Total 

             
             

     £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
Fund 1 CCG Hosted services    7,586   8,383   5,011                  -      20,980 
Fund 2 Council Hosted services   7,309   8,822   5,717   8,775   30,623 
Total     14,895 

 
  17,205   10,728   8,775   51,603 

      

   Expenditure   

     Leeds 
South & 

East CCG 

 Leeds West 
CCG 

 Leeds 
North CCG 

 Leeds City 
Council 

 

Total 

             
             

     £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Fund 1 CCG Hosted services   7,586   8,383   5,011                  -      20,980 
Fund 2 Council Hosted services   7,309   8,822   5,717   8,775   30,623 
Total     14,895 

 
  17,205   10,728   8,775   51,603 
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    2016-17 2015-16 

  Note Payments to 
Related Party 

of which 
Amounts 
owed to 

Related Party 

Payments to 
Related Party 

of which 
Amounts 
owed to 

Related Party 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 
Medical Practices          
Dr Andy Harris - Oulton Medical Centre  1,909 197 345 55 
Dr Andy Harris - Dr Penn & Partners   2,724 264 364 95 
Dr Alistair Walling - Ashfield Medical Centre 2 - - 295 20 
Dr Benjamin Browning - Lofthouse Surgery  1,359 154 272 33 
Dr Dave Mitchell - Leeds City Medical Practice 1 2,458 205 368 88 
Dr Tom Gibbs - Dr Penn & Partners  2 - - 364 95 
Dr Helen Haywood - Dr Penn & Partners  2,724 264 364 95 
Dr Arshad Rafique - The Whitfield Practice   990 106 169 48 
Dr Amal Paul - Roundhay Road Surgery  390 47 58 17 
       
Other Organisations      
Leodis Care Ltd - related party with the following individuals:  885 1 723 - 
Dr Andy Harris       
Dr Alistair Walling  2     
Dr Benjamin Browning       
Dr Dave Mitchell  1     
Dr Tom Gibbs  2     
Gordon Tollefson       
Dr Helen Haywood      
       
South and East Leeds General Practice Group Ltd - related party 
with the following individuals: 

 402 - 1,223 - 
     

Dr Andy Harris      
Dr Alistair Walling 2     
Dr Benjamin Browning      
Dr Dave Mitchell 1     
Dr Tom Gibbs 2     
Dr Arshad Rafique      
Dr Amal Paul      
       
Brian Roebuck - Community Links (Northern) Ltd  1,250 - 1,144 3 

 

Note             

1. Resigned from the Governing Body with effect from 31st March 2017 
2. Resigned from the Governing Body with effect from 24th July 2015 
 

 
 
 

25. Related party transactions        

 
None of the Department of Health Ministers, or parties related to any of them, have undertaken any material transactions with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group during the year. 

 

 
During the year the following Governing Body members, or parties related to any of them,  were also members of medical practices with 
which the Clinical Commissioning Group had material transactions concerning the provision of medical services and the purchase of 
healthcare.  

  

 
In addition, during the year members of the Governing Body held positions with organisations with which the Clinical Commissioning Group 
had transactions, in relation to the purchase of healthcare, that require disclosure.  
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The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of 
material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are listed below: 

• NHS England              

• NHS Leeds West Clinical Commissioning Group             

• NHS Leeds North Clinical Commissioning Group             

• Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust             

• Leeds & York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust             

• Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust             

• Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust             

• Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust             

• Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust             

              

In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central 
and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Leeds City Council. 
 

26. Events after the end of the reporting period 
 
There are no adjusting events after the reporting period which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 
 
 
27. Losses and special payments 
 
27.1 Losses 
 
The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and their total value, was as follows: 
 

    
Total 

Number of 
Cases 

 

Total 
Value of 

Cases 
 

Total 
Number of 

Cases 
 

Total 
Value of 

Cases 
    2016-17  2016-17  2015-16  2015-16 

    Number  £'000  Number  £'000 

Administrative write-offs   1  2  1  1 

Fruitless payments   -  -  -  - 

Store losses   -  -  -  - 

Book Keeping Losses   -  -  -  - 

Constructive loss   -  -  -  - 

Cash losses   -  -  -  - 

Claims abandoned   -  -  -  - 

Total    1  2  1  1 

           

27.2 Special Payments 
 
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no special payments cases during 2016-17 (none during 2015-16). 
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28. Financial performance targets 
 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 
 
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group's performance against those duties was as follows: 

 

    2016-17  2016-17  2015-16  2015-16 

    Target  Performance  Target  Performance 

    £000  £000  £000  £000 

                    

Expenditure not to exceed income    458,690  445,178   407,407   397,967 

         

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

           -  -                    -                       -    

         

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified 
in Directions 

 417,733  404,220   371,941   362,501 

         

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions 

 -  -                    -                       -    

         

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions 

 -  -                   -                       -    

         

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 

  5,480  5,140   5,802   5,212 

     

29. Impact of IFRS 
 
 

Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the Clinical Commissioning Group during the 2016-17 financial year (none during 
2015-16). 
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